Aus dem Institut für Phytopathologie der Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel

# Evaluation of Integrated Pest Management Systems for the Control of Fungal Diseases Under Consideration of Sustainable Wheat Production and Climate Change in a Long-Term Survey of 26 Years

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Agrar- und Ernährungswissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel

vorgelegt von

M. Sc. Ketel Christian Prahl aus Enge-Sande

Kiel, 2023

Dekan: Prof. Dr. Georg Thaller

1. Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. Joseph-Alexander Verreet

2. Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. Daguang Cai

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 28.06.2023

Gedruckt mit der Genehmigung der Agrar- und Ernährungswissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel "Der Schlüssel zur Lösung gezielter, integrierter Pflanzenschutzmaßnahmen ist ausschließlich im Feld, unter den Bedingungen der Kulturführung und Umwelt, zu suchen und zu finden"

> - Prof. Dr. Dr. H.C. Günter-Martin Hoffmann -(TU München – Weihenstephan)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table IndexI					
Figure Index III					
Abbreviation Index					
Chapter	I General Introduction and Outline of the Thesis 3 -				
1.1	Plant Protection in Wheat Production3 -				
1.2	Outline of the Thesis5				
1.3	References 7 -				
Chapter	II Efficiency and Effectivity of a Biological–Epidemiological Fungal Disease Management System in Wheat–A Study of 26 Years				
2.1	Abstract 15 -				
2.2	Introduction 16 -				
2.3	Materials and Methods 18 -				
2.3.1 2.3.2 2.3.3	Area Surveyed and Survey Strategy 18 - Sampling and Disease Assessment				
2.3.4	Statistical Analyses 23 -				
2.4	Results 25 -				
2.4.1	Occurrence of Wheat Foliar Diseases from 1995 to 2021 in the				
2.4.2 2.4.3	Fungicide Untreated Control 25 - Threshold-Based Reduction of Disease Sevities				
2.4.4	Economic Analysis 33 -				
2.5	Discussion 34 -				
2.6	References 39 -				
Chapter III Will Climate Change Affect the Disease Dynamics of Septoria Tritici Blotch in Northern Europe?					
3.1	Abstract 51 -				
3.2	Introduction 52 -				
3.3	Materials and Methods 54 -				
3.3.1	Area Surveyed and Survey Strategy 54 -				
3.3.2	Sampling and Disease Assessment 55 -				

3.3.3	Data Analyses 55 -			
3.3.4	Statistical analyses 56 -			
3.4	Results 57 -			
3.4.1	Occurrence of Foliar Diseases from 1996 to 2021 57 -			
3.4.2	Prevailing Weather Conditions and Occurrence of Septoria			
	tritici blotch 57 -			
3.4.3	Case Study of Septoria Tritici Blotch 59 -			
3.4.4	Conducive Conditions of Septoria Tritici Blotch During the			
	Survery Period 61 -			
3.5	Discussion 65 -			
3.6	Conclusions 69 -			
3.7	References 70 -			
Chapter	IV Can Decision Support Systems Help Improve the Sustainable			
	Use of Fungicides in Wheat? 79 -			
4.1	Abstract 79 -			
4.2	Introduction 80 -			
4.3	Materials and Methods 82 -			
4.3.1	Area Surveyed and Survey Strategy 82 -			
4.3.2	Sampling and Disease Assessment			
4.3.3	Data Analyses 89 -			
4.3.4	Statistical Analyses 90 -			
4.4	Results 92 -			
4.4.1	Weather Conditions 92 -			
4.4.2	Significant Year-Location-Cultivar Combinations of the			
	Untreated control and Healthy Standard Treatment for yield			
	and RWAUDPC 94 -			
4.4.3	Performance of Decision Support Systems to Yield and Disease			
	Suppression 97 -			
4.4.4	Efficacy of DSSs 99 -			
4.4.5	Economic Analysis 101 -			
4.5	Discussion 103 -			
4.6	Conclusions 107 -			
4.7	References 108 -			

Chapte	er V General Discussion and Future Perspectives	119 -		
5.1	Occurrence of Wheat Foliar Diseases	120 -		
5.2	Impact of Climate Change on Septoria Tritici Blotch I Progression	Disease 121 -		
5.3	Efficacy of Disease Management under Maritime Clin Conditions	matic 124 -		
5.4	Resistance Management by DSS	129 -		
5.5	Improved Sustainability of Fungicide Use by Decisio Systems	n Support 130 -		
5.6	Future Perspectives	131 -		
5.7	References	133 -		
Supplementary Material 151 -				
Summ	ary	158 -		
Zusam	menfassung	162 -		
Extend	led Materials & Methods	167 -		
Acknowledgements 175 -				
Curriculum Vitae 177 -				

#### TABLE INDEX

- Table 8. Biological-epidemiological disease control thresholds, observation periods, and the indicating leaf layer of the ISIP decision support system for the major fungal foliar wheat diseases. DI = Disease incidence [21].

   86

Table	9. Registered	name,	active	ingredients,	and	indications	assigned
acc	ording to grov	vth stag	es of the	e used fungici	des a	t the trials of	the study
in 1	northern Germ	any					88 -

- **Table 11.** Break-even points of the DSSs IPM, ISIP, and xarvio<sup>®</sup> to the untreated control (UC) and healthy-standard treatment (HST) with the corresponding revenue function (p(x)) of the cultivars "RGT Reform" and "Ritmo" averaged over the locations Barlt, Futterkamp, and Kluvensiek for the period from 2019 to 2021...... 102 -

Table S 1. Analyses of variance (ANOVAs) for the annual difference
(AUDPC) of wheat foliar diseases to the total average from 1995 to 2021
the untreated control 151
Table S 2. RWAUDPC of all observed foliar diseases from 1996 to 2021 at the
trial location of the survey 153
Table S 3. Temperature, precipitation, hours of leaf wetness and STB infection
conditions (lost watness by "Waihofor" consor > 08% over more than 26

#### FIGURE INDEX

- **Figure 1.** Average of disease severities from 1995 to 2021 (grey line) and annual disease severities (AUDPC; GS 30 to 77; bars) of (**a**) Septoria tritici blotch (number of pycnidia), (**b**) glume blotch (number of pycnidia), (**c**) tan spot (percentage of leaf area affected), (**d**) powdery mildew (percentage of leaf area affected), (**e**) stripe rust (percentage of leaf area affected), and (**f**) leaf rust (percentage of leaf area affected) on the upper six leaves (F-0 to F-6) of winter wheat (cultivar "Ritmo") in the untreated control of the eight trial locations in northern Germany from 1995 to 2021. Significant ( $p \le 0.05$ ) annual differences of disease severities from the average (grand mean) are marked with \*...... 26 -

- Figure 5 Equal Profit margin of untreated control versus IPM treatment and IPM treatment versus healthy-standard treatment from 1995 to 2021 as a

- Figure 7. RWAUDPC (xF-0 x-F-2 = 33%; xF-3 x-F-6 = 0%) of STB (n-pycnidia) of the observation period (GS 30 to GS 77) from the survey period at the trial location. Dotted lines describe the linear regression of disease severity. ... 58 -

- Figure 10. (A) Initial (Ini.) infestation and final (Fin.) infestation of STB at the trial location of every year of the survey. (B) Temperature (red) and precipitation (blue) during leaf wetness periods over 24 hours (light), 36 hours (medium), and 48 hours (solid) in four categories (Temperature <5 °C, 5-10 °C, 10-15 °C, 15-20 °C; precipitation <4 L/m<sup>2</sup>; 4-8 L/m<sup>2</sup>; 8-12 L/m<sup>2</sup>; 12-16 L/m<sup>2</sup>; 16-20 L/m<sup>2</sup>), and (C)disease severities of STB (grey area) in combination with plant growth stages from the month May, June, and July.
- **Figure 11.** Averaged temperature (°C; red dots) and total precipitation (L/m<sup>2</sup>; blue dots) during the annual infection periods and estimated temperature (red line) and precipitation (blue line) of the regression analysis...... 64 -

- Figure S 1. Total yield (t/ha; aı) and annual yield (t/ha; aıı) of the min. control, IPM and max. control of winter wheat (cultivar "Ritmo") of the eight trial locations in northern Germany from 1995 to 2021...... - 152 -

#### ABBREVIATION INDEX

a.i.	Active ingredient	NEC	Necrotization
AF-x	AUDPC of leaf layer F - x	n-pycnidia	Number of pycnidia
ANOVA	Analysis of variance	OP	Observation period
AUDPC	Area under disease	OR	Oilseed rape
cm	Centimetre	р	Significance Threshold
°C	Degree celsius	PF	Fungicide costs
df	Degrees of freedom	PM	Powdery mildew
DI	Disease incidence	PP	Precipitation
DS	Disease severities	PW	Wheat price
dt	Deci tons	$R^2$	Coefficient of
EC	European Commission	RPC	Representative pathway
e.g.	Example given		concentrations
EPPO	European and	RWAUDPC	Relative WAUDPC
	Mediterranean Plant	s	Seconds
	Protection Organization	SNK	Sönke-Nissen-Koog
EU	European Union	SQL	Structured query
F	F-value		language
F	Flagleaf	STB	Septoria tritici blotch
Fin.	Final	t	Tons
GB	Glume blotch	Т	Temperature
GLA	Green leaf area	TFI	Treatment frequency
GS	Growth stage		index
h	Hours	TS	Tan spot
ha	Hectare	UC	Untreated control
HS He	althy standard-treatment	SRES	Special Report on
Ini.	Initial		<b>Emissions Scenarios</b>
IPCC	International Panel of	SR	Stripe rust
	Climate Change	SUR	Proposal for a
IPCC SR	IPCC Special Report	REGULAT	TION OF THE EUROPEAN
IPM	Integrated Pest	PARLIAMENT AND OF TH	
	Management	COUNCIL on the sustainable use	
Κ	Kelvin	plan	t protection products and
L	Litre	amending F	Regulation (EU) 2021/2115
L/m <sup>2</sup>	Litre per square	0	0
LR	Leaf rust	WAUDPC	Weighted AUDPC
LW	Leaf wetness	WB	Winter barley
m	Meter	WW	Winter wheat
max.	Maximum	YLC	Year-Location-Cultivar
min.	Minimum	Z. tritici	Zymoseptoria tritici

# $_{\text{CHAPTER}}I$

GENERAL INTRODUCTION AND OUTLINE OF THE THESIS

# Chapter I GENERAL INTRODUCTION AND OUTLINE OF THE THESIS

### 1.1 Plant Protection in Wheat Production

Cereals are the world's most important staple food, with wheat, rice, and maize accounting for 90% of world production. In the European Union, wheat is of major importance, as more than 50% of the food sold are wheat products. In terms of yield per hectare, Europe is above the world average. [1]. Northern Germany is one of the most productive wheat cultivation areas within the European Union due to fertile and clayey soils in a maritime climate with sufficient rainfall and moderate temperatures [2,3]. As the general conditions are extraordinary, agricultural practices have been optimised for wheat production and implemented in current agronomic practices on a supraregional scale.

The combination of maritime climates [4,5] and fertile soils [6] provides excellent conditions for wheat cultivation. These conditions make northern Europe one of the most suitable and productive wheat growing areas in the world. However, these conditions are also conducive for the progression of fungal diseases, which are ubiquitous throughout the region [5]. Hence, losses of up to 50% of crop production can be attributed to yield-limiting foliar diseases [7-9]. In particular, foliar diseases Septoria tritici blotch (caused by Zymoseptoria tritici Desm.), glume blotch (Parastagonospora nodorum Berk.), tan spot (Pyrenophora tritici-repentis Died.), powdery mildew (Blumeria graminis f. sp. tritici), stripe rust (Puccinia striiformis f. sp. tritici), and leaf rust (*Puccinia triticina*) are responsible for quantitative and qualitative losses. Of these diseases, Septoria tritici blotch is the most difficult to manage, because the point of infection is the only fungicide-sensitive stage in the cycle. However, as this infection point is not visible, the timing of applications is difficult to determine. Thus, the progression of fungal pathogens is largely determined by agronomic practices such as crop rotation, tillage systems or cultivar selection [10-12], and by prevailing weather conditions such as temperature or precipitation. Each pathogen has specific requirements in terms of agronomic factors and weather conditions [5,13–17]. These lead to year-to-year differences in the occurrence, course, and intensity of the epidemic.

As foliar diseases are highly influenced by weather conditions [18,19], climate change is expected to have an impact on disease development and severity.

According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), warmer and drier conditions during the main growing season can be expected due to climate change. Consequently, an influence on the productivity of wheat production in north-western Europe can also be expected [14,20]. Warmer temperature in combination with increased and more intensive rainfall events were simulated by the IPCC for the years up to 2030 [21]. As simulations were on a global scale, the impact of climate change can vary to a large extent on a regional scale. Hence, an increase in mean temperature of 0.4 to 0.5 °C and an increase in daily precipitation of 0.1 L/m<sup>2</sup> per decade can be expected in northern Germany [21,22]. Approaches in disease management must therefore be adapted to the varying environmental and bio-epidemiological conditions [23,24].

In disease management, adapting agronomic practices to manage prevailing fungal diseases is the basis of integrated pest management [11,25]. Thereby, the choice of cultivars, crop rotation, soil cultivation, sowing date, and the use of nitrogen fertilizers has an impact on disease progression [10,25–28]. Depending on the disease, modifications to agronomic practices can significantly reduce disease severity. However, adequate and integrated disease management through the production system is not always sufficient. As a result, despite advances in agronomic practices, epidemics of yieldlimiting diseases can be expected, especially when conducive weather conditions occur. In this case, the use of fungicides is essential in order to provide adequate disease management. Historically, the superior performance of the European wheat production is largely based on pesticides [8,29]. During the growing season, fungicides primarily secure the yield potential at the respective location [7,30]. The utilization of fungicides for other potential side-effects other than pest control is not permitted in the EU [31,32]. The use of foliar fungicides is fundamental for the control of fungal diseases in wheat [11,13,33–35]. For typically agronomic practices, the use of fungicides is mostly carried out through routine applications based on plant growth stages. However, the use of pesticides is being critically discussed and there is a need to optimize the use of fungicides. According to Verreet et al. [36], a system based on biological-epidemiological thresholds can optimise the timing of applications, reduce number of pesticide applications as well as quantity, and maintain yield potential. In general, decision support systems (DSSs), which are based on biological-epidemiological thresholds, are available, but not holistically implemented into agronomic practices. The advantages of DSSs are enhanced, if implemented correctly and perform as promised, as prevailing diseases are controlled with reduced fungicide use.

The high potential in wheat production in northern Germany and the high impact of prevailing diseases on yield constitutes an increased pesticide use. Despite European Union's rather strict regulations on the authorisation and use of pesticides in a global comparison, pesticides remain a matter of controversy and public concern. Today, the use of pesticides is regulated by the Directive 2009/128/EC for sustainable use of pesticides [37]. Due to the increasing public pressure, the EU is currently repealing the Directive as a part of the "European Green Deal" and developing a new strategy for the sustainable use of pesticides. This "Proposal for a REGULATION OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL on the sustainable use of plant protection products and amending Regulation (EU) 2021/2115", as part of the "Farm to Fork Strategy" under consideration claims to reduce the overall pesticide use as well as the use of environmentally hazardous pesticides by 50% in the EU by 2030 [38]. There are also plans to halve nutrient losses by reduced fertiliser use of at least 20%. Furthermore, 25% of farmland will be converted to organic production and at least 10% of farmland will be renaturalized. Consequently, the "Farm to Fork Strategy" can lead to a considerable drop in quality and quantity of yields, due to insufficient crop protection, lower yield potential, and reduction of arable land. By comparison, the current Directive 2009/128/EC for sustainable use of pesticides claims a reduction of risks caused by pesticides. However, the implementation of the Directives regulations into the EU member state legislation has been delayed and only a minor progress was observed since 2009 [39]. Considering the EU's demands on agricultural production to reduce the use of pesticides, a better approach would be to minimise unnecessary pesticide use. In general, 90% of the pesticides sold are classified as herbicides, fungicides, and insecticides [40]. Compared to herbicides, lower amounts of fungicides are used in total, and compared to insecticides, a smaller proportion of fungicides are used unnecessarily, but taking both factors into account, they have the highest potential to reduce total pesticide use, if efficacy increases [40-42].

### 1.2 Outline of the Thesis

As aforementioned, foliar diseases are a major threat to worldwide wheat production [5,7,8,29,35,43]. In the present dissertation, the threats by foliar diseases in wheat were determined. Furthermore, the effective use of fungicides was evaluated based on the data of a long-term survey from 1996 to 2021 in a highly productive wheat production area in northern Europe. The survey was conducted at eight trial locations evenly distributed across

Schleswig-Holstein, Germany's northernmost federal state, which is located between the Baltic Sea and the North Sea. The first objective was to investigate the impact of the six major foliar diseases Septoria tritici blotch, glume blotch, tan spot, powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust on wheat production. In addition, the potential of a biological-epidemiological fungal disease management system under maritime conditions was evaluated, in order to investigate the efficacy of the system in crop protection when used in agronomic practices. Therefore, epidemiological data from a 26-year longterm study with standardized conditions (same cultivar, same trial locations, same growing conditions) at eight locations in northern Germany was analysed **(Chapter II)**.

As Septoria tritici blotch is the most challenging disease to manage, the second objective was to investigate its disease progression in relation to the prevailing climate conditions. Therefore, the epidemiological behaviour and the agrometeorological conditions in dependence of growth stage and date were continuously assessed at a unique location in northern Europe without concomitant diseases during the survey period. As incidence, course, and severity of Septoria tritici blotch epidemics are primary determined by the prevalent weather conditions, an influence of climate change on the disease dynamics was additionally evaluated. In particular, possible effects for the agricultural production in northern Europe were analysed, and possible future risks caused by this major disease were discussed **(Chapter III)**.

Foliar diseases are primarily managed by applying fungicides at specified plant growth stages during the growing season. Thereby, Septoria tritici blotch is the most challenging disease in wheat, due to the prolonged latency period of the pathogen which renders applications by visual symptoms ineffective. This elucidates the importance of optimizing fungicide applications. Therefore, decision support systems of different origins, namely the IPM-Wheat Model Schleswig-Holstein (scientific), the ISIP system (federal government), and the xarvio<sup>®</sup> FIELD MANAGER (commercial), were evaluated under maritime climate conditions at three locations in a high-input area of wheat cultivation in northern Germany from 2019 to 2021, as a third objective. In addition, their function as possible tools for improving the sustainability of agriculture generally and whether the European Union's sustainability goals of a 50% reduction in pesticide use by 2030 can be achieved, have been examined **(Chapter IV).** 

#### 1.3 References

- 1. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. *Crops and livestock products.*: *License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO*; Rome, Italy, 2022. Available online: https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL/visualize (accessed on 10 February 2023).
- 2. Olesen, J.E.; Bindi, M. Consequences of climate change for European agricultural productivity, land use and policy. *Eur. J. Agron.* **2002**, *16*, 239–262, doi:10.1016/S1161-0301(02)00004-7.
- 3. OECD; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. *Agricultural Outlook 2015;* OECD, 2015, ISBN 9789264231900.
- 4. Bouma, E. Development of comparable agro-climatic zones for the international exchange of data on the efficacy and crop safety of plant protection products. *Bull. OEPP* **2005**, *35*, 233–238, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2338.2005.00830.x.
- Figueroa, M.; Hammond-Kosack, K.E.; Solomon, P.S. A review of wheat diseases-a field perspective. *Mol. Plant. Pathol.* 2018, 19, 1523–1536, doi:10.1111/mpp.12618.
- 6. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. *Status of the World's Soil Resources: Main report;* FAO; ITPS: Rome, Italy, 2015, ISBN 9789251090046.
- Oerke, E.-C. Crop losses to pests. J. Agric. Sci. 2006, 144, 31–43, doi:10.1017/S0021859605005708.
- 8. Oerke, E.-C.; Dehne, H.-W.; Schönbeck, F.; Weber, A. *Crop production and crop protection: Estimated losses in major food and cash crops;* Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1994, ISBN 978-0-444-82095-2.
- 9. Grote, U.; Fasse, A.; Nguyen, T.T.; Erenstein, O. Food Security and the Dynamics of Wheat and Maize Value Chains in Africa and Asia. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* **2021**, *4*, doi:10.3389/fsufs.2020.617009.
- 10. Draz, I.S.; Esmail, S.M.; Abou-Zeid, M.H.; Essa, T.M. Powdery mildew susceptibility of spring wheat cultivars as a major constraint on grain yield. *Ann. Agric. Sci.* **2019**, *64*, 39–45, doi:10.1016/j.aoas.2019.05.007.
- Jalli, M.; Huusela, E.; Jalli, H.; Kauppi, K.; Niemi, M.; Himanen, S.; Jauhiainen, L. Effects of Crop Rotation on Spring Wheat Yield and Pest Occurrence in Different Tillage Systems: A Multi-Year Experiment in Finnish Growing Conditions. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* 2021, 5, doi:10.3389/fsufs.2021.647335.
- 12. Turner, J.A.; Chantry, T.; Taylor, M.C.; Kennedy, M.C. Changes in agronomic practices and incidence and severity of diseases in winter

wheat in England and Wales between 1999 and 2019. *Plant Pathol.* 2021, 70, 1759–1778, doi:10.1111/ppa.13433.

- Różewicz, M.; Wyzińska, M.; Grabiński, J. The Most Important Fungal Diseases of Cereals—Problems and Possible Solutions. *Agronomy* 2021, 11, 714, doi:10.3390/agronomy11040714.
- 14. Miedaner, T.; Juroszek, P. Climate change will influence disease resistance breeding in wheat in Northwestern Europe. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* **2021**, *134*, 1771–1785, doi:10.1007/s00122-021-03807-0.
- 15. Juroszek, P.; Racca, P.; Link, S.; Farhumand, J.; Kleinhenz, B. Overview on the review articles published during the past 30 years relating to the potential climate change effects on plant pathogens and crop disease risks. *Plant Pathol.* **2020**, *69*, 179–193, doi:10.1111/ppa.13119.
- Henze, M.; Beyer, M.; Klink, H.; Verreet, J.-A. Characterizing Meteorological Scenarios Favorable for *Septoria tritici* Infections in Wheat and Estimation of Latent Periods. *Plant Dis.* 2007, *91*, 1445–1449, doi:10.1094/PDIS-91-11-1445.
- 17. Hosford, R.M., Jr.; Larez, C.R.; Hammond, J.J. Interaction of wet period and temperature on *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* infection and development in wheats of differing resistance. *Phytopathology* **1987**, *77*, 1021–1027.
- Chungu, C.; Gilbert, J.; Townley-Smith, F. Septoria tritici Blotch Development as Affected by Temperature, Duration of Leaf Wetness, Inoculum Concentration, and Host. *Plant Dis.* 2001, *85*, 430–435, doi:10.1094/PDIS.2001.85.4.430.
- Goodwin, S.B. Diseases affecting wheat: Septoria tritici blotch. In Integrated Disease Management of Wheat and Barley Burleigh Dodds Series in Agricultural Science; Oliver, R.P., Ed.; Burleigh Dodds Science Publishing: Cambridge, UK, 2019; pp 47–68, ISBN 978-1-78676-216-0.
- 20. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above preindustrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, 2018.
- 21. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Summary for Policymakers. In *Climate Change* 2021: *The Physical Science Basis*. *Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*; Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Ed.; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA.

- 22. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Summary for Policymakers. In *Climate Change* 2022: *Mitigation of Climate Change*. *Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*; Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Ed.; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, 2022.
- Jalli, M.; Kaseva, J.; Andersson, B.; Ficke, A.; Jørgensen, L.N.; Ronis, A.; Kaukoranta, T.; Ørum, J.E.; Djurle, A. Yield increases due to fungicide control of leaf blotch diseases in wheat and barley as a basis for IPM decision-making in the Nordic-Baltic region. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.* 2020, 158, 315–333, doi:10.1007/s10658-020-02075-w.
- 24. Lázaro, E.; Makowski, D.; Vicent, A. Decision support systems halve fungicide use compared to calendar-based strategies without increasing disease risk. *Commun. Earth. Environ.* **2021**, *2*, doi:10.1038/s43247-021-00291-8.
- 25. Bankina, B.; Bimšteine, G.; Arhipova, I.; Kaņeps, J.; Stanka, T. Importance of Agronomic Practice on the Control of Wheat Leaf Diseases. *Agriculture* **2018**, *8*, 56, doi:10.3390/agriculture8040056.
- 26. Cotuna, O.; Paraschivu, M.; Paraschivu A.M.; Sărăţeanu, V. The influence of tillage, crop rotation and residue management on tan spot (*Drechslera tritici repentis* Died. Shoemaker) in winter wheat. *Res. J. Agric. Sci.* **2015**, 13–21.
- 27. Jørgensen, L.N.; Olsen, L.V. Control of tan spot (*Drechslera tritici-repentis*) using cultivar resistance, tillage methods and fungicides. *Crop Prot.* **2007**, *26*, 1606–1616, doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2007.01.009.
- van Ginkel, M.; Rajaram, S. Breeding for Durable Resistance to Diseases in Wheat: An International Perspective. In *Durability of Disease Resistance*; Jacobs, T., Parlevliet, J.E., Eds.; Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht, Netherlands, 1993; pp 259–272, ISBN 978-94-010-4885-9.
- 29. Klink, H.; Prahl, K.C.; Hasler, M.; Verreet, J.-A.; Birr, T. Efficiency and Effectivity of a Biological–Epidemiological Fungal Disease Management System in Wheat—A Study of 26 Years. *Agriculture* **2022**, *12*, 1099, doi:10.3390/agriculture12081099.
- Popp, J.; Pető, K.; Nagy, J. Pesticide productivity and food security. A review. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.* 2013, *33*, 243–255, doi:10.1007/s13593-012-0105-x.
- Antier, C.; Kudsk, P.; Reboud, X.; Ulber, L.; Baret, P.V.; Messéan, A. Glyphosate Use in the European Agricultural Sector and a Framework for Its Further Monitoring. *Sustainability* 2020, 12, 5682, doi:10.3390/su12145682.

- Siefert, F.; Thalmair, M.; Langebartels, C.; Sandermann, H.; Grossmann, K. Epoxiconazole-induced stimulation of the antifungal hydrolases chitinase and β-1,3-glucanase in wheat. *Plant. Growth. Regul.* **1996**, *20*, 279–286, doi:10.1007/BF00043319.
- 33. Willocquet, L.; Meza, W.R.; Dumont, B.; Klocke, B.; Feike, T.; Kersebaum, K.C.; Meriggi, P.; Rossi, V.; Ficke, A.; Djurle, A.; et al. An outlook on wheat health in Europe from a network of field experiments. *Crop Prot.* 2021, 139, 105335, doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2020.105335.
- Jørgensen, L.N.; Heick, T.M. Azole Use in Agriculture, Horticulture, and Wood Preservation - Is It Indispensable? *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 2021, 11, 730297, doi:10.3389/fcimb.2021.730297.
- 35. Poole, N.F.; Arnaudin, M.E. The role of fungicides for effective disease management in cereal crops. *Can. J. Plant Pathol.* **2014**, *36*, 1–11, doi:10.1080/07060661.2013.870230.
- Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H.; Hoffmann, G.M. Regional Monitoring for Disease Prediction and Optimization of Plant Protection Measuares: The IPM Wheat Model. *Plant Dis.* 2000, 84, 816–826, doi:10.1094/PDIS.2000.84.8.816.
- 37. European Parliament. Directive 2009/128/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 October 2009 establishing a framework for Community action to achieve the sustainable use of pesticides. *Off. J. Eur. Union* **2009**, 1–25.
- European Commission1; Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety. Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on the sustainable use of plant protection products and amending Regulation (EU) 2021/2115. Off. J. Eur. Union 2022, 2022, 1–71.
- 39. Helepciuc, F.-E.; Todor, A. Evaluating the effectiveness of the EU's approach to the sustainable use of pesticides. *PloS one* **2021**, *16*, e0256719, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0256719.
- 40. BVL. Pflanzenschutzmittelverwendung in der Landwirtschaft. Available online: https:// www.umweltbundesamt.de/daten/landforstwirtschaft/pflanzenschutzmittelverwendung-in-der#zulassungvon-pflanzenschutzmitteln (accessed on 13 September 2022).
- 41. Dachbrodt-Saaydeh, S.; Sellmann, J.; Strassemeyer, J.; Schwarz, J.; Klocke, B.; Krengel, S.; Kehlenbeck, H. Netz Vergleichsbetriebe Pflanzenschutz Zwei-Jahresbericht 2015 und 2016 - Analyse der Ergebnisse der Jahre 2007 bis 2016. In *Berichte aus dem Julius Kühn-Institut*, 194th ed.; Julius Kühn-Institut, Ed.; Saphir Verlag: Ribbesbüttel, Germany, 2018.

- 42. Prahl, K.C.; Klink, H.; Hasler, M.; Hagen, S.; Verreet, J.-A.; Birr, T. Can Decision Support Systems Help Improve the Sustainable Use of Fungicides in Wheat? *Sustainability* **2022**, *14*, 15599, doi:10.3390/su142315599.
- 43. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Secretariat. *International Year of Plant Health – Final report. Protecting plants, protecting life;* FAO on behalf of the Secretariat of the International Plant Protection Convention: Rome, Italy, 2021, ISBN 978-92-5-135056-0.

# CHAPTER

# EFFICIENCY AND EFFECTIVITY OF A BIOLOGICAL–EPIDEMIOLOGICAL FUNGAL DISEASE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM IN WHEAT – A STUDY OF 26 YEAR

#### The content of this chapter has already been peer reviewed and published in: Klink, H. <sup>+</sup>; Prahl, K.C. <sup>+</sup>; Hasler, M; Verreet, J.-A.; and Birr, T. Efficiency and Effectivity of a Biological–Epidemiological Fungal Disease Management System in Wheat—A Study of 26 Years. *Agriculture* **2022**, *11*, 1099. doi: 10.3390/agriculture12081099 <sup>+</sup> These authors contributed equally to this work.

# Chapter II EFFICIENCY AND EFFECTIVITY OF A BIOLOGICAL– EPIDEMIOLOGICAL FUNGAL DISEASE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM IN WHEAT–A STUDY OF 26 YEARS

## 2.1 Abstract

Foliar diseases are a major threat to worldwide wheat production, especially during the vegetative period in maritime climates. Despite advancements in agronomic practices, infestations by foliar diseases are possible under favourable weather conditions, thus, fungicides are essential for maintaining control. Stage-oriented applications are therefore common in farm practices. The optimization of fungicide use according to biological-epidemiological thresholds, reduces the total amount of fungicides used, which is of political interest, especially in the European Union. Therefore, the efficiency and effectivity of the fungicides used to control the six major foliar diseases (Septoria tritici blotch, glume blotch, tan spot, powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust) were analysed in a long-term study of 26 years in northern Germany under favourable maritime conditions. Of those diseases, Septoria tritici blotch was the most dominant recurring disease, with high severity noted in every year of the study. The threshold-based disease management system was compared to a fungicide untreated control and a healthy-standard fungicide treatment (according to growth stages). The usage of the thresholdbased system reduced the disease severities significantly compared to the fungicide untreated control, without any loss of yield compared to the healthy-standard fungicide treatment. Thereby, the use of fungicides was reduced by two thirds compared to the stage-oriented healthy-standard treatment. Thus, the advantages of the threshold-based system were obvious, and this approach will be an important tool for future evaluations of current farm practices.

**Keywords:** *Triticum aestivum* L.; foliar diseases; disease severity; Integrated Pest Management (IPM); biological–epidemiological threshold; fungicide; long-term survey; AUDPC; yield; pesticide reduction

#### 2.2 Introduction

Cereals, wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) in particular, are a very important food source in almost all parts of the world [1,2]. Most regions in northern Europe have very good climatic conditions for successful wheat cultivation, with high precipitation, well-balanced precipitation distribution over the year, and moderate temperatures [3]. Consequently, a very high yield level is achieved there compared to other regions of the world [4,5]. However, when wheat is grown intensively, the plants can be affected by diseases, particularly those caused by fungi, which can cause quantitative [4,6] and qualitative losses [4,7,8]. Thus, wheat plant infestation by fungal pathogens should be managed.

The foliar diseases Septoria tritici blotch (caused by *Zymoseptoria tritici* Desm.), glume blotch (*Parastagonospora nodorum* Berk.), tan spot (*Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* Died.), powdery mildew (*Blumeria graminis* f. sp. *tritici*), stripe rust (*Puccinia striiformis* f. sp. *tritici*), and leaf rust (*Puccinia triticina*) are responsible for quantitative and qualitative losses in wheat.

The impact of fungal pathogens is determined to a large extent by agronomic practices such as crop rotation, tillage systems, or cultivar selection [9,10,11], or by prevailing weather conditions such as temperature or moisture. Regarding the agronomic factors and weather conditions, each pathogen has specific environmental requirements [12,13,14,15,16,17]. These lead to yearspecific differences in the occurrence, course, and strength of epidemic behaviour. Thus, the approach to disease management needs to be adapted to varying environmental and biological-epidemiological conditions [18,19]. The application of foliar fungicides is elementary in the management of fungal diseases in wheat [4,10,17,20,21]. In common farm practice, the use of fungicides is mostly carried out through routine applications, which are oriented to plant growth stages. However, the use of pesticides is critically discussed and an optimization of the use of fungicides is required. Furthermore, the directive for sustainable use of fungicides and the "farm to fork" strategy of the European Union claim a risk reduction from pesticides by 50% concomitant with reduced pesticide use [22]. A biologicalepidemiological oriented fungal disease management system may enhance the efficiency and effectivity of fungicide use compared to a plant growth stage-oriented system.

In the present long-term study, we analysed the potential of a biologicalepidemiological system for the control of foliar fungal diseases in wheat. Therefore, a unique long-term study of 26 years under standardized conditions (same cultivar, same trial locations, same growing conditions) was established at eight locations in northern Germany, which is known to be a suitable growing area for wheat. The aims were (i) to determine risks of the six major fungal diseases, and (ii) to investigate the efficiency and (iii) effectivity of the used fungicides by a threshold-based system compared to a stage-oriented system.

#### 2.3 Materials and Methods

#### 2.3.1 Area Surveyed and Survey Strategy

Since 1995, the regional monitoring of major foliar fungal wheat diseases [23] was carried out at eight trial locations evenly distributed throughout northern Germany between the Baltic and the North Sea in the northernmost federal state of Germany, Schleswig-Holstein (Table 1). This region is a suitable growing area for winter wheat characterized by maritime weather conditions, with an average annual temperature of 9.2 °C and an annual precipitation of 846 L/m<sup>2</sup> [24]. In Schleswig-Holstein, arable crops were grown on 655,011 ha in 2020. Winter wheat and forage maize (Zea mays L.) occupy the dominant position in the crop rotation (20.8% and 28.6% of arable land, respectively), followed by oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.) (10.2%) and winter barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) (10.1%) [25]. The trials were located in the two main producing areas for winter wheat, the eastern (Eastern Hill Land) and western part (West Coast Marsh) of Schleswig-Holstein, which are characterized by heavy soils and large acreages of winter wheat. The central part between those two regions is dominated by sandy soil and high coverage of grassland and forage maize, trials established in this hence no were region [25].

Location	Coordinates Latitude Longitude	Crop Rotation	Soil Cultivation
Barlt	54°01′03″ N 09°01′45″ E	WW-WW-OR	Plough
Birkenmoor	54°26′36″ N 10°04′18″ E	WW-WB-OR	Reduced tillage
Elskop	53°49′05″ N 09°30′43″ E	WW-WW-OR	Plough
Futterkamp	54°17′31″ N 10°38′04″ E	WW-WB-OR	Reduced tillage
Kastorf	53°45′08″ N 10°33′39″ E	WW-WB-OR	Plough
Kluvensiek	54°19′38″ N 09°48′25″ E	WW-WB-OR	Reduced tillage
Loit	54°36′19″ N 09°42′05″ E	WW-WB-OR	Plough
SNK <sup>1</sup>	54°38′01″ N 08°52′08″ E	WW-WW-OR	Plough

**Table 1.** Coordinates and agronomic practices (crop rotation, soil cultivation) of the eight trial locations of the regional wheat disease monitoring in northern Germany from 1995 to 2021. WW = winter wheat, WB = winter barley, OR = oilseed rape. <sup>1</sup> Sönke-Nissen-Koog.

Winter wheat and winter oilseed rape preceded wheat in 40 and 51% of the disease monitoring locations from 1995 to 2021, respectively (Table 1). The most used soil cultivation practice was ploughing (70% of all cases). The remaining locations were drilled in reduced cultivation tillage systems, which were only applied after oilseed rape. Geographic coordinates, crop rotation, and soil cultivation were the same across all years at a given location. Over the entire survey period from 1995 to 2021, the wheat cultivar "Ritmo" was annually analysed for foliar diseases in weekly intervals from growth stage (GS) 30 (begin of stem elongation) to 77 (late milk) [26]. The susceptibility of wheat cultivars to the major foliar wheat diseases is listed in the descriptive cultivar list and is scaled into nine categories from 1 = missing/very low to 9 = very high by the Bundessortenamt, an independent senior federal authority under the supervision of the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture. The cultivar "Ritmo" is classified as moderately susceptible (category 5) against stripe rust and powdery mildew, moderately to highly susceptible (category 6) against Septoria tritici blotch, tan spot, and glume blotch, and highly to very highly susceptible (category 8) against leaf rust [27].

In each year and at all locations, field trials were carried out in a fully randomized block design with four replicated blocks containing three different treatments, namely fungicide untreated control, IPM treatment, and healthy-standard treatment. By the means of destructive sampling for disease diagnostics throughout the vegetation period of the untreated control and IPM treatment, the plots of the min. control and IPM treatment were duplicated to assign the purpose of harvest and sampling to each plot, resulting in five plots per replicated block. Each field plot had a size of  $10 \text{ m}^2$  (2 × 5 m). At all locations, field trials were integrated in farmers' fields. Crop management as well as the application of herbicides, insecticides, and growth regulators were based on common agricultural practices, and were carried out in cooperation with the Chamber of Agriculture of Schleswig-Holstein.

All foliar fungicides were applied with a volume of 200 L/ha water by overhead application technique using a plot boom sprayer with double flat fan nozzles with a standard nozzle spacing of 0.5 m on the spray boom at a pressure of 2 bar. Fungicide applications of the IPM treatment were based on specific biological–epidemiological disease control thresholds of the IPM wheat model according to Verreet et al. [23]. All thresholds are based on foliar disease incidences (DI) (Septoria tritici blotch, powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust) or indicating leaf layers (glume blotch and tan spot). Incidences have been used because of easier integration into current farm practices compared to disease severities (DS). For Septoria tritici blotch, besides the DI of over 50%, weather conditions, particularly conditions resulting in more than 3.0 L/m<sup>2</sup> precipitation with directly following leaf wetness ( $\geq$  98%) for at least 36 h, complete the threshold. The disease threshold for glume blotch is 5%, and 12% for tan spot on the indicating leaf layers, which are defined by the growth stage for both diseases identically, namely at GS 30 to 39 the DI of F-5 and F-4, at GS 41 to 47 the DI of F-4 and F-3, and at GS 51 to 69 the DI of the F-3 and F-2, indicating if a threshold has been exceeded and a fungicide application is recommended. The threshold for powdery mildew is defined with 70% DI, and for stripe rust, 30% DI of the sampled plants at GS 30 to 69. For leaf rust, the threshold is also 30% DI of the sampled plants, but at GS 37 to 69 (Table 2).

Foliar	<b>Observation</b> Perio	IPM-Disease Control	
Disease	(GS)	Layer	Threshold
Sontoria			DI > 50%
tritici blotch	32–69	F-6 to F-0	+ 36 h leaf wetness of > 98%
Classic	37–39	F-5 or F-4	
Giume	41–47	F-4 or F-3	DI > 12%
blotch	51-69	F-3 or F-2	
	32	F-6 or F-5	
Terr erect	33–39	F-5 or F-4	
Tan spot	41–49	F-4 or F-3	DI > 5%
	51-69	F-3 or F-2	
Powdery mildew	30–69	F-6 to F-0 *	DI > 70%
Leaf rust	37–69	F-6 to F-0	DI > 30%
Stripe rust	30-69	F-6 to F-0	DI > 30%

**Table 2.** Biological–epidemiological disease control thresholds, observation periods and the indicating leaf layer of the IPM wheat model for the major fungal foliar wheat diseases. DI = Disease incidence.

\* 1st application DI per plant, 2nd application DI of leaf layers F-2 to F-0.

All thresholds are validated and adjusted to avoid short- or long-term commercial losses with an eligible disease severity of the foliar diseases [23]. Successive treatments were applied after protective cover was run out and disease thresholds were repeatedly exceeded. Consequently, disease epidemics underneath the biological–epidemiological thresholds were not treated with fungicides in the IPM treatment.
In contrast to the IPM treatment, fungicides were applied fourfold in the healthy-standard treatment according to growth stages 30, 32, 39, and 65, assuming a maximum of disease suppression by continuously protected leaves. The yield loss between the untreated and healthy-standard treatment corresponds to the damage caused by fungal diseases. Therefore, the untreated control represents the "minimum control," and the healthy-standard treatment, the "maximum control".

To determine the Septoria tritici blotch threshold, exact meteorological data from the trial sites were needed. Therefore, meteorological stations (Thies Clima, Göttingen, Germany) were installed directly at every trial location to measure precipitation (L/m<sup>2</sup>; measuring accuracy  $\pm$  3%), air temperature at 30 cm height (°C; measuring accuracy  $\pm$  0.1 K), and leaf moisture (%, measuring accuracy  $\pm$  3%) [14]. The data were recorded in 15 s intervals and were given automatically as hourly values.

Harvest plots were harvested with a plot combine in order to determine plot yields, which were converted into tons per ha.

# 2.3.2 Sampling and Disease Assessment

In weekly intervals from GS 30 to 77, ten main tillers per plot were taken randomly from three of the four sampling plots for foliar disease analyses of the untreated control and IPM treatment. For the assessment of disease severities, the plant samples were analysed macroscopically and microscopically in a determined sequence according to Verreet et al. [23]. At first, the growth stage was specified for every location separately according to Zadoks et al. [26]. Simultaneously, every leaf was rated at the main stem for disease incidence and percentage of affected leaf area from the biotrophic foliar diseases; powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust. Afterwards, the leaves were separated from the main stems and were directly rated for incidence and percentage of leaf area affected by tan spot. To ensure the highest quality Septoria tritici blotch and glume blotch ratings, the leaves were soaked in water to simulate leaf wetness which led to expanded pycnidia, thereby causing the Septoria tritici blotch and glume blotch symptoms to show better visibility. After a minimum of 5 min of soaking, the pycnidia of Septoria tritici blotch and glume blotch were counted as the quantitative parameter for the disease severity under eightfold to fiftyfold magnification for every single leaf. Exact disease incidences and disease severities for every single leaf layer, rating date, and location per plant and plot were gathered from the assessment. The rated data were averaged for the leaf layers F-0 to F-6 separately after every weekly rating for each location and

stored in a SQL database. Over the whole survey period from 1995 to 2021, a data set of more than 900,000 epidemiological biological values was analysed.

## 2.3.3 Data Analyses

For further data analyses and annual comparison of the disease severity, the Area Under Disease Progress Curve (AUDPC) of every year from 1995 to 2021 was calculated from all assessed disease severities of F-0 to F-6 from GS 30 to 77 (corresponding to 11 observed weeks in every year) separately as a quantitative summary for every year and location. For the estimation of the

$$A_{F-x} = \sum_{i=1}^{N_i} \frac{(y_i + y_{i+1})}{2} (t_{i+1} - t_i)$$
(1)

*A*<sub>*F-x*</sub> = AUDPC of leaf layer F minus x; x = leaf layer; y = disease severity at rating date i, t = rating date

AUDPC according to Madden et al., 2007 [28] the trapezoidal method was used by discretizing the time variable and determining the average disease intensity between two neighbouring time points (Formula (1)).

For comparison of the disease severities of the untreated control and the IPM treatment, a yield-directed comparison by adjusting the AUDPC to the WAUDPC (Weighted AUDPC) by weighting disease severities separately for each leaf layer, namely 70% for F-0, 20% for the F-1 and 10% for the F-2 (Formula (2)), was performed [29,30]. Hence, all yield-essential leaf layers were considered, therefore leaf layers F-3 to F-6 were ignored from this calculation.

WAUDPC = 
$$0.7A_{F-0} + 0.2A_{F-1} + 0.1A_{F-2} + 0A_{F-3} + \dots + 0A_{F-6}$$
 (2)

#### A = AUDPC; F = leaf layer

For consideration of the fungicide use, the amount of active ingredient (a.i.) and the treatment frequency index (*TFI*) according to Bürger et al., 2008 [31] was analysed. The annual amount of active ingredient was determined by averaging all applied active ingredients within a year. The *TFI* is the annual summed up dose rate proportional to recommended dose of every fungicide used. For each year, location, and treatment, the *TFI* was defined as follows:

$$TFI = \sum_{i} \frac{dose \ rate_i}{standard \ dose_i} \tag{3}$$

where *i* is the application number per year.

The harvested yield as the superior factor for current farm practices was calculated for every treatment, location, and year. For further yield consideration, the IPM treatment was tested to the healthy and untreated control following the statistical evaluation of pharmaceutical 'gold standard' trials (three arm design) [32]. For this analysis, the untreated control and healthy-standard treatment were described as "minimum" (min.) and "maximum" (max.) control, respectively. To show the efficiency of the IPM treatment, the annual and total relative yield efficiency was calculated and is defined as follows:

$$Relative yield efficiency = \frac{\mu_{IPM} - \mu_{untreated control}}{\mu_{positive control} - \mu_{untreated control}}$$
(4)

where  $\mu$  is the annual mean of all locations.

### 2.3.4 Statistical Analyses

For statistical analyses, the data were exported from the SQL database to the statistical software R, version 4.1.3 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) [33], which was used to evaluate the data. For AUDPC and WAUDPC, the data evaluation started with the definition of an appropriate statistical mixed model [34,35]. The model included treatment and year as well as their interaction term as fixed factors. The location was regarded as random factor. The residuals were assumed to be normally distributed and to be heteroscedastic. These assumptions are based on a graphical residual analysis. Based on this model, a Pseudo  $R^2$  was calculated [36] and an analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted. After that, multiple contrast tests [37,38] were used in order to compare AUDPCs of the untreated control from several years versus the total average from 1995 to 2021, and in order to compare the WAUDPC of the IPM treatment versus the untreated control. Statistical significance was evaluated at  $p \le 0.05$ .

For yield (unlike as for AUDPC), averages per location and year were considered. For these values, a linear model was used with the factors treatment and year, as well as their interaction term. The residuals were assumed to be normally distributed and to be homoscedastic (based on a graphical residual analysis). Based on this model, a  $R^2$  was calculated and an

analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted. After that, the relative yield efficiency was calculated for each year (see Formula (4)). Furthermore, a non-inferiority test was done for IPM according to Pigeot et al. [32] to show that the treatment effect is in an acceptable range compared to the healthy-standard treatment. This is needed because a fungicide treatment cannot significantly enhance the yield compared to the healthy standard treatment. The test result is given by the corresponding lower 95% confidence limit.

# 2.4 Results

# 2.4.1 Occurrence of Wheat Foliar Diseases from 1995 to 2021 in the Fungicide Untreated Control

Disease severities were rated for the major foliar diseases Septoria tritici blotch, glume blotch, tan spot, powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust from 1995 to 2021. To analyse the disease epidemiology of the aforementioned diseases during the entire survey period, the disease severities of the untreated control are shown as AUDPC values (GS 30 to 77) of the leaf layers F-6 to F-0 (Figure 1). ANOVA results for the factors treatment, year and their interaction are presented in Table S 1. A dynamic occurrence of the several foliar wheat diseases was observed in the survey region within the 26-year monitoring. Certain diseases like Septoria tritici blotch and powdery mildew occurred consistently over the years, whereas other diseases, such as glume blotch, tan spot, stripe rust, and leaf rust, only occurred in individual years. The consistently occurring diseases fluctuated in their disease severities. For total consideration, the averaged AUDPC of all surveyed years and each foliar disease is shown as a grey line in Figure 1.

Septoria tritici blotch occurred as the most frequent foliar disease in the entire survey period. Disease severities varied around a total averaged AUDPC of 461 pycnidia from 1995 to 2021 (grey line; Figure 1a) from a minimum of 62 (1996) to a maximum of 1213 pycnidia (2020). In 1995, 1996, 1999, 2006, and 2008, significantly less pycnidia were rated in relation to the total average. In contrast, significantly higher values were determined in 2000, 2002, 2014, 2017, and 2021. Noticeably, the infestation of Septoria tritici blotch increased consistently over the survey period, with significantly lower disease severities observed in the first years, whereas higher severities were detected in the last years of the survey. Although glume blotch was detected in 13 of the 26 years, only minor disease severities were observed (Figure 1b). Compared to Septoria tritici blotch, a distinctly lower infestation of glume blotch with only 1.0 pycnidia was shown (note that appropriate scales were adapted in Figure 1b compared to Figure 1a). Even if glume blotch was observed with minor disease severity, the disease was not detectable in the last years of the survey. Likewise, to glume blotch, tan spot was detected inconsistently in only 9 of the 26 survey years (Figure 1c). However, the disease severities were always marginal in the infested years, with a maximum annual disease severity of 1.0% affected leaf area in 2018. Septoria tritici blotch was the most important necrotrophic foliar disease in the entire survey period.



**Figure 1.** Average of disease severities from 1995 to 2021 (grey line) and annual disease severities (AUDPC; GS 30 to 77; bars) of (**a**) Septoria tritici blotch (number of pycnidia), (**b**) glume blotch (number of pycnidia), (**c**) tan spot (percentage of leaf area affected), (**d**) powdery mildew (percentage of leaf area affected), (**e**) stripe rust (percentage of leaf area affected), and (**f**) leaf rust (percentage of leaf area affected), and (**f**) leaf rust (percentage of leaf area affected) on the upper six leaves (F-0 to F-6) of winter wheat (cultivar "Ritmo") in the untreated control of the eight trial locations in northern Germany from 1995 to 2021. Significant ( $p \le 0.05$ ) annual differences of disease severities from the average (grand mean) are marked with \*.

Compared to Septoria tritici blotch, powdery mildew also occurred in every year of the long-term survey (Figure 1d). To avoid an underestimation of powdery mildew, the trial locations at the West Coast Marsh (Barlt, Elskop, Sönke-Nissen-Koog) were not considered for the statistical analyses, as an occurrence of this disease is impossible there [23,39,40]. Considering the five remaining locations in the Eastern Hill Land, a total average of 3.1% affected leaf area was observed for powdery mildew. In contrast to Septoria tritici blotch, the disease severities fluctuated to a minor extent. The highest annual disease severity of powdery mildew was observed in 2017, with an affected leaf area of 9.10% (Figure 1d). Stripe rust was rated only in individual years (11 of 26) with minor disease severities (Figure 1e). Leaf rust was also not detected every year (13 of 26), with a total average of 1.7% from 1995 to 2021, but in contrast to stripe rust, significantly higher disease severities were observed in infested years, particularly in 2007, 2019, and 2020, with 16.0, 7.4, and 4.5% affected leaf area, respectively (Figure 1f). In the last years of the survey period, an increasing disease dynamic was recognized for leaf rust. Regarding the diseases caused by biotrophic pathogens, powdery mildew and leaf rust showed the highest relevance. Powdery mildew showed steady disease severity values during the 26-year survey, whereas the disease severity of leaf rust increased in the last years.

# 2.4.2 Threshold-Based Reduction of Disease Sevities

The effectivity of the threshold-based fungicide applications on disease infestations are shown by the comparison of the untreated control and the IPM treatment. Therefore, the AUDPC of each leaf layer (F-6 to F-0) was considered in the WAUDPC by assuming a yield relevance with 70% of F-0, 20% of F-1, 10% of F-2 and 0% of the F-3 to F-6. ANOVA results showed that the disease severities of Septoria tritici blotch, powdery mildew, stripe, and leaf rust were significantly affected by the interaction of treatment and year ( $p \le 0.05$ ; Table 3). Disease severities were also significantly affected by the single factors' treatment (with exception of tan spot) and year.

Disease severities of Septoria tritici blotch (Figure 2aı), glume blotch (Figure 2bı), powdery mildew (Figure 2dı), stripe rust (Figure 2eı) and leaf rust (Figure 2fı) were significantly reduced in the IPM treatment compared to the untreated control. Only the disease severity of tan spot was not significantly reduced (Figure 2cı). The WAUDPC values of Septoria tritici blotch were reduced by 125 pycnidia (-63.5%) from 197 in the untreated control to 72 pycnidia in the IPM treatment over the entire survey period. The annual infestations of Septoria tritici blotch in the IPM treatment were significantly

reduced in 12 of 26 years compared to the untreated control (Figure 2an). Significant reductions by the threshold-based treatments could not be observed in the last 6 years of the survey, and an increase of the annual disease severity on the yield essential leaf layers was observed as well. The enhanced disease pressure was accompanied by increased fluctuations in disease severity between the survey locations. The annual effectivity of the IPM-treatment compared to the untreated control decreased continuously over the survey period, though an effectivity of over 90% was only observed in the first two decades of the survey. Glume blotch and tan spot occurred in individual years on the yield-essential leaf layers with minor infestations and low annual WAUDPC's in the untreated control and IPM treatment, respectively (Figure 2b,c). Glume blotch was not observed after 2013. Consequently, of the observed necrotrophic diseases, only Septoria tritici blotch was relevant.

**Table 3.** Analyses of variances (ANOVAs) for the effect of treatment (untreated control, IPM), year (1995–2021), and their interaction on disease severities (WAUDPC; F-0 70%; F-1 20%; F-2 10%; F-3 to F-6 0%) of the wheat foliar diseases Septoria tritici blotch, glume blotch, tan spot, powdery mildew, stripe rust and leaf rust.

Foliar Disease	Effect	df	F	р
Septoria tritici blotch	Treatment (T)	324	25.736770	< 0.0001
	Year (Y)	324	59.351940	< 0.0001
	ТхҮ	324	23.681770	< 0.0001
	Treatment (T)	324	9.288164	0.0009
Glume blotch	Year (Y)	324	11.220406	< 0.0001
	ТхҮ	324	3.131020	0.2044
	Treatment (T)	324	0.463364	0.4965
Tan spot	Year (Y)	324	8.877909	< 0.0001
	ТхҮ	324	0.441737	0.9917
Pourdom	Treatment (T)	324	2.567894	< 0.0001
mildew	Year (Y)	324	8.076783	< 0.0001
	ТхҮ	324	1.810791	< 0.0001
Stripe rust	Treatment (T)	324	18.671426	< 0.0001
	Year (Y)	324	2.065552	0.0024
	ТхҮ	324	1.925722	0.0057
	Treatment (T)	324	18.671426	< 0.0001
Leaf rust	Year (Y)	324	2.065552	0.0024
	ТхҮ	324	1.925722	0.0057



**Figure 2.** Total (**a**I–**f**1) and annual (**a**II–**f**1) weighted disease severities (WAUDPC; F-0 70%; F-1 20%; F-2 10%; F-3 to F-6 0%) of (**a**) Septoria tritici blotch (number of pycnidia), (**b**) glume blotch (number of pycnidia), (**c**) tan spot (percentage of leaf area affected), (**d**) powdery mildew (percentage of leaf area affected), (**e**) stripe rust (percentage of leaf area affected), (**d**) powdery mildew (percentage of leaf area affected) of the untreated control (black bars) and IPM treatment (green bars) of winter wheat (cultivar "Ritmo") of the eight trial locations in northern Germany from 1995 to 2021. Significant ( $p \le 0.05$ ) differences treatment differences are marked with \*.

## Chapter II

The reduction of the total WAUDPC by the threshold based IPM fungicide treatment in comparison to the untreated control was significant for the diseases caused by biotrophic pathogens: powdery mildew (Figure 2di), stripe rust (Figure 2ei), and leaf rust (Figure 2fi).

The infestation with powdery mildew was significantly reduced from 2.15% in the untreated control to 0.87% in the IPM treatment, corresponding to an overall reduction of 60% (Figure 2dı). Significant annual reductions of the affected leaf area were observed in 4 years from 1995 to 2021 (Figure 2 du). However, powdery mildew showed consistent disease severities of moderate epidemic scales on the three uppermost leaves in the untreated control, thereby the efficiency of the threshold-based fungicide treatments was enhanced when severities were also enhanced in the untreated control. In the untreated control, stripe rust occurred with minor disease severities on the yield-essential leaf layers (Figure 2en). Noticeable, a more consistent occurrence of stripe rust was observed in the last decade of the survey. Infestations of leaf rust were significantly reduced in the IPM treatment compared to the untreated control by 79%, from 3.91% to 0.83% affected leaf area averaged over the entire survey (Figure 2fr). Major infestation values were only determined in individual years, namely 2007 with 31%, 2019 with 19% and 2020 with 11% affected leaf area, respectively (Figure 2fn). The threshold-based fungicide treatment showed a high effectivity in years of infestation with a reduction of the disease severity by 89%, 97%, and 100% in the IPM treatment, respectively. Also noticeable was an aggregation of higher disease severities in the last decade of the survey. Consequently, powdery mildew and leaf rust were the relevant biotrophic diseases in the survey, whereby powdery mildew was ubiquitous with a low annual fluctuation and in contrast to the relevance leaf rust gained in single years.

# 2.4.3 Efficiency of Fungal Disease Management

Over the entire survey period from 1995 to 2021, 777 fungicide applications were conducted in the healthy-standard treatment, whereas in the IPM treatment, only 343 applications were accomplished. The use of biological-epidemiological thresholds within the IPM treatment was responsible for the reduced application of fungicides.

The efficiencies of the different fungicide application systems, namely the biological–epidemiological threshold-based IPM treatment and the growth stage oriented healthy-standard treatment, are shown in Figure 3.



**Figure 3.** (a) Total use of fungicidal active ingredient (a.i.) in the healthy-standard treatment and the IPM treatment (average in g per litre), (b) total treatment frequency index of the healthy-standard treatment and IPM treatment and (c) total yield (t/ha) of the untreated control, IPM treatment and healthy-standard treatment of winter wheat (cultivar "Ritmo") at the eight trial locations in northern Germany from 1995 to 2021.

Averaged over the 26 survey years, 1697 g a.i./ha has been applied in the healthy-standard treatment, varying from 876 g a.i./ha in 1997 to 2463 g a.i./ha in 2005 (Figure 3a). In the IPM treatment, significantly less active ingredient of 607 g a.i./ha was used. In every year of the survey, the annual amount of the applied active ingredient was lower in the IPM treatment than in the healthy-standard treatment. In the IPM treatment, the lowest amount of active ingredient was applied with 218 g a.i./ha in 2018, whereas the highest amount was applied in 2007 with 1401 g a.i./ha. For a better evaluation of the fungicide use, the TFI (treatment frequency index) was calculated for the IPM treatment and the healthy-standard treatment. By qualifying the actual used fungicide dose to the standard dose, variations in the active ingredient between the different fungicide concentrations are equalized in the TFI. The annual TFI of the healthy-standard treatment varied from 2.53 in 1997 to 4.74 in 2003 with a total average of 3.73 full doses. In the threshold-based treatment, the TFI varied from 0.71 in 2018 to 2.14 in 2007 with a total average of 1.54 full doses (Figure 3b). For evaluation of the yield efficiency of the threshold-based fungicide treatments the yield of the IPM-treatment was compared with the untreated and healthy-standard treatment. Thereby the yield of the healthystandard treatment should be reached with a minimum of fungicides in the IPM treatment. With an average total yield of 8.67 t/ha during the 26-year survey period, the lowest yield was consistently found in the untreated control (Figure 3c; Figure S1), whereas the highest yield was archived in the healthy-standard treatment with 10.30 t/ha. In the IPM treatment, a comparable yield of 10.01 t/ha was observed.

ANOVA results showed that the yield was significantly affected by the single factors treatment and year ( $p \le 0.05$ ; Table 4). The yield was not significantly influenced by the interaction of treatment and year.

Table 4. Analyses of variances (ANOVAs) for the effect of treatment (untreated control, IPM, healthy-standard treatment), year (1995–2021), and their interaction on yield (t/ha).

Effect	df	F	р
Treatment (T)	2	100.2018	< 0.0001
Year (Y)	25	16.0594	< 0.0001
$T \times Y$	50	0.6335	0.9764

To assess the efficiency of the IPM wheat model and to avoid blurring by annual differences and maintain annual comparability it was assumed that the healthy-standard treatment shows the maximum yield potential, and the untreated control without any fungicide application the lowest potential. Accordingly, only the yield range between the untreated and healthystandard treatment was used for the evaluation of the efficiency of the IPM treatment. In Figure 4 the adjusted yield efficiency of the IPM treatment is shown in relation to the healthy-standard treatment (green bars). The IPM treatment showed an overall relative yield efficiency of 81% (green line) and an overall lower confidence limit of 70% of the healthy-standard treatment with a probability of 95% (red line). In 16 of the 26 survey years, the annual efficiency of the threshold based IPM treatment was higher than the overall relative yield efficiency. The highest efficiency of the IPM treatment was observed in 2017 with 112% and the lowest in 2020 with 24%. In three years, an efficiency of 100% and more was calculated, namely in 2005, 2008, and 2017. From 1995 to 2021, the yield efficiency varied from 112% in 2017 to 23% in 2020, thereby, a lower yield efficiency was observed in the last years of the survey.



**Figure 4.** Overall relative yield efficiency (green line), overall lower confidence limit (red line;  $\alpha$  = 0.05) and annual relative yield efficiency of the IPM treatment (green bars) in relation to the healthy-standard treatment adjusted by the untreated control from 1995 to 2021.

## 2.4.4 Economic Analysis

For further evaluation, the IPM efficiency was considered economically. According to the trial design, two factors influenced the economic efficiency, namely the wheat price (PW) and the total costs for the fungicide application (PF; including application costs and fungicide costs). By equalizing the profit function ( $\pi$ ) of the untreated control ( $\pi$ untreated control = 8.66 t/ha × PW) and the IPM treatment ( $\pi_{IPM}$  = 10.01 t/ha × PW – 1.54TFI × PF), the marginal profit was determined. With decreasing wheat prices and increasing fungicide costs, the untreated control shows the highest economic efficiency (Figure 5; black area). In contrast, the profit function of the healthy-standard treatment ( $\pi$ healthy-standard treatment = 10.32 t/ha × WP - 3.73TFI × FP) has been equalized with the IPM treatment, and the marginal profit was determined. With increasing wheat prices and decreasing costs for fungicides, the healthy-standard treatment has the highest economic efficiency (Figure 5; red area). With moderate wheat prices and fungicide costs, the IPM treatment showed the highest economic efficiency (Figure 5; green area). According to Kamrath et.al. [41], the cost for one full fungicide dose (one TFI) is approximately 53.89 € per ha in the survey area. Together with an assumed wheat price of 150.20 €/t, the IPM treatment is the superior treatment for current farm practices in the survey area (Figure 5; black cross).



**Figure 5** Equal Profit margin of untreated control versus IPM treatment and IPM treatment versus healthy-standard treatment from 1995 to 2021 as a function of wheat price ( $\mathcal{E}$ /t) and fungicide costs ( $\mathcal{E}$ /TFI). Exemplary wheat prices and fungicide costs of the survey area and period are shown as black cross.

# 2.5 Discussion

Foliar diseases are a major threat to worldwide wheat production [13,42]. In our long-term study from 1995 to 2021 in northern Germany, the wheat diseases Septoria tritici blotch, glume blotch, tan spot, powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust were observed with varying frequencies and infestation levels. Annual fluctuations in disease frequencies and severities are mainly caused by varying weather conditions [14,43]. In particular, Septoria tritici blotch and powdery mildew were the most relevant foliar diseases due to their consistent occurrence with increased infestation levels throughout the entire survey period of 26 years [44,45]. These diseases are of major importance in many wheat-growing areas of middle and northern Europe [3,9,46]. In contrast, glume blotch, tan spot, stripe rust, and leaf rust occurred inconsistently over the survey period. However, under suitable weather conditions, high infestations of these diseases were observed, e.g., leaf rust. Therefore, monitoring of all foliar diseases is essential [23].

Obviously agricultural production systems in current farm practices also influence the occurrence of the major foliar diseases [47]. The aim of a production system is to maintain the quality and quantity of the harvested products by the prevention of diseases. In this regard, chemical crop protection should only be used as the last opportunity to prevent high infestations. Current farm practices have several options to suppress the infestation of foliar diseases by the agronomic production system [10,47]. For example, the disease severities of powdery mildew and rust diseases can be reduced by the choice of tolerant/resistant cultivars [11,27,48,49,50,51]. Furthermore, crop rotation and soil cultivation can influence the infestation of foliar diseases, e.g., tan spot [10,47,52,53,54]. Infestations of tan spot are mainly expected under reduced soil tillage and continuous wheat, especially when both practices are used simultaneously [45,47,52]. Thus, soil tillage by ploughing is considered an important tool in wheat foliar disease control, however, soil structure, water balance and earth worm populations are negatively affected [55,56,57,58]. This shows the complexity of current farm practices and illustrates the high requirements for an optimized agronomic production system.

The consistently high disease severity of Septoria tritici blotch in our study was notable. Especially in regions with maritime conditions such as Germany, Northern France, Ireland, or the United Kingdom, Septoria tritici blotch is currently regarded as the primary yield-reducing disease in wheat production almost every year, causing significant yield losses of up to 50% [59,60,61]. In

our opinion, the dominance of this pathogen is due to the suitable maritime weather conditions present [14,59], in combination with convenient agronomic productions systems [47,54,55]. Early sowing dates are common in regions with maritime weather conditions. Henze et al. [14] Murray et al. [62], and Hardwick et al. [63] explained that early sowing dates increase the risk of high initial infestations of Zymoseptoria tritici (Z. tritici) due to increased temperatures at early sowing dates, which can lead to an increase of fungal activity before winter. Additionally, for early sowing dates, Septoria tritici blotch tolerant cultivars with a high yield potential are rare in common farm practices [16]. Furthermore, the inactivity of the pathogen is reduced through the mild winters of maritime weather conditions [59,64]. As a consequence, the populations of Septoria tritici blotch are already established before the vegetation period with high initial inoculum. These combined factors are the basis for enhanced initial pycnospore numbers after winter. In spring, typically well distributed precipitation with persistent leaf wetness of more than 36 h can lead to several infections [23,46]. Thus, under maritime conditions between EC 31/32 to EC 75, there are significantly more infection events than under continental conditions [3,65]. Hence, chemical crop protection against Septoria tritici blotch is essential under maritime conditions due to missing agronomic instruments for a reduction of the disease.

Despite exploitation of agronomic practices, an infestation of foliar diseases is possible under favourable weather conditions [47]. In this case, the use of fungicides is necessary to prevent significant yield loss, and the use of fungicides should be threshold-based [18,66,67,68]. The biologicalepidemiological thresholds according to Verreet et al. [23] have proven their efficiency in the present study by showing their capability to reduce the severity of all observed diseases. This is confirmed by the significantly reduced WAUDPC values of the threshold-based application system for the diseases Septoria tritici blotch, powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust over the entire study period. Consequently, threshold-based fungicide application must be seen as effective. This was also confirmed supra-regionally in other studies, e.g., by Kvakkestad et al. [69] or Lazaro et al. [19]. However, a decrease of control effectivity is noticeable for the major pathogen Z. tritici, the causal agent of Septoria tritici blotch. Compared to earlier periods of this long-term study, no significant control of this pathogen was achieved in the last years. This development must concern the agricultural practice, because an obvious change in the pathogen has taken place as a consequence of the fungicidal disease control [70,71,72,73,74]. The decreased fungicide efficiency could be caused by the sensitivity of the pathogen towards the different fungicide classes. In a long-term study by Birr et al. [75], a significant loss in fungicide performance of triazoles against Septoria tritici blotch for the same region was shown, which has now stabilized at a minor level. This was confirmed in numerous other countries and must be described as a global effect [76,77,78,79]. In contrast, Klink et al. [46] were able to demonstrate a stable sensitivity over the last decades of Z. tritici towards mefentrifluconazole with its flexible isopropanol group. It seems to be less affected by the mutation in the CYP51 gene of the pathogen [73,74], which is of major importance in for resistance management in current farm practices. Z. tritici achieved a complete resistance for the fungicide class of strobilurins [80,81]. Likewise, the carboxamides, as a relatively new group of fungicides, are subject to a continuing loss of efficiency [75]. Thus, the loss of sensitivity of Z. tritici to several fungicide groups must be assessed as critical, since both the number of available fungicides and the efficiency of the remaining fungicides decrease continuously.

The control of Septoria tritici blotch is primarily based on fungicides, as agronomic practices are either hardly effective (e.g., crop rotation, tillage) or result in a marginal reduction in disease epidemics (e.g., late sowing dates) [61,82,83,84]. Therefore, it would be extremely helpful for common farm practices if new active substances were developed in the near future. This would also reduce the pressure of the pathogen to adapt to the few existing fungicide groups and ensure their continued use. If no new active ingredients with new sites of action will be available, it may be necessary to consider adjusting the biological–epidemiological thresholds.

However, not only did the effectivity in disease control decrease for this important pathogen, the AUDPC values of the untreated control also increased significantly in the last years of the survey. This indicates that the environmental conditions favour the pathogen, since all production factors were constant in the long-term study since 1995. Two main weather parameters are of major importance for the infection process. The importance of extended leaf wetness after rainfall for a successful infection has already been described by Verreet et al. [23] and Henze et al. [14]. Due to the extended latent period of more than 3 to 4 weeks, the temperature is also of major importance. Increasing temperatures in combination with extended leaf wetness shorten the latent period. In contrast, cooler temperatures extend the life cycle due to reduced fungal activity. Due to climate change [85,86,87], the temperature has increased in recent years, thereby shortening the latent period of the pathogen. Thus, the pycnidia of the fungus and the concomitant

pycnospores have become available early in the season. As a consequence, the *Z. tritici* population can build up faster in the growing season at higher temperatures, resulting in an increase of annual infections and higher disease severities of Septoria tritici blotch. However, increased temperatures also directly influence diseases with higher temperature requirements, such as leaf rust [88,89,90]. Therefore, increased AUDPC values of leaf rust compared to the total average were observed in the last decade of the long-term survey. Rising temperatures caused by climate change obviously led to a significant increased disease pressure of foliar wheat diseases if sufficient moisture/leaf wetness is available.

To assess the efficiency and effectivity of the biological–epidemiological system, the results must be related to both the untreated and the healthystandard treatment. The fungicide untreated control represents the actual infestation with undisturbed disease development and maximized yield damage. In contrast, the healthy-standard treatment shows the possible yield at each trial location and minimized disease development. The goal of the threshold-based system is to harvest identical yields to the healthy-standard treatment with a minimized amount of fungicides. In other studies, treatments are often compared to the untreated control only, and disregard the healthy-standard treatment, whereby an exact evaluation of the treatment is not possible [23]. Suboptimal treatments still lead to an increase of yield, but do not reflect the potential yield of a location. As a consequence, evaluation with the untreated control only leads to inaccurate results.

In our study, the biological–epidemiological system according to Verreet et al. [23] showed a significant reduction of the amount of active ingredient (a.i./ha) by two thirds compared to the healthy-standard treatment, whereby the yield did not differ significantly. Therefore, it can be assumed almost the same control of the foliar diseases was achieved with significantly less active ingredient (a.i./ha) over 26 years. This effect is due to an idealized timing of fungicide application at the most sensitive stages of the pathogen's epidemic, and demonstrates the excellence of the biological–epidemiological approach for the control of foliar diseases. Beside the active ingredient, the TFI value was also reduced by two-thirds with the threshold-based system. Therefore, the high effectivity of the biological–epidemiological system also led to a high efficiency.

Currently, the fluctuation of prices for agricultural products is intense, hence a major increase of the wheat price might lead to a similar increase of fungicide intensity to maximize the productivity. Therefore, the most profitable treatments for different scenarios with varying fungicidal cost structures and wheat prices were shown in our study for the untreated control, the IPM treatment, and the healthy-standard treatment. In these different scenarios, the superiority of the biological–epidemiological system compared to the untreated control and the stage-oriented system of the healthy-standard treatment is obvious for a very high range of costs and wheat prices. The reduction of fungicide amounts is an economic and ecological advantage for the environment, the farmer, and the consumer. This proves the superiority of biological–epidemiological control of fungal pathogens, as well as the importance of correct fungicide scheduling. Thus, the effectivity and efficiency of a biological–epidemiological system for fungicide application is almost always given, and the still-practiced stageoriented control strategy must be considered outdated.

The EU Directive for sustainable use of fungicides and the "farm to fork" strategy of the European Union seek a reduction of pesticides by 50%. Therefore, the highest effectivity and efficiency of pesticides is needed to minimize the risks of yield loss. In this regard, the non-essential use [91] and sales of pesticides [92], especially fungicides, show the highest total optimization potential. In our study, the biological–epidemiological system showed a reduction potential of two thirds, making it an important tool for the future of farm practices, and a possible approach for reaching the goals of the European Union.

# 2.6 References

- 1. FAO. FAOSTAT Statistical Database; FAO: Rome, 2019.
- 2. WHEAT. Wheat: vital grain of civilization and food security. 2013 *Annual Report* **2014**.
- Bouma, E. Development of comparable agro-climatic zones for the international exchange of data on the efficacy and crop safety of plant protection products. *Bull. OEPP* 2005, 35, 233–238, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2338.2005.00830.x.
- 4. Poole, N.F.; Arnaudin, M.E. The role of fungicides for effective disease management in cereal crops. *Can. J. Plant Pathol.* **2014**, *36*, 1–11, doi:10.1080/07060661.2013.870230.
- Enghiad, A.; Ufer, D.; Countryman, A.M.; Thilmany, D.D. An Overview of Global Wheat Market Fundamentals in an Era of Climate Concerns. *Int. J. Agron.* 2017, 1–15, doi:10.1155/2017/3931897.
- 6. IPPC Secretariat. *International Year of Plant Health Final report. Protecting plants, protecting life;* FAO on behalf of the Secretariat of the International Plant Protection Convention: Rome, Italy, 2021, ISBN 978-92-5-135056-0.
- Birr, T.; Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H. Prediction of deoxynivalenol and zearalenone in winter wheat grain in a maize-free crop rotation based on cultivar susceptibility and meteorological factors. *J. Plant. Dis. Prot.* 2019, 126, 13–27, doi:10.1007/s41348-018-0198-9.
- Birr, T.; Hasler, M.; Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H. Composition and Predominance of *Fusarium* Species Causing *Fusarium* Head Blight in Winter Wheat Grain Depending on Cultivar Susceptibility and Meteorological Factors. *Microorganisms* 2020, *8*, doi:10.3390/microorganisms8040617.
- Turner, J.A.; Chantry, T.; Taylor, M.C.; Kennedy, M.C. Changes in agronomic practices and incidence and severity of diseases in winter wheat in England and Wales between 1999 and 2019. *Plant Pathol.* 2021, 70, 1759–1778, doi:10.1111/ppa.13433.
- Jalli, M.; Huusela, E.; Jalli, H.; Kauppi, K.; Niemi, M.; Himanen, S.; Jauhiainen, L. Effects of Crop Rotation on Spring Wheat Yield and Pest Occurrence in Different Tillage Systems: A Multi-Year Experiment in Finnish Growing Conditions. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* 2021, *5*, doi:10.3389/fsufs.2021.647335.
- 11. Draz, I.S.; Esmail, S.M.; Abou-Zeid, M.H.; Essa, T.M. Powdery mildew susceptibility of spring wheat cultivars as a major constraint on grain yield. *Ann. Agric. Sci.* **2019**, *64*, 39–45, doi:10.1016/j.aoas.2019.05.007.

- 12. Hosford, R.M., Jr.; Larez, C.R.; Hammond, J.J. Interaction of wet period and temperature on *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* infection and development in wheats of differing resistance. *Phytopathology* **1987**, *77*, 1021–1027.
- Figueroa, M.; Hammond-Kosack, K.E.; Solomon, P.S. A review of wheat diseases-a field perspective. *Mol. Plant Pathol.* 2018, 19, 1523–1536, doi:10.1111/mpp.12618.
- 14. Henze, M.; Beyer, M.; Klink, H.; Verreet, J.-A. Characterizing Meteorological Scenarios Favorable for *Septoria tritici* Infections in Wheat and Estimation of Latent Periods. *Plant Dis.* **2007**, *91*, 1445–1449, doi:10.1094/PDIS-91-11-1445.
- 15. Juroszek, P.; Racca, P.; Link, S.; Farhumand, J.; Kleinhenz, B. Overview on the review articles published during the past 30 years relating to the potential climate change effects on plant pathogens and crop disease risks. *Plant Pathol.* **2020**, *69*, 179–193, doi:10.1111/ppa.13119.
- Miedaner, T.; Juroszek, P. Climate change will influence disease resistance breeding in wheat in Northwestern Europe. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 2021, 134, 1771–1785, doi:10.1007/s00122-021-03807-0.
- 17. Różewicz, M.; Wyzińska, M.; Grabiński, J. The Most Important Fungal Diseases of Cereals—Problems and Possible Solutions. *Agronomy* **2021**, *11*, 714, doi:10.3390/agronomy11040714.
- Jalli, M.; Kaseva, J.; Andersson, B.; Ficke, A.; Jørgensen, L.N.; Ronis, A.; Kaukoranta, T.; Ørum, J.E.; Djurle, A. Yield increases due to fungicide control of leaf blotch diseases in wheat and barley as a basis for IPM decision-making in the Nordic-Baltic region. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.* 2020, *158*, 315–333, doi:10.1007/s10658-020-02075-w.
- 19. Lázaro, E.; Makowski, D.; Vicent, A. Decision support systems halve fungicide use compared to calendar-based strategies without increasing disease risk. *Commun. Earth. Environ.* **2021**, *2*, doi:10.1038/s43247-021-00291-8.
- Jørgensen, L.N.; Heick, T.M. Azole Use in Agriculture, Horticulture, and Wood Preservation - Is It Indispensable? *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 2021, 11, 730297, doi:10.3389/fcimb.2021.730297.
- Willocquet, L.; Meza, W.R.; Dumont, B.; Klocke, B.; Feike, T.; Kersebaum, K.C.; Meriggi, P.; Rossi, V.; Ficke, A.; Djurle, A.; et al. An outlook on wheat health in Europe from a network of field experiments. *Crop Prot.* 2021, 139, 105335, doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2020.105335.
- 22. European Commission. Communication from the commission to the european parliament, the council, the european economic and social

commitee of the regions A Farm to Fork Strategy for a fair, healthy and environmentally-friendly food system. *Off. J. Eur. Union* **2020**.

- Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H.; Hoffmann, G.M. Regional Monitoring for Disease Prediction and Optimization of Plant Protection Measuares: The IPM Wheat Model. *Plant Dis.* 2000, *84*, 816–826, doi:10.1094/PDIS.2000.84.8.816.
- 24. DWD Climate Data Center. Vieljährige Stationsmittelwerte für die Klimareferenzperiode 1991-2020, für aktuellen Standort und Bezugsstandort. Available online: https://www.dwd.de/DE/leistungen/ klimadatendeutschland/vielj\_mittelwerte.html (accessed on 18 May 2021).
- 25. Statistisches Amt für Hamburg und Schleswig-Holstein. Kreisergebnisse Schleswig-Holstein 2020 – endgültiges Ergebnis der Landwirtschaftszählung 2020 –: Kennziffer: C IV - LZ 2020 SH, SK Sonderbericht Kreisdaten, 2021.
- 26. Zadoks, J.C.; Chang, T.T.; Konzak, C.F. A decimal code for the growth stages of cereals. *Weed Res.* **1974**, *14*, 415–421.
- 27. Bundessortenamt. Beschreibende Sortenliste Getreide, Mais, Ölfrüchte, Leguminosen (großkörnig), Hackfrüchte (außer Kartoffeln) 2007; Deutscher Landwirtschaftsverlag: Hannover, Germany, 2007, ISBN 0948-4167.
- Madden, L.V.; Hughes, G.; van den Bosch, F. CHAPTER 4: Temporal Analysis I: Quantifying and Comparing Epidemics. In *The Study of Plant Disease Epidemics*; Madden, L.V., Hughes, G., van den Bosch, F., Eds.; The American Phytopathological Society: St. Paul, MN, USA, 2017; pp 63– 116, ISBN 978-0-89054-505-8.
- 29. Mahmood, A.; Alam, K.; Salam, A.; Iqbal, S. Effect of flag leaf removal on grain yield, its components and quality of hexaploid wheat. *Cereal Res. Commun.* **1991**, 305–310.
- Avci Birsin, M. Effects of Removal of Some Photosynthetic Structures on Some Yield Components in Wheat. *Tarim Bilim. Derg.* 2005, 11, 1, doi:10.1501/Tarimbil\_0000000559.
- Bürger, J.; Mol, F. de; Gerowitt, B. The "necessary extent" of pesticide use—Thoughts about a key term in German pesticide policy. *Crop Prot.* 2008, 27, 343–351, doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2007.06.006.
- 32. Pigeot, I.; Schäfer, J.; Röhmel, J.; Hauschke, D. Assessing non-inferiority of a new treatment in a three-arm clinical trial including a placebo. *Stat. Med.* **2003**, *22*, 883–899, doi:10.1002/sim.1450.
- 33. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computin. Statistical Computing; R Foundation: Vienna, Austria, 2022.
- 34. Pinheiro, J. *Mixed-Effects Models in S and S-PLUS;* Springer New York: New York, NY, USA, 2000, ISBN 9780387227474.

- 35. Carroll, R.J.; Ruppert, D. *Transformation and Weighting in Regression;* CRC Press: London, UK, 1988, ISBN 9780203735268.
- Nakagawa, S.; Schielzeth, H. A general and simple method for obtaining R2 from generalized linear mixed-effects models. *Methods. Ecol. Evol.* 2013, 4, 133–142, doi:10.1111/j.2041-210x.2012.00261.x.
- 37. Hothorn, T.; Bretz, F.; Westfall, P. Simultaneous inference in general parametric models. *Biom. J.* **2008**, *50*, 346–363, doi:10.1002/bimj.200810425.
- Bretz, F.; Hothorn, T.; Westfall, P.H. Multiple comparisons using R; Chapman & Hall/CRC Press: Boca Ranton, FL, USA, 2011, ISBN 9781584885740.
- Engel, C. Analyse der witterungsabhängigen Schadensdynamik von Weizenpathogenen und deren schwellenorientierten Bekämpfung auf die Pflanzensowie Ertragsphysiologie des Winterweizens anhand des überregionalen IPS-Monitorings Schleswig-Holstein (1995-2014). PhD Thesis; Christian-Albrechts-Universiät: Kiel, Germany, 2014.
- 40. Hamer, W.B. Spatial prediction of the infestation risks of winter wheat by the pathogens Blumeria graminis f. sp. tritici (Powdery mildew) and Puccinia triticina (Brown rust) in Schleswig-Holstein using machine learning techniques; Kiel, Germany, 2019, ISBN 978-3-923887-74-3.
- 41. Kamrath, K.; Freier, B.; Beyer, N. Analyse der Kosten für die Anwendung von Pflanzenschutzmitteln in Winterweizen und Winterraps auf der Grundlage des Netzes Vergleichsbetriebe Pflanzenschutz 2007 bis 2010. J. Kulturpflanzen **2012**, *64*, 416–420.
- 42. Duveiller, E.; Singh, R.P.; Nicol, J.M. The challenges of maintaining wheat productivity: pests, diseases, and potential epidemics. *Euphytica* **2007**, 157, 417–430, doi:10.1007/s10681-007-9380-z.
- Naseri, B.; Sabeti, P. Analysis of the effects of climate, host resistance, maturity and sowing date on wheat stem rust epidemics. *J. Plant. Pathol.* 2021, 103, 197–205, doi:10.1007/s42161-020-00709-w.
- Ors, M.E.; Randoux, B.; Selim, S.; Siah, A.; Couleaud, G.; Maumené, C.; Sahmer, K.; Halama, P.; Reignault, P. Cultivar-dependent partial resistance and associated defence mechanisms in wheat against *Zymoseptoria tritici. Plant Pathol.* 2018, 67, 561–572, doi:10.1111/ppa.12760.
- 45. Orellana-Torrejon, C.; Vidal, T.; Boixel, A.-L.; Gélisse, S.; Saint-Jean, S.; Suffert, F. Annual dynamics of *Zymoseptoria tritici* populations in wheat cultivar mixtures: A compromise between the efficacy and durability of a recently broken-down resistance gene? *Plant Pathol.* 2022, *71*, 289–303, doi:10.1111/ppa.13458.

- Klink, H.; Verreet, J.-A.; Hasler, M.; Birr, T. Will Triazoles Still Be of Importance in Disease Control of *Zymoseptoria tritici* in the Future? *Agronomy* 2021, 11, 933, doi:10.3390/agronomy11050933.
- 47. Bankina, B.; Bimšteine, G.; Arhipova, I.; Kaņeps, J.; Stanka, T. Importance of Agronomic Practice on the Control of Wheat Leaf Diseases. *Agriculture* **2018**, *8*, 56, doi:10.3390/agriculture8040056.
- 48. Conner, R.L.; Kuzyk, A.D.; Su, H. Impact of powdery mildew on the yield of soft white spring wheat cultivars. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* **2003**, *83*, 725–728, doi:10.4141/P03-043.
- Ye, X.; Zhang, S.; Li, S.; Wang, J.; Chen, H.; Wang, K.; Lin, Z.; Wei, Y.; Du, L.; Yan, Y. Improvement of three commercial spring wheat varieties for powdery mildew resistance by marker-assisted selection. *Crop Prot.* 2019, 125, 104889, doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2019.104889.
- Singh, R.P.; William H.; Huerta-Espino, J.; Rosewarne, G. Wheat Rust in Asia: Meeting the Challenges with Old and New Technologies. In *New directions for a diverse planet: Proceedings of the 4<sup>th</sup> International Crop Science Congress*; International Crop Science Society, Ed.; Brisbane, Australia, 2004, ISBN 1-920842-21-7.
- 51. van Ginkel, M.; Rajaram, S. Breeding for Durable Resistance to Diseases in Wheat: An International Perspective. In *Durability of Disease Resistance;* Jacobs, T., Parlevliet, J.E., Eds.; Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht, Netherlands, 1993; pp 259–272, ISBN 978-94-010-4885-9.
- 52. Jørgensen, L.N.; Olsen, L.V. Control of tan spot (*Drechslera tritici-repentis*) using cultivar resistance, tillage methods and fungicides. *Crop Prot.* 2007, 26, 1606–1616, doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2007.01.009.
- Moffat, C.S.; undefined; Santana, F.M. Diseases affecting wheat: tan spot. In *Integrated Disease Management of Wheat and Barley* Burleigh Dodds Series in Agricultural Science; Oliver, R., Ed.; Burleigh Dodds Science Publishing: Cambridge, UK, 2019; pp 95–107, ISBN 978-1-78676-216-0.
- 54. Cotuna, O.; Paraschivu, M.; Paraschivu A.M.; Sărăţeanu, V. The influence of tillage, crop rotation and residue management on tan spot (*Drechslera tritici repentis* Died. Shoemaker) in winter wheat. *Res. J. Agric. Sci.* **2015**, 13–21.
- 55. Cookson, W.R.; Murphy, D.V.; Roper, M.M. Characterizing the relationships between soil organic matter components and microbial function and composition along a tillage disturbance gradient. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **2008**, *40*, 763–777, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.10.011.
- 56. Pelosi, C.; Pey, B.; Caro, G.; Cluzeau, D.; Peigné, J.; Bertrand, M.; Hedde, M. Dynamics of earthworm taxonomic and functional diversity in

ploughed and no-tilled cropping systems. *Soil Tillage Res.* **2016**, *156*, 25–32, doi:10.1016/j.still.2015.07.016.

- Peigné, J.; Vian, J.F.; Payet, V.; Saby, N.P. Soil fertility after 10 years of conservation tillage in organic farming. *Soil Tillage Res.* 2018, 175, 194– 204, doi:10.1016/j.still.2017.09.008.
- Soane, B.D.; Ball, B.C.; Arvidsson, J.; Basch, G.; Moreno, F.; Roger-Estrade, J. No-till in northern, western and south-western Europe: A review of problems and opportunities for crop production and the environment. *Soil Tillage Res.* 2012, *118*, 66–87, doi:10.1016/j.still.2011.10.015.
- 59. Fones, H.; Gurr, S.J. The impact of Septoria tritici Blotch disease on wheat: An EU perspective. *Fungal Genet. Biol.* **2015**, *79*, 3–7, doi:10.1016/j.fgb.2015.04.004.
- Torriani, S.F.F.; Melichar, J.P.E.; Mills, C.; Pain, N.; Sierotzki, H.; Courbot, M. Zymoseptoria tritici: A major threat to wheat production, integrated approaches to control. *Fungal Genet. Biol.* 2015, 79, 8–12, doi:10.1016/j.fgb.2015.04.010.
- Jørgensen, L.N.; Hovmøller, M.S.; Hansen, J.G.; Lassen, P.; Clark, B.; Bayles, R.; Rodemann, B.; Flath, K.; Jahn, M.; Goral, T.; et al. IPM Strategies and Their Dilemmas Including an Introduction to www.eurowheat.org. *J. Integr. Agric.* 2014, 13, 265–281, doi:10.1016/S2095-3119(13)60646-2.
- Murray, G.M.; Martin, R.H.; Cullis, B.R. Relationship of the severity of Septoria tritici blotch of wheat to sowing time, rainfall at heading and average susceptibility of wheat cultivars in the area. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 1990, 41, 307, doi:10.1071/AR9900307.
- 63. Hardwick, N.V.; Jones, D.R.; Slough, J.E. Factors affecting diseases of winter wheat in England and Wales, 1989-98. *Plant Pathol.* **2001**, *50*, 453–462, doi:10.1046/j.1365-3059.2001.00596.x.
- 64. Daamen, R.A.; Stol, W. Survey of cereal diseases and petts in the Netherlands. 5. Occurrence of Septoria spp. in winter wheat. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.* **1992**, *98*, 369–376, doi:10.1007/BF01974464.
- Boixel, A.-L.; Gélisse, S.; Marcel, T.C.; Suffert, F. Differential tolerance of *Zymoseptoria tritici* to altered optimal moisture conditions during the early stages of wheat infection. *J. Plant. Pathol.* 2022, 1–13, doi:10.1007/s42161-021-01025-7.
- Beyer, M.; Marozsak, B.; Dam, D.; Parisot, O.; Pallez-Barthel, M.; Hoffmann, L. Enhancing septoria leaf blotch forecasts in winter wheat II: model architecture and validation results. *J. Plant. Dis. Prot.* 2022, 129, 45–51, doi:10.1007/s41348-021-00554-8.

- 67. Beyer, M.; Pallez-Barthel, M.; Dam, D.; Hoffmann, L.; El Jarroudi, M. Enhancing septoria leaf blotch forecasts in winter wheat I: the effect of temperature on the temporal distance between critical rainfall periods and the breaking of the control threshold. *J. Plant. Dis. Prot.* **2022**, *129*, 37–44, doi:10.1007/s41348-021-00553-9.
- Jørgensen, L.N.; Nielsen, G.C.; Ørum, J.E.; Jensen, J.E.; Pinnschmidt, H.O. Integrating Disease Control in Winter Wheat – Optimizing Fungicide Input. *Outlook. Pest. Man.* 2008, 19, 206–213, doi:10.1564/19oct04.
- 69. Kvakkestad, V.; Steiro, Å.L.; Vatn, A. Pesticide Policies and Farm Behavior: The Introduction of Regulations for Integrated Pest Management. *Agriculture* **2021**, *11*, 828, doi:10.3390/agriculture11090828.
- Stergiopoulos, I.; van Nistelrooy, J.G.M.; Kema, G.H.J.; Waard, M.A. de. Multiple mechanisms account for variation in base-line sensitivity to azole fungicides in field isolates of *Mycosphaerella graminicola*. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* 2003, *59*, 1333–1343, doi:10.1002/ps.766.
- Cools, H.J.; Bayon, C.; Atkins, S.; Lucas, J.A.; Fraaije, B.A. Overexpression of the sterol 14α-demethylase gene (MgCYP51) in *Mycosphaerella graminicola* isolates confers a novel azole fungicide sensitivity phenotype. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* 2012, 68, 1034–1040, doi:10.1002/ps.3263.
- 72. Cools, H.J.; Fraaije, B.A. Update on mechanisms of azole resistance in *Mycosphaerella graminicola* and implications for future control. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* **2013**, *69*, 150–155, doi:10.1002/ps.3348.
- 73. Leroux, P.; Albertini, C.; Gautier, A.; Gredt, M.; Walker, A.-S. Mutations in the CYP51 gene correlated with changes in sensitivity to sterol 14 alpha-demethylation inhibitors in field isolates of *Mycosphaerella graminicola*. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* **2007**, *63*, 688–698, doi:10.1002/ps.1390.
- 74. Leroux, P.; Walker, A.-S. Multiple mechanisms account for resistance to sterol 14α-demethylation inhibitors in field isolates of *Mycosphaerella graminicola*. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* **2011**, *67*, 44–59, doi:10.1002/ps.2028.
- 75. Birr, T.; Hasler, M.; Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H. Temporal Changes in Sensitivity of *Zymoseptoria tritici* Field Populations to Different Fungicidal Modes of Action. *Agriculture* **2021**, *11*, 269, doi:10.3390/agriculture11030269.
- 76. Kildea, S.; Marten-Heick, T.; Grant, J.; Mehenni-Ciz, J.; Dooley, H. A combination of target-site alterations, overexpression and enhanced efflux activity contribute to reduced azole sensitivity present in the Irish *Zymoseptoria tritici* population. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.* **2019**, *154*, 529–540, doi:10.1007/s10658-019-01676-4.

- 77. Mäe, A.; Fillinger, S.; Sooväli, P.; Heick, T.M. Fungicide Sensitivity Shifting of *Zymoseptoria tritici* in the Finnish-Baltic Region and a Novel Insertion in the MFS1 Promoter. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2020, *11*, 385, doi:10.3389/fpls.2020.00385.
- Kildea, S.; Dooley, H.; Phelan, S.; Mehenni-Ciz, J.; Spink, J. Developing fungicide control programmes for blotch in Irish winter wheat crops. In *Modern fungicides and antifungal compounds VIII: Proceedings of the 18<sup>th</sup> International Reinhardsbrunn Symposium, April 24-28, 2016, Friedrichroda, Germany*; Deising, H.B., Fraaije, B.A., Mehl, A., Oerke, H., Sierotzki, H., Stammler G., Eds.; DPG Publisher: Braunschweig, Germany, 2017, ISBN 9783941261150.
- Strobel D.; Bryson R.; Roth J.; Stammler G. Field performance of DMI fungicides against *Zymoseptoria tritici* across Europe—Compromized by further sensitivity shift? In *Modern fungicides and antifungal compounds VIII: Proceedings of the 18<sup>th</sup> International Reinhardsbrunn Symposium, April* 24-28, 2016, Friedrichroda, Germany; Deising, H.B., Fraaije, B.A., Mehl, A., Oerke, H., Sierotzki, H., Stammler G., Eds.; DPG Publisher: Braunschweig, Germany, 2017, ISBN 9783941261150.
- Gisi, U.; Sierotzki, H.; Cook, A.; McCaffery, A. Mechanisms influencing the evolution of resistance to Qo inhibitor fungicides. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* 2002, 58, 859–867, doi:10.1002/ps.565.
- Lucas, J.A.; Fraaije, B.A. QoI resistance in *Mycosphaerella graminicola*: What have we learned so far? In Modern Fungicides and Antifungal Compounds. In *Modern fungicides and antifungal compounds V: Proceedings* of the 15<sup>th</sup> International Reinhardsbrunn Symposium, May 06-10, 2007, *Friedrichroda, Germany*, V; Dehne, H.-W., Deising, H.B., Gisi, U., Kuck, K.H., Russell, P.E., Lyr, H., Eds.; DPG Selbstverlag: Braunschweig, Germany, 2008; pp 71–78, ISBN 9783941261020.
- Schuh, W. Influence of Tillage Systems on Disease Intensity and Spatial Pattern of Septoria Leaf Blotch. *Phytopathology* **1990**, *80*, 1337, doi:10.1094/Phyto-80-1337.
- Gladders, P.; Paveley, N.D.; Barrie, I.A.; Hardwick, N.V.; HIMS, M.J.; Langdon, S.; Taylor, M.C. Agronomic and meteorological factors affecting the severity of leaf blotch caused by *Mycosphaerella graminicola* in commercial wheat crops in England. *Ann Applied Biology* 2001, 138, 301–311, doi:10.1111/j.1744-7348.2001.tb00115.x.
- McDonald, B.A.; Mundt, C.C. How Knowledge of Pathogen Population Biology Informs Management of Septoria Tritici Blotch. *Phytopathology* 2016, 106, 948–955, doi:10.1094/PHYTO-03-16-0131-RVW.

- 85. DWD. Nationaler Klimareport. Available online: https://www.dwd.de/DE/leistungen/nationalerklimareport/ download\_report.pdf;jsessionid=60483CC8697EDE4AEDD9275C20D45 4AE.live21072?\_\_blob=publicationFile&v=14 (accessed on 18 May 2022).
- Bebber, D.P.; Holmes, T.; Gurr, S.J. The global spread of crop pests and pathogens. *Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr.* 2014, 23, 1398–1407, doi:10.1111/geb.12214.
- 87. IPCC. Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Available online: https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/ (accessed on 24 May 2022).
- Hunjan, M.S.; Lore, J.S. Climate Change: Impact on Plant Pathogens, Diseases, and Their Management. In *Crop Protection Under Changing Climate*, 1<sup>st</sup> ed.; Springer Nature Switzerland AG, Ed.; Springer International Publishing: Cham, Switzerland, 2020; pp 85–100, ISBN 978-3-030-46110-2.
- 89. Ohm, H.W.; Shaner, G.E. Three Components of Slow Leaf-Rusting at Different Growth Stages in Wheat. *Phytopathology* **1976**, *66*, 1356, doi:10.1094/Phyto-66-1356.
- Sache, I.; Vallavieille-Pope, C. Comparison of the Wheat Brown and Yellow Rusts for Monocyclic Sporulation and Infection Processes, and their Polycyclic Consequences. *J. Phytopathol* **1993**, *138*, 55–65, doi:10.1111/j.1439-0434.1993.tb01360.x.
- Dachbrodt-Saaydeh, S.; Sellmann, J.; Strassemeyer, J.; Schwarz, J.; Klocke, B.; Krengel, S.; Kehlenbeck, H. Netz Vergleichsbetriebe Pflanzenschutz Zwei-Jahresbericht 2015 und 2016 - Analyse der Ergebnisse der Jahre 2007 bis 2016. In *Berichte aus dem Julius Kühn-Institut*, 194th ed.; Julius Kühn-Institut, Ed.; Saphir Verlag: Ribbesbüttel, Germany, 2018.
- 92. BVL. Absatz an Pflanzenschutzmitteln in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland Ergebnisse der Meldungen gemäß ş 64 das 2020. Available online: Pflanzenschutzgesetz für Jahr https://www.bvl.bund.de/SharedDocs/ Downloads/04\_Pflanzenschutzmittel/01\_meldungen\_par\_64/meld\_par

\_64\_2020.pdf?\_\_blob=publicationFile&v=5 (accessed on 24 May 2022).

# Chapter II



Agrar- und Ernährungswissenschaftliche Fakultät

#### Declaration of co-authorship

If a dissertation is based on already published or submitted co-authored articles, a declaration from each of the authors regarding the part of the work done by the doctoral candidate must be enclosed when submitting the dissertation.

1. Doctoral candidate

Name: Ketel Christian Prahl

2. This co-author declaration applies to the following article:

Efficiency an Effectivity of a Biological-Epidemiological Fungal Disease Management System in Wheat-A Study of 26 Years

The extent of the doctoral candidate's contribution to the article is assessed on the following scale:

- A. Has contributed to the work (0-33%)
- Β. Has made a substantial contribution (34-66%)
- C. Did the majority of the work independently (67-100%)

3. Declaration on the individual phases of the scientific work (A,B,C)		
Concept: Formulation of the basic scientific problem based on theoretical questions which require clarification, including a summary of the general questions which, it is assumed, will be answerable via analyses or concrete experiments/investigations	В	
Planning: Planning of experiments/analyses and formulation of investigative methodology, including choice of method and independent methodological development, in such a way that the scientific questions asked can be expected to be answered	В	
Execution: Involvement in the analysis or the concrete experiments/investigation		
Manuscript preparation: Presentation, interpretation and discussion of the results obtained in article form		

4. Signature of all co-authors		
Date 27.05.2022	<sup>Name</sup> Holger Klink	Signature
27.05.2022	Mario Hasler	h. nel
27.05.2022	Joseph-Alexander Verreet	f. A
27.05.2022	Tim Birr	14in pro

5. Signature of doctoral candidate		
Date	Name	Signature
27.05.2022	Ketel Christian Prahl	Verd lu. Sich

# CHAPTER

# DISEASE DYNAMICS OF SEPTORIA TRITICI BLOTCH IN A LONG TERM SURVEY OF 25 JEARS

The content of this chapter has already been peer-reviewed and published in: Prahl, K. C.; Klink, H.; Hasler, M.; Verreet, J.-A.; and Birr, T. Will Climate Change Affect the Disease Progression of Septoria Tritici Blotch in Northern Europe? Agronomy **2023**, 13(4), 1005. doi.org/10.3390/agronomy13041005

# Chapter III WILL CLIMATE CHANGE AFFECT THE DISEASE DYNAMICS OF SEPTORIA TRITICI BLOTCH IN NORTHERN EUROPE?

# 3.1 Abstract

Septoria tritici blotch (STB) caused by the fungus Zymoseptoria tritici Desm. is the most important disease of wheat in Northern Europe. There is strong correlation between STB and weather variables, therefore research on climate change and epidemiology is essential. In a long-term survey of 25 years, we evaluated the epidemiological development of STB at a representative location under maritime climatic conditions. Surveys conducted between 1996 to 2021 showed an increase in disease severity of STB with respect to time. At the survey location, plants were also evaluated for other diseases, but other foliar diseases were observed only with negligible severities. A continuous increase in the severity of STB was observed throughout the survey. During the survey period, there was not a significant relationship between disease severity and single weather parameters (e.g., temperature and precipitation). However, seasonal change in the progress of conducive STB conditions within the season were observed during the survey. Thereby, STB infections occurred at increased temperatures due to later infections during the growth season. In general, the distribution of conducive weather conditions, which supports an infection, determine the epidemiological behaviour of STB during the growing season. By enhanced STB epidemics a decline in wheat production has been observed, especially in agronomic practices of maritime climates. This is particularly the case if temperature and precipitation during the growing season are affected by climate change.

**Keywords**: STB, *Zymoseptoria tritici*, climate change, AUDPC, sustainable wheat production, global warming, *Triticum aestivum* L., disease severity, foliar disease, long-term survey

# 3.2 Introduction

Septoria tritici blotch (STB), caused by *Zymoseptoria tritici* Desm., is one of the most serious and yield-limiting foliar diseases in global wheat production. In Europe, STB is responsible for annual yield losses of 5 - 10% under current agricultural practices, representing an annual economic loss of approximately €1500 million in Germany alone [1]. STB is particularly prevalent in regions with temperate humid climates, such as the EPPO "maritime zone" [2], which includes northern Europe. As described by Klink et al [3], in addition to agronomic practices (e.g., crop rotation, cultivar selection, or tillage systems), the conducive weather conditions, such as continuous precipitation, moderate temperatures, and high humidity, determine the incidence, course, and severity of STB's epidemics. In particular, sufficient precipitation with prolonged leaf wetness is essential for a successful infection. Thereby, the precipitation transports the inoculum on higher leaf layers and the leaf wetness periods ensure the infection of the pathogen [4,5].

According to Miedaner and Juroszek [6], climate change, as described in the International Council of Climate Change (IPCC) Special Report (SR) [7] is threatening the wheat productivity in north-western Europe by warmer and drier conditions during the main growing season. The recently published Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) of the IPCC [8] shows that exceeding 1.5 °C global warming is possible by 2030. As a result, an increased and more intense rainfall events are expected by the IPCC. In general, the development of the global climate is a dynamic process with large regional variations [9]. According to the IPCC [9] the effects of climate change are an increase in mean temperature of 0.4 to 0.5 °C and an increase in daily precipitation of 0.1 L/m<sup>2</sup> per decade in northern Europe, which includes Northern Germany.

Since STB is highly influenced by weather conditions [10,11], climate change is expected to have an impact on disease development and severity. Analyses of epidemics of a specific pathogen are usually carried out in greenhouses under artificial conditions with controlled abiotic and biotic factors. Since, it is usually not possible to quantify the influence of biotic factors, especially associated pathogens, on the disease progression of pathogens on plants [12]. In this study, unique circumstances were observed. For instance, the only disease observed was STB at the surveyed period. This allowed us to analyse the disease progression of STB in the field, without the biotic influences of the usually associated diseases glume blotch (caused by *Parastagonospora nodorum* Berk.), tan-spot (caused by *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* Died.), powdery mildew (caused by *Blumeria graminis* f. sp. *tritici*), stripe rust (caused by *Puccinia*) *striiformis* f. sp. *tritici*), or leaf rust (caused by *Puccinia triticina*) as described by Verreet et al. [4].

The present study investigated (i) the development of STB in wheat at a representative location from 1996 to 2021, and (ii) the possible influence of climate change on the disease progression of STB in northern Germany. Over this period of 25 years, the progression of STB was continuously evaluated using samples from an identical reference location and a uniform cultivar. Due to the influence of the weather variables to STB, the parameters temperature, precipitation, and leaf wetness were assessed directly from the reference location and associated with the climate change.

# 3.3 Materials and Methods

# 3.3.1 Area Surveyed and Survey Strategy

Since 1996, evaluations of major foliar diseases were conducted in Germany's northernmost federal state, Schleswig-Holstein (54°38'01"'N; 08°52'08"E), proximal to the northern sea. The location is characterized by very fertile clay soils, high prevalence of wheat in crop rotations and is therefore one of the main producing areas in northern Germany [13]. Due to the proximity to the northern sea, maritime weather conditions with an average temperature of 9.2 °C, an annual precipitation of 846 L/m<sup>2</sup> and average humidity of 81% are prevailing at the trial location [14]. As described by Klink et al. [3] the foliar diseases powdery mildew, stripe rust, leaf rust, and STB are the prevalent foliar diseases in the surrounding region of the trial location. As a result of the continuous western winds, the disease powdery mildew was not observed at the trial location [15]. Additionally, Rust diseases were recorded sporadically the trial location and the only disease that was frequently recorded at the trial location was STB [3]. As a result of the climate conditions at trial site, disease pressure can be expected and is suitable for the evaluation of STB and weather variables in the field. Within the survey period, either winter wheat or oilseed rape preceded the evaluated winter wheat. According to the preceding crop the soil cultivation was reduced tillage when oilseed rape preceded or ploughing when wheat preceded. Throughout the survey period from 1996 to 2021, the cultivar "Ritmo" was analysed for foliar diseases in weekly intervals from growth stage (GS) 30 (begin of stem elongation) to 77 (late milk). The susceptibility of wheat cultivars to the major foliar wheat diseases is listed in the descriptive cultivar list by the Bundessortenamt, an independent senior federal authority under the supervision of the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture. The used cultivar "Ritmo" is classified as moderately to highly susceptible against STB. Additionally, it is classified as moderately susceptible against stripe rust, powdery mildew, tan spot, and glume blotch, and highly to very highly susceptible against leaf rust [16]. Klink et al. [3] described that glume blotch and tan spot do not occur under good agronomic practices. Accordingly, only STB occurred at the used location cultivar combination. In consequence, this combination is representative for the evaluation of STB's disease progression. In order to evaluate the development of STB at the location, four fungicide untreated plots were established every year. In the absence of fungicides, the untreated plots show the epidemiological disease behaviour. Every year plots were planted at 10 m<sup>2</sup> (2x5 m) and integrated in a farmer's field. Whereby, crop management as well as the application of herbicides, insecticides, and growth regulators was based on common agricultural practices, and was carried out comprehensively in cooperation with the Chamber of Agriculture of Schleswig-Holstein. To determine the weather conditions at the trial site, meteorological stations (Thies Clima, Göttingen, Germany) were installed at every trial location to measure precipitation (L/m<sup>2</sup>; measuring accuracy ± 3%), air temperature at 30 cm height (°C; measuring accuracy ± 0.1 K), and leaf wetness (%, measuring accuracy ± 3%) [5]. The assessed data was recorded in 15 second intervals and was given automatically as hourly values.

# 3.3.2 Sampling and Disease Assessment

Disease analyses was conducted from GS 30 to GS77 in weekly intervals. The samples contained at least ten main tillers and were taken arbitrarily from three separate plots. To assess disease incidence (DI) and disease severity (DS) the analyses followed an exact sequence corresponding to Verreet et al. [4]. Primarily the growth stage according to Zadoks et al. [17] was determined and simultaneously every leaf was rated at the main stem for disease incidence and percentage of necrotic leaf area and affected leaf area from the biotrophic foliar diseases. For the preceding steps, the leaves were then soaked in water to simulate leaf wetness, which leads to expanded pycnidia and ensures highest quality in rating. To assess the quantitative parameter for the disease severity, the pycnidia of STB were counted between eightfold to fiftyfold magnification for every single leaf. The result of the assessment is a DI and a DS from three plots with ten replicates per plot, resulting in an accurate DI and DS for each individual leaf layer. Additionally, notes such as rating date, and plot number were also recorded. The assessed epidemiological data was averaged for the leaf layers F-0 to F-6 separately after every weekly rating for each plot and stored in a SQL database.

# 3.3.3 Data Analyses

For data analyses and annual comparison of the disease severity, the area under disease progress curve (AF-x) of each leaf layer in every year was considered. This was calculated from the parameters necrotization and disease severity of STB from GS 30 to 77. For the estimation of the AF-x according to Madden et al. 2007 [18] the trapezoidal method has been used by discretizing the time variable and determining the average disease intensity between two neighbouring time points (Formula 1).

$$A_{F-x} = \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} \frac{(y_i + y_{i+1})}{2} (t_{i+1} - t_i)$$
(1)

AF-x = AUDPC of leaf layer F minus x; y = disease severity at rating date i,

t = rating date; k = number of neighbouring time intervals For comparison of the disease severities also a yield-directed comparison was performed, adjusting the AF-x to the weighted AUDPC (WAUDPC) by weighting disease severities separately for each leaf layer with the factors xF-0, XF-1, XF-2, XF-3, XF-4, XF-5, and XF-6, (e.g. XF-0 = 70% for F-0, XF-0 = 20% for the F-1 and xF-0 = 10% for the F-2 and xF-3 to xF-6 = 0%) (nominator Formula 2) [19,20]). The result of the WAUDPC calculation was challenging to classify. However, dividing the WAUDPC by the number of time points (k+1 in formula 2) yields the relative WAUDPC (RWAUDPC), showing disease severities in realistic quantities.

RWAUDPC = 
$$\frac{x_{F-0} A_{F-0} + \dots + x_{F-6} A_{F-6}}{k+1}$$
 (2)

AF-x = AUDPC of leaf layer F minus x, t = rating date; k = number of neighbouring time intervals; X = percentage of considered leaf layer

### 3.3.4 Statistical analyses

The statistical software R, Version 4.1.3 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria; 2022) [21] was used to evaluate the data. The data evaluation was based on linear regression models and corresponding analyses. The residuals of the models were all assumed to be normally distributed and to be homoscedastic. These assumptions are based on a graphical residual analysis.
### 3.4 Results

### 3.4.1 Occurrence of Foliar Diseases from 1996 to 2021

Disease severities were assessed for the major foliar diseases, namely Septoria tritici blotch, glume blotch, tan spot, powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust, from 1996 to 2021. As shown in Figure 6, except for STB, the severities of the foliar diseases averaged over every leaf layer remained on a minor level (RWAUDPC < 1). Only STB was rated with significant RWAUDPC's (xF-0 - x-6 -14%) with a total average of 55 pycnidia. In 1996, the lowest disease severities recorded had 8 pycnidia and in 2019 the highest disease severities were rated with 134 pycnidia. It is noticeable that in the first decade of the survey the disease severities of STB were above the total average in only two years. In contrast, in the last decade of the survey the disease severities were only two years below the total average (Table S 2).



**Figure 6.** Occurrence of the major foliar diseases averaged from 1996 to 2021 at the trial location. RWAUDPC (xF-0-x-6-14%) of Septoria tritici blotch and glume blotch as n-pycnidia. RWAUDPC (xF-0-x-6-14%) of tan spot, powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust as % affected leaf area from GS 30 to GS 77.

# 3.4.2 Prevailing Weather Conditions and Occurrence of Septoria tritici blotch

In Figure 7, the disease severity of STB is shown as RWAUDPC<sub>(xF-0-x-F-2=33%;xF-3-x-F-6=0%)</sub> of the three uppermost leaf layers, thereby, the disease severity varied around an average of 54 pycnidia from 1 pycnidia in 1999 and 2008 to 162 pycnidia in 2013. Noticeably was that the disease severity was consistently underneath the total average in the first half of the survey and over above the average in the second half of the survey period. Thus, a significant (p = 0.005) annual increase of 3.5 pycnidia from 1996 to 2021 with a  $R^2$  of 0.30 was observed. Concomitant to the disease severity of STB, the RWAUDPC from the necrotized leaf area increased significantly ( $p \le 0.05$ ) by 0.28% per year within the survey period from 1996 to 2021.

### Chapter III



**Figure 7.** RWAUDPC  $_{(xF-0-x,F-2=33\%,xF-3-xF-6=0\%)}$  of STB (n-pycnidia) of the observation period (GS 30 to GS 77) from the survey period at the trial location. Dotted lines describe the linear regression of disease severity.

Considering the uniformity of agronomic practices during the survey period, a superordinate factor must determine the disease severities of STB in the field. Due to the superior dependency of STB to prevailing weather conditions in a first step, the development of temperature and precipitation during the growth season (GS 30 to 77) were analysed for every year in the survey. Additionally, monocausal influences of temperature and precipitation on the disease severity were evaluated.

Figure 8 shows the prevailing weather conditions during the growth season from 1995 to 2021 in combination with the disease severities of STB. The mean annual temperature varied from 9.3 °C in 2015 to 13.8 in 2018 and an averaged 11.0 °C with a standard deviation of 0.9 °C. Furthermore, regression analyses of the temperature development did not show a linear trend. Nevertheless, an increase in variation of the annual temperature in the growth season from the linear trend was observed in the last decade of the survey. The evaluation of the relationship between the severity of STB and temperature showed with an  $R^2$  of 0.04 a minor correlation. The annual precipitation varied from 93 L/m<sup>2</sup> in 2000 to 302 L/m<sup>2</sup> with a standard deviation of 80 L/m<sup>2</sup> around a total average of 159 L/m<sup>2</sup> during the observation period (GS 32 to 77). In contrast to temperature, a slight non-significant (p = 0.47) linear trend of an annual increase of 1 L/m<sup>2</sup> was observed at the trial site. However, the linear regressions of precipitation and disease severity of STB showed an increase over the survey period, but the monocausal relationship between these two factors remained at a minor level ( $R^2 = 0.10$ ).

Hence, the increase in the disease severities cannot be adequately explained monocausal by either precipitation or temperature. According to Verreet et al [4] the leaf wetness by Weihofen, as a combination of several weather factors, is a major factor on the disease severity of STB. The correlation between total

hours of leaf wetness during the growth season and the disease severity of STB was also on a minor level ( $R^2 = 0.08$ ). As STB disease progression correlate with the single factor's temperature, precipitation, and total hours of leaf wetness only on a minor level, the detailed epidemiological development on every single leaf layer of STB within a growth season was evaluated.



**Figure 8.** Averaged temperature (°C; red line), total precipitation (L/m<sup>2</sup>; blue bars) of the observation period (GS 30 to GS 77) from the survey period at the trial location. Dotted lines describe the linear regression of temperature, and precipitation.

# 3.4.3 Case Study of Septoria Tritici Blotch

Since STB disease progression correlated with the single factors' temperature, precipitation, and total hours of leaf wetness only on a minor level, the detailed epidemiological development on every single leaf layer of STB within a growth season was evaluated. In Figure 9, the disease severity of STB is shown for two representative years of the survey, together with the individual STB disease severity for each leaf layer in combination with the necrotization of 2018 and 2019. As no other diseases were observed at the site in the years shown, the necrotization can be considered as directly dependent of STB infections and abiotic factors.

In general, the average temperature in 2018 was increased during the growing season compared to 2019 by 3.0 °C, with 16.2 °C and 13.2 °C, respectively. In contrast, the total precipitation increased by 82 L/m<sup>2</sup> in 2019 as compared to 2018 during the growing season, with 62 L/m<sup>2</sup>, and 144 L/m<sup>2</sup>, respectively. Furthermore, similar initial infestations were observed on the lower leaf layers (F-4 to F-6) in both years.

### Chapter III



Figure 9. Epidemiological development of STB (n-pycnidia; black area) on the seven uppermost leaf layers in combination with the necrotized leaf area (%; gold line) and prevailing weather conditions (temperature as red line; precipitation as blue bars; leaf wetness (%) as green area (duration of leaf wetness ≥ 98% are given in hours) as a function of the date and growth stage of the survey years (A) 2018 and (B) 2019.

As shown in Figure 9, STB epidemics have their origin on the lower leaf layers and infest higher leaf layers when conducive weather conditions occur. Thereby, conducive conditions are present, if a rainfall event of at least 3 L/m<sup>2</sup> transports the spores of STB on higher leaf layers. On higher leaf layers, spores will need leaf wetness of at least 98% for 36 hours for the infection process including germination, growth of infection hyphen with appressorium development, and stomatal leaf penetration) [4,5,22]. Generally, an initial

infestation of STB needs to be present at the location, and only visible leaf layers can be infected, if conducive conditions occur. In 2018, the 12th of May was the only day that conducive weather conditions for STB occurred at the trial site. Thereby, a plant GS of 31 was observed, thus the upper leaf layers (F-0 to F-2) were not completely developed and therefore not affected by STB after the latency period of approximately 28 days [4]. In particular, leaf layer F-3 was affected by this infection, as an increase in disease severity was observed 4 weeks after infection. In the absence of conducive conditions during the 2018 growing period, STB was not able to spread to the upper and yield relevant leaf layers. However, in 2019 colder and wetter weather persisted (Figure 9 B), four infection periods were observed, namely 29th of April (GS 32), 5th of May (GS 37), 10th of June (GS 65), and 19th of June (GS 71). Compared to 2018, plant development was advanced in 2019, therefore GS 32 was observed during the infectious conditions on the 29<sup>th</sup> of April. This resulted in an increase in disease severity after the latency period on leaf layers F-2 and a primary increase on F-1. The primary increase on leaf layer F-0 and the secondary increase on the leaf layer F-1 is a result of conducive conditions during the infection period at the 5<sup>th</sup> of May at a plant GS of 37. Consequently, the epidemiological development of STB within the growing season depends on the distribution of conducive conditions on the one hand, and plant growth stage (leaves of interest need to be appeared) on the other hand.

# 3.4.4 Conducive Conditions of Septoria Tritici Blotch During the Survery Period

Epidemics of STB depend on the occurrence of initial infestation at a location and the interaction of visible leaf layers and distribution of conducive conditions during the growing season. In Figure 10, the initial and final infestation are shown relative to the highest observed initial and final infestation of STB, together with conducive conditions for STB including a classified temperature and precipitation during the corresponding leaf wetness period. Additionally, relevant growth stage periods are shown for every year of the survey to classify the visible leaves. To assess the epidemiological behaviour of STB the absolute RWAUDPC (xF-0 - x-F-2 = 33%; xF-3 - x-F-6 = 0%) is shown for every day in the growing season. The initial infestations varied from 2.81 pycnidia in 1996, 151 pycnidia in 2020 and averaged 50 pycnidia. The final infestations varied from 27.8 pycnidia in 1996 to 552 pycnidia in 2019 and averaged 261 pycnidia. The increase in pycnidia during the growing season from GS 32 to 77 differed with an average of 211 pycnidia. Thereby, the lowest increase was observed in 2008 (12.3 pycnidia) and the highest increase in 2012 (507 pycnidia). Even if a significant (p < 0.05) correlation between initial and final infestation was observed, over 60% of the final infestation could not be explained by the initial infestation ( $R^2 = 0.36$ ; Figure 10 A). Considering the distribution of STB conducive conditions during the growing period the years 2008 and 2018 showed no infections between the GS 32 and GS 77. Thus, no significant increase in disease severities was observed during the growing season, even though the initial infestations were moderate with 32.5 in 2008 and 48.2 in 2018. In contrast, the years 2003 and 2013 also showed a low to moderate initial infestation with 7.86 and 62 pycnidia, respectively, but a major increase in disease severity of 330 in 2003 and 467 pycnidia in 2013.

Figure 10 B shows temperature and precipitation within 24 - 35, 36 - 47, and  $\geq$ 48-hour periods of leaf wetness  $\geq$  98%. Over the 25 years survey, 94 STB infection periods were observed in the month of May, June, and July, which corresponds to an average of 3.76 infection conditions per year. Only in 1996 was a period of more than 24 hours and less than 36 hours observed in the three-month shown. In contrast, periods with 36 hours of leaf wetness  $\ge 98\%$ were observed 25 times (1.48 periods per year) and periods with more than 48 hours of leaf wetness  $\geq$  98% occurred 56 times (2.24 periods per year). In May 52 periods were observed, 36 periods in June, and 3 periods in July. Over the years, the number of infectious periods in May were consistent, whereas the number of infectious periods of STB in June increased from 1996 to 2021. The regression analysis showed a non-significant (p = 0.65) annual increase of 0.03 infections (y = 0.031x + 3.24). This was primary based on the non-significant (p = 0.15) increase of infections in June (y = 0.044x + 0.86), whereby the infections in May remained on a constant level (y = 0.009x + 1.96). Furthermore, in 1998, 2008, and 2018, no periods with leaf wetness  $\geq$  98% of more than 24, 36, and 48 hours were observed within growth stages 32 and 77, and apparently STB did not occur on the three uppermost leaf layers. The relationship between the severity of STB on the three uppermost leaf layers and the number of infection periods is at a minor level with an  $R^2$  of 0.18.

In Figure 10 C the course of the total disease severity during the annual growing seasons of the three uppermost leaf layers is shown in n-pycnidia. Thereby, the STB disease severities increased after conducive conditions, if the observed leaf layers were visible (GS > 32). From 1996 to 2021, the required duration of leaf wetness for a successful infection with a concomitant increase in disease severity following decreased from 48 hours to 36 hours.

### Chapter III



**Figure 10.** (**A**) Initial (Ini.) infestation and final (Fin.) infestation of STB at the trial location of every year of the survey. (**B**) Temperature (red) and precipitation (blue) during leaf wetness periods over 24 hours (light), 36 hours (medium), and 48 hours (solid) in four categories (Temperature <5 °C, 5-10 °C, 10-15 °C, 15-20 °C; precipitation <4 L/m<sup>2</sup>; 4-8 L/m<sup>2</sup>; 8-12 L/m<sup>2</sup>; 12-16 L/m<sup>2</sup>; 16-20 L/m<sup>2</sup>), and (**C**)disease severities of STB (grey area) in combination with plant growth stages from the month May, June, and July.

In particular, two infections occurred in 2000, the first at the 28<sup>th</sup> of May with a leaf wetness duration of more than 36 and less than 48 hours and one at the 8<sup>th</sup> of June with a duration of more than 48 hours, but an increase in disease severity was only observed after the second (longer) infection. In 2020, two infections also occurred at the location. The first was on the 7<sup>th</sup> of June with a leaf wetness duration of more than 48 hours and the second was on the 26<sup>th</sup> of June with a duration of more than 36 hours. In contrast to 2000, both infections showed an increase in disease severity.



**Figure 11.** Averaged temperature (°C; red dots) and total precipitation (L/m<sup>2</sup>; blue dots) during the annual infection periods and estimated temperature (red line) and precipitation (blue line) of the regression analysis.

As conducive conditions shifted to later seasonal dates, it can be assumed that the corresponding temperature during the infection period increases by the seasonal change. At the observed location the multiannual temperature average from 1991 to 2020 was 3.1 °C higher in June (15.3 °C) as in May (12.1 °C). Considering the weather conditions during the infection, as shown in Figure 10 B, an increase in temperature was observed during the survey period. Regression analyses showed an estimated total increase during infection period of 1.2 °C from 1996 to 2021 (Figure 11). This equates to an annual temperature increase over the survey period of 0.1 °C. In contrast to temperature, the regression analysis showed an estimated seasonal decrease in precipitation during the infection periods of 3 L/m<sup>2</sup>, which equates to an annual decrease of 0.1 L/m<sup>2</sup> from 1996 to 2021. Compared to the temperature, a significant increase in variation of the precipitation during the infection periods was observed during the survey.

# 3.5 Discussion

Septoria tritici blotch (STB) is one of the most important foliar diseases in global wheat production and is responsible for yield losses in all growing areas, particularly in maritime climates [1,3,10,23]. The occurrence of associated foliar diseases complicates the assessment of the progression of a single disease in the field [12,24,25]. In our field study, STB was the only disease observed at the trials site. Based on epidemiological data, the trial location was well suited to assess the influence of climate change on the disease progression of STB. This was particularly due to the consistent epidemics of STB at the trial location and the absence of other foliar diseases. In our study, there was a significant increase in the severity of STB during the survey period at the representative trial location.

A possible explanation for the increased disease pressure of STB is that the pathogen has potentially adapted to the cultivar selected, as described by McDonald and Mundt [26]. In contrast, Prahl et al. [27] showed in a comparable study with two different susceptible cultivars, "Ritmo" (moderate to highly susceptible) and "RGT Reform" (moderately susceptible), that high disease severities were also observed in the less susceptible cultivar "RGT Reform". In addition, the used cultivar "Ritmo" has become less important in the agronomic practices of the trial area during the long-term survey, so that "Ritmo" was barely grown in the region during the last decade of the survey. An adaptation of the pathogen to the cultivar "Ritmo" is a possible explanation for the increased disease severity during the survey period but does not explain the intensity of the STB progression during the survey.

A similar study using epidemiological data conducted by Volk et al. [28], predicts an increase in disease severity of STB in Western Germany by 2050, by using the empiric-statistical method "WettReg" (based on SRES-Scenario A1B). In contrast, a study by Goucahe et al [29] predicts a decrease in the disease severity of STB by 2-6% in France. A significant uncertainty in the predicted development was mentioned, in particular the probability of STB disease severity increasing rather than decreasing was 45% for the coastal location of the study.

Although the correlation between the disease severity and the weather parameters temperature, precipitation, and leaf wetness ( $R^2 = 0.19$ ,  $R^2 = 0.31$ ,  $R^2 = 0.28$ , respectively) was on a minor level, an influence of the prevailing weather condition was observed. As shown in the case study, precipitation

with prolonged leaf wetness is essential for a successful infection (germination, growth of infection hyphae with appressorium development, stomatal leaf penetration). Thereby 3 L/m<sup>2</sup> of precipitation are sufficient to transport the inoculum and a 36-hour period of leaf wetness are sufficient to complete the infection. An increase in precipitation above  $3 \text{ L/m}^2$ , or an extension of the leaf wetness period, is not determining the expression of the corresponding infection [22]. The prevailing temperature, as it is not under 6.0 °C, is not involved in the success of the infection, but determines the expression of the respective infection [11,30,31]. As shown by Henze et al. [5], a direct influence of temperature, precipitation, and leaf wetness on the disease development was confirmed in northern Germany. Chungu et al [11] also showed a direct influence of the prevailing temperature on the development of STB in Manitoba, Canada. The influence of the prevailing climatic conditions was also confirmed by the change in the requirement for successful infection. As it was shown, in the first half of the study a leaf wetness  $\ge$  98% with a duration of  $\ge$ 48 h was necessary for a successful infection with a subsequent increase in disease severity [4,32]. Whereas, in the second half of the study a reduced period of leaf wetness  $\ge 98\%$  with a duration of 36 - 48 h was necessary for a successful infection [5]. However, a seasonal extension in conducive STB conditions from May to June was investigated at the trial site. Thereby, an increase in conducive conditions of STB was observed for the entire growing season and in particular for the month June. This seasonal extension explains the increase in infestation during the survey period, as the average temperature in June (15.3 °C) was 3.1 °C higher than in May (12.1 °C) [14]. Beyer et al. [33] showed that increasing temperatures shortened the latency period between infection and epidemic outbreak. Shorter latency periods ensure that new STB pycnidia develop more quickly. Under increased temperatures, a stronger and faster epidemiological disease dynamic of STB can be expected. Even though climate change has so far only had a marginal influence on the temperature in the growth period, the seasonal expansion (periods of high precipitation in later months) has led to an increased temperature at the time of infection. Consequently, later STB infections occurred under warmer conditions with an increased epidemiological potential [31,34,35].

According to the IPCC special report (SR) [7] the global temperature increases since 1881 has been about 1.0 °C, with regional temperature changes differing from the global average. In Germany, the increase has been about 1.5 °C [36], due to higher temperatures after the year 2000. Climate change simulations suggest that this trend will continue, even without the projected reductions in

greenhouse gas emissions. Jacob et al. [37] simulated an increase in air temperature (based on the period 1971 to 2000) in Europe of 1.0 to 4.5 °C by the end of this century under the IPCC Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) 4.5 scenario [38], or 2.5 to 5.5 °C under the RCP 8.5 scenario. In contrast, the temperature of the coastal regions of Germany, the Netherlands, and France will be less affected by the climate change. The German National Meteorological Service (Deutscher Wetterdienst) predicted a regional temperature increase of 0.2 to 0.5 °C from 2021 to 2031 based on average temperatures from 1991 to 2020 [39]. Contrary to the predictions, no direct temperature increase was observed during the 25 -year survey period. According to the IPCC SR [7] a general increase in the risk of weather phenomena (e.g., heat waves, droughts) has been predicted, which is consistent with our results in the form of an increased variance of the measured temperature during the survey period at the trial site. As shown in our study, the initial infestation is of minor importance for the epidemiological development of STB. Consequently, it is not only the regionality of the climate, but rather the seasonality of the climate that is of major interest. In particular, the climate of the spring season (April to June) determines the epidemiological behaviour of STB [1,40,41]. Consistent with our results, seasonal and regional simulations, showed an increase in precipitation during the spring season in northern Europe [42–44]. In contrast, the same simulations also predicted an increase in temperature, which was not observed in our study. In conclusion, there is an influence of climate change on the disease progression of STB. Furthermore, if temperature and precipitation follow the trend shown, an increase in the severity of STB can be expected.

Assuming that epidemics of other diseases occur at this location, interactions between the occurring foliar diseases are possible, as described by Jesus Junior et al. [12]. As shown by Klink et al. [3] leaf rust competed primarily with STB in a long-term survey in a similar region. However, leaf rust was not recorded consistently from year to year. As described by Garin et al. [24], leaf rust and STB compete for the same leaf area, with STB inhibiting leaf rust development, but leaf rust not inhibiting STB development under current weather conditions. By shortening the rust latency period (e.g., by increased temperatures) leaf rust was more competitive. Furthermore, a strongly reduced growth rate of STB was observed when the temperature exceeded 25 °C under laboratory conditions [31]. In contrast, Klöhn [22] was able to show that increasing temperatures correlated linearly with the leaf wetness duration required for a successful infection by STB. However, the seasonal

mean temperatures in northern Europe are significantly lower than those described by Chaloner [31] and Klöhn [22], and it is therefore expected that STB remains the most dominant disease in northern Europe under maritime conditions.

Fungal disease management in wheat is mainly based on fungicides, which are primarily used to control STB. Consequently, it can be expected, that the amount of fungicides needed for a proper disease management in wheat will increase as STB disease pressure increases in the future, and if current practices are maintained [27]. In addition, Birr et al. [45] and Klink et al. [46] observed a shift in the sensitivity of STB to most of the available fungicides from 1999 to 2020. The increased disease pressure and the reduced sensitivity to fungicides threaten future yields of wheat production. In the European Union, pesticides are of growing concern of the general public. Due to the public concern, the EU is trying to reduce the amount of pesticides used through regulations such as the reduction of authorised active substances by the ever-expanding list of candidates for substitution [47].

Additionally, the EUs plan 'Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on the sustainable use of plant protection products and amending Regulation (EU) 2021/2115' envisions a 50% reduction in total pesticide sales by 2030 [48]. Taking into account the aforementioned increase in STB disease pressure and reduced fungicide sensitivity, combined with European Union regulations, yield losses due to STB in common practice can be expected to increase beyond the 5-10% of Fones and Gurr [1]. In conclusion, this will lead to a greater reliance on genetic resistance in wheat cultivars. Although several resistance genes are currently known [49,50], resistant individual wheat cultivars with sufficient yield are currently unavailable. The durability of the resistant cultivars is also questionable, especially if the disease pressure increases [51]. An interesting approach is to use a mixture of cultivars to extend the lifetime of resistance sources due to heterogeneity [52,53]. In general, appropriate agronomic production techniques, such as proper crop rotation, tillage systems, or cultivars, will not suppress STB sufficiently.

In summary, the disease severity at the location increased significantly at the representative location. Thereby the prevailing weather conditions, in particular temperature and precipitation, changed within the survey period. Thereby, a seasonal expansion of infectious periods to advanced dates of the growing season was observed. Consequently, the infections occurred under higher temperatures, which might have led to the increased disease progression.

# 3.6 Conclusions

The sustainable production of wheat, the most important crop in the EU, is primary threatened by foliar diseases, and especially by Septoria tritici blotch (STB). During the 25-year survey period, a significant increase in STB disease severity was observed at a unique location without accompanying diseases in a maritime climate. The epidemiological development of STB is highly dependent on conducive weather conditions during the growing season. In particular, a seasonal expansion of STB conducive weather conditions during the critical growing season from May to June was observed. Due to the higher temperatures and constant precipitation in the advanced growing season, an enhanced disease dynamic of STB was observed from 1996 to 2021. As STB disease progression is highly dependent on the prevailing weather conditions, changes in climate, e.g., global warming, has major impact on the disease progression of STB. In particular climate change can influence the disease dynamic of STB, if spring temperatures and precipitation will increase as predicted by several climate simulations. Under this assumption, STB will become a bigger issue as it already is and the control of STB will be the major challenge for agronomic practices in maritime climates. Thereby, the use of integrated approaches for disease management are effective, as the disease pressure is evenly distributed across all agronomic practices, including the proper use of pesticides.

### 3.7 References

- 1. Fones, H.; Gurr, S.J. The impact of Septoria tritici Blotch disease on wheat: An EU perspective. *Fungal Genet. Biol.* **2015**, *79*, 3–7, doi:10.1016/j.fgb.2015.04.004.
- 2. Bouma, E. Development of comparable agro-climatic zones for the international exchange of data on the efficacy and crop safety of plant protection products. *Bull. OEPP* **2005**, *35*, 233–238, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2338.2005.00830.x.
- Klink, H.; Prahl, K.C.; Hasler, M.; Verreet, J.-A.; Birr, T. Efficiency and Effectivity of a Biological–Epidemiological Fungal Disease Management System in Wheat—A Study of 26 Years. *Agriculture* 2022, *12*, 1099, doi:10.3390/agriculture12081099.
- Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H.; Hoffmann, G.M. Regional Monitoring for Disease Prediction and Optimization of Plant Protection Measuares: The IPM Wheat Model. *Plant Dis.* 2000, 84, 816–826, doi:10.1094/PDIS.2000.84.8.816.
- Henze, M.; Beyer, M.; Klink, H.; Verreet, J.-A. Characterizing Meteorological Scenarios Favorable for Septoria tritici Infections in Wheat and Estimation of Latent Periods. *Plant Dis.* 2007, *91*, 1445–1449, doi:10.1094/PDIS-91-11-1445.
- 6. Miedaner, T.; Juroszek, P. Climate change will influence disease resistance breeding in wheat in Northwestern Europe. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* **2021**, *134*, 1771–1785, doi:10.1007/s00122-021-03807-0.
- 7. IPCC. Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, 2018.
- 8. IPCC. Summary for Policymakers. In *Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change;* IPCC, Ed.; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK and New York, USA, 2022.
- 9. IPCC. Summary for Policymakers. In *Climate Change* 2021: *The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change;* IPCC, Ed.; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK and New York, USA.
- 10. Goodwin, S.B. Diseases affecting wheat: Septoria tritici blotch. In Integrated Disease Management of Wheat and Barley; Oliver, R., Ed.;

Burleigh Dodds Science Publishing: Cambridge, UK, 2019; pp 47–68, ISBN 9781786762160.

- Chungu, C.; Gilbert, J.; Townley-Smith, F. Septoria tritici Blotch Development as Affected by Temperature, Duration of Leaf Wetness, Inoculum Concentration, and Host. *Plant Dis.* 2001, *85*, 430–435, doi:10.1094/PDIS.2001.85.4.430.
- 12. Jesus Junior, W.C.; Paula Júnior, T.J.; Lehner, M.S.; Hau, B. Interactions between foliar diseases: concepts and epidemiological approaches. *Trop. Plant Pathol.* **2014**, *39*, 1–18, doi:10.1590/S1982-56762014000100002.
- 13. Statistisches Amt für Hamburg und Schleswig-Holstein. Kreisergebnisse Schleswig-Holstein 2020 – endgültiges Ergebnis der Landwirtschaftszählung 2020 –: Kennziffer: C IV - LZ 2020 SH, SK Sonderbericht Kreisdaten, 2021.
- 14. DWD Climate Data Center. Vieljährige Stationsmittelwerte für die Klimareferenzperiode 1991-2020, für aktuellen Standort und Bezugsstandort. Available online: https://www.dwd.de/DE/leistungen/klimadatendeutschland/vielj\_mittelwerte.html (accessed on 18 May 2021).
- Hamer, W.B.; Birr, T.; Verreet, J.-A.; Duttmann, R.; Klink, H. Spatio-Temporal Prediction of the Epidemic Spread of Dangerous Pathogens Using Machine Learning Methods. *Int. J. Geo-Inf.* 2020, *9*, 44, doi:10.3390/ijgj9010044.
- 16. Bundessortenamt. *Beschreibende Sortenliste Getreide, Mais, Ölfrüchte, Leguminosen (großkörnig), Hackfrüchte (außer Kartoffeln) 2007; Deutscher Landwirtschaftsverlag: Hannover, Germany, 2007, ISBN 0948-4167.*
- 17. Zadoks, J.C.; Chang, T.T.; Konzak, C.F. A decimal code for the growth stages of cereals. *Weed Res.* **1974**, *14*, 415–421.
- The Study of Plant Disease Epidemics; Madden, L.V.; Hughes, G.; van den Bosch, F., Eds.; The American Phytopathological Society: St. Paul, MN, USA, 2017, ISBN 978-0-89054-505-8.
- 19. Avci Birsin, M. Effects of Removal of Some Photosynthetic Structures on Some Yield Components in Wheat. *Tarim Bilim. Derg.* 2005, *11*, 1, doi:10.1501/Tarimbil\_000000559.
- 20. Mahmood, A.; Alam, K.; Salam, A.; Iqbal, S. Effect of flag leaf removal on grain yield, its components and quality of hexaploid wheat. *Cereal Res. Commun.* **1991**, 305–310.
- 21. R Core Team. *R: A language and environment for statistical computing.* Statistical Computing; R Foundation: Vienna, Austria, 2022.
- 22. Klöhn, H. Populationsgenetische Erhebungen von Weizenpathogenen zur Entwicklung eines lernfähigen, telemetriefähigen Gerätesystems zur

*Pflanzenschutzoptimierung anhand des Modellpathogens Septoria tritici.* PhD Thesis; Christian-Albrechts-Universiät: Kiel, Germany, 2011.

- 23. Ponomarenko, A.; Goodwin, S.B.; Kema, K. Septoria tritici blotch (STB) of wheat. *Plant Health Instr.* **2011**, doi:10.1094/PHI-I-2011-0407-01.
- 24. Garin, G.; Pradal, C.; Fournier, C.; Claessen, D.; Houlès, V.; Robert, C. Modelling interaction dynamics between two foliar pathogens in wheat: a multi-scale approach. *Ann. Bot.* **2018**, *121*, 927–940, doi:10.1093/aob/mcx186.
- Willocquet, L.; Aubertot, J.N.; Lebard, S.; Robert, C.; Lannou, C.; Savary, S. Simulating multiple pest damage in varying winter wheat production situations. *Field Crops Res.* 2008, 107, 12–28, doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2007.12.013.
- McDonald, B.A.; Mundt, C.C. How Knowledge of Pathogen Population Biology Informs Management of Septoria Tritici Blotch. *Phytopathology* 2016, 106, 948–955, doi:10.1094/PHYTO-03-16-0131-RVW.
- Prahl, K.C.; Klink, H.; Hasler, M.; Hagen, S.; Verreet, J.-A.; Birr, T. Can Decision Support Systems Help Improve the Sustainable Use of Fungicides in Wheat? *Sustainability* 2022, 14, 15599, doi:10.3390/su142315599.
- Volk, T.; Epke, K.; Gerstner, V.; Leuthner, C.; Rotterdam, A.; Johnen, A.; von Richthofen, S. Klimawandel in Nordrhein-Westfalen – Auswirkungen auf Schädlinge und Pilzkrankheiten wichtiger Ackerbaukulturen. Available online: https://www.lanuv.nrw.de/fileadmin/lanuv/klimaanpassung/dokumen te/bericht\_

klimawandel\_schaedlinge.pdf (accessed on 28 January 2023).

- Gouache, D.; Bensadoun, A.; Brun, F.; Pagé, C.; Makowski, D.; Wallach, D. Modelling climate change impact on Septoria tritici blotch (STB) in France: Accounting for climate model and disease model uncertainty. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 2013, 170, 242–252, doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2012.04.019.
- 30. Lovell, D.J.; Hunter, T.; Powers, S.J.; Parker, S.R.; van den Bosch, F. Effect of temperature on latent period of septoria leaf blotch on winter wheat under outdoor conditions. *Plant Pathol.* **2004**, *53*, 170–181, doi:10.1111/j.0032-0862.2004.00983.x.
- Chaloner, T.M.; Fones, H.N.; Varma, V.; Bebber, D.P.; Gurr, S.J. A new mechanistic model of weather-dependent Septoria tritici blotch disease risk. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond., B, Biol. Sci.* 2019, 374, 20180266, doi:10.1098/rstb.2018.0266.
- 32. Klink, H. Geoepidemiologische Erhebungen von Weizenpathogenen in Schleswig-Holstein unter Anwendung und Entwicklung des Integrierten

Pflanzenschutzsystems (IPS-Modell Weizen) für einen minimierten, bedarfsgerechten Fungizideinsatz (1993 – 1996): PhD Thesis; Christian-Albrechts-Universität: Kiel, Germany, 1997.

- 33. Beyer, M.; Pallez-Barthel, M.; Dam, D.; Hoffmann, L.; El Jarroudi, M. Enhancing septoria leaf blotch forecasts in winter wheat I: the effect of temperature on the temporal distance between critical rainfall periods and the breaking of the control threshold. *J. Plant. Dis. Prot.* **2022**, *129*, 37–44, doi:10.1007/s41348-021-00553-9.
- 34. Magboul, A.M. Environmental Influence on the Infection of Wheat by *Mycosphaerella graminicola*. *Phytopathology* **1992**, *82*, 1407, doi:10.1094/Phyto-82-1407.
- Beyer, M.; Marozsak, B.; Dam, D.; Parisot, O.; Pallez-Barthel, M.; Hoffmann, L. Enhancing septoria leaf blotch forecasts in winter wheat II: model architecture and validation results. *J. Plant. Dis. Prot.* 2022, *129*, 45–51, doi:10.1007/s41348-021-00554-8.
- 36. DWD Deutscher Wetterdienst. Time series and trends for the parameters Temperature, precipitation, sunshine duration and various climate indices. Available online: https://www.dwd.de/EN/ourservices/ zeitreihen/zeitreihen.html?nn=24778 (accessed on 28 January 2023).
- Jacob, D.; Petersen, J.; Eggert, B.; Alias, A.; Christensen, O.B.; Bouwer, L.M.; Braun, A.; Colette, A.; Déqué, M.; Georgievski, G.; et al. EURO-CORDEX: new high-resolution climate change projections for European impact research. *Reg. Environ. Change.* 2014, 14, 563–578, doi:10.1007/s10113-013-0499-2.
- 38. IPCC. Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change; World Meteorological Organization (WMO): Geneva, Switzerland, 2014, ISBN 978-92-9169-143-2.
- 39. DWD Deutscher Wetterdienst. Klimavorhersagen der nächsten Wochen bis Jahre. Available online: Klimavorhersagen der nächsten Wochen bis Jahre (accessed on 2 February 2023).
- 40. Gladders, P.; Paveley, N.D.; Barrie, I.A.; Hardwick, N.V.; HIMS, M.J.; Langdon, S.; Taylor, M.C. Agronomic and meteorological factors affecting the severity of leaf blotch caused by *Mycosphaerella graminicola* in commercial wheat crops in England. *Ann. Applied. Biol.* **2001**, *138*, 301– 311, doi:10.1111/j.1744-7348.2001.tb00115.x.
- Pietravalle, S.; Shaw, M.W.; Parker, S.R.; van den Bosch, F. Modeling of Relationships Between Weather and Septoria tritici Epidemics on Winter Wheat: A Critical Approach. *Phytopathology* 2003, *93*, 1329–1339, doi:10.1094/PHYTO.2003.93.10.1329.

- Iturbide, M.; Fernández, J.; Guitérrez, J.M.; Bedia, J.; Cimadevilla, E.; Díez-Sierra, J.; Manzanas, R.; Casanueva, A.; Baño-Medina, J.; Milovac, J.; et al. Repository supporting the implementation of FAIR principles in the IPCC-WGI Atlas. *Sci.Data* 2022, 629, doi:10.1038/s41597-022-01739-y.
- 43. Guitérrez, J.M.; Jones, R.G.; Narisma, G.T.; Alves, L.M.; Amjad, M.; Gorodetskaya, I.V.; Grose, M.; Klutse, N.; Krakovska, S.; Li, J.; et al. Atlas. In Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change; IPCC, Ed.; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK and New York, USA.
- Fealy, R.; Bruyère, C.; Duffy, C. Regional climate model simulations for Ireland for the 21<sup>st</sup> century: (2011-CCRP-MS-2.2), Online version; Environmental Protection Agency: Johnstown Castle, Co. Wexford, Ireland, 2018, ISBN 978-1-84095-770-9.
- 45. Birr, T.; Hasler, M.; Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H. Temporal Changes in Sensitivity of *Zymoseptoria tritici* Field Populations to Different Fungicidal Modes of Action. *Agriculture* **2021**, *11*, 269, doi:10.3390/agriculture11030269.
- Klink, H.; Verreet, J.-A.; Hasler, M.; Birr, T. Will Triazoles Still Be of Importance in Disease Control of *Zymoseptoria tritici* in the Future? *Agronomy* 2021, *11*, 933, doi:10.3390/agronomy11050933.
- European Parliament. Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2015/408 of 11 March 2015 on implementing Article 80(7) of Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council concerning the placing of plant protection products on the market and establishing a list of candidates for substitution. *Off. J. Eur. Union* 2015, 18–22.
- 48. European Commission; Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety. Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on the sustainable use of plant protection products and amending Regulation (EU) 2021/2115. *Off. J. Eur. Union* **2022**, 2022, 1–71.
- 49. Tidd, H.; Rudd, J.J.; Ray, R.V.; Bryant, R.; Kanyuka, K. A large bioassay identifies Stb resistance genes that provide broad resistance against Septoria tritici blotch disease in the UK. *Front. Plant Sci.* **2022**, *13*, 1070986, doi:10.3389/fpls.2022.1070986.
- Saintenac, C.; Lee, W.-S.; Cambon, F.; Rudd, J.J.; King, R.C.; Marande, W.; Powers, S.J.; Bergès, H.; Phillips, A.L.; Uauy, C.; et al. Wheat receptor-kinase-like protein Stb6 controls gene-for-gene resistance to fungal pathogen *Zymoseptoria tritici*. *Nat. Genet.* **2018**, *50*, 368–374, doi:10.1038/s41588-018-0051-x.

- Stam, R.; McDonald, B.A. When resistance gene pyramids are not durable-the role of pathogen diversity. *Mol. Plant. Pathol.* 2018, 19, 521– 524, doi:10.1111/mpp.12636.
- Orellana-Torrejon, C.; Vidal, T.; Saint-Jean, S.; Suffert, F. The impact of wheat cultivar mixtures on virulence dynamics in Zymoseptoria tritici populations persists after interseason sexual reproduction. *Plant Pathol.* 2022, *71*, 1537–1549, doi:10.1111/ppa.13577.
- Orellana-Torrejon, C.; Vidal, T.; Boixel, A.-L.; Gélisse, S.; Saint-Jean, S.; Suffert, F. Annual dynamics of Zymoseptoria tritici populations in wheat cultivar mixtures: A compromise between the efficacy and durability of a recently broken-down resistance gene? *Plant Pathol.* 2022, *71*, 289–303, doi:10.1111/ppa.13458.

### Chapter III



Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel

Agrar- und Ernährungswissenschaftliche Fakultät

#### Declaration of co-authorship

If a dissertation is based on already published or submitted co-authored articles, a declaration from each of the authors regarding the part of the work done by the doctoral candidate must be enclosed when submitting the dissertation.

1. Doctoral candidate

Name: Ketel Christian Prahl

### 2. This co-author declaration applies to the following article:

Will Climate Change Affect the Disease Progression of Septoria Tritici Blotch in Northern Europe?

The extent of the doctoral candidate's contribution to the article is assessed on the following scale:

- A. Has contributed to the work (0-33%)
- B. Has made a substantial contribution (34-66%)
- C. Did the majority of the work independently (67-100%)

3. Declaration on the individual phases of the scientific work (A,B,C)	Extent
<b>Concept:</b> Formulation of the basic scientific problem based on theoretical questions which require clarification, including a summary of the general questions which, it is assumed, will be answerable via analyses or concrete experiments/investigations	С
Planning: Planning of experiments/analyses and formulation of investigative methodology, including choice of method and independent methodological development, in such a way that the scientific questions asked can be expected to be answered	В
Execution: Involvement in the analysis or the concrete experiments/investigation	С
Manuscript preparation: Presentation, interpretation and discussion of the results obtained in article form	С

4. Signature of all co-authors				
Date 10.03.2023	Name PD. Dr. Holger Klink	Signature	4	
10.03.2023	Prof. Dr. Mario Hasler	h. Mult		
10.03.2023	Prof. Dr. JA. Verreet	dp/ D		
10.03.2023	Dr. Tim Birr	This Ban		

octoral candidate	
Name	Signature
Ketel Christian Prahl	KI KI III I I MARKAN
	Name Ketel Christian Prahl

# ${\rm Chapter} IV$

# CAN DECISION SUPPORT SYSTEMS HELP IMPROVE THE SUSTAINABLE USE OF FUNGICIDES IN WHEAT?

The content of this chapter has already been peer-reviewed and published in: Prahl, K.C.; Klink, H.; Hasler, M.; Hagen, S.; Verreet, J.-A.; and Birr, T. Can Decision Support Systems Help Improve the Sustainable Use of Fungicides in Wheat? Sustainability 2022, 14, 15599. doi: 10.3390/su142315599

# Chapter IV CAN DECISION SUPPORT SYSTEMS HELP IMPROVE THE SUSTAINABLE USE OF FUNGICIDES IN WHEAT?

# 4.1 Abstract

Wheat is one of the most economically important field crops worldwide. Foliar diseases are a major threat to wheat productivity and are primarily managed by implementing less susceptible cultivars and using fungicides. With the "Farm to Fork" strategy under consideration by the European Union to reduce pesticide usage by 50% by 2030, this elucidates the importance of utilizing decision support systems (DSS) to optimize fungicide applications. Therefore, three DSSs of different origins, namely the IPM-Wheat Model Schleswig-Holstein (scientific), the ISIP system (federal), and the xarvio<sup>©</sup> FIELD MANAGER (commercial), were analysed under maritime climate conditions at three locations in a high input area of wheat cultivation in northern Germany from 2019 to 2021. Fungicide efficacy was evaluated for yield as well as for the management of prevalent pathogens (Septoria tritici blotch, glume blotch, tan spot, powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust) on two different commercially available cultivars (highly and moderately susceptible). Compared to a stage-oriented standard system, no significant decrease in yield was observed in both cultivars, despite up to a 50% reduction in fungicide use through the use of DSSs. This was attributed to an optimized timing of fungicide applications, which resulted in slightly lower but still tolerable disease suppression efficacy compared to the stage-oriented system. In conclusion, minor disease severities are often overestimated, and DSSs can help improve the sustainability of fungicide use in wheat and pesticides in general.

**Keywords**: foliar diseases; disease severity; Integrated Pest Management (IPM); DSS; efficacy, biological–epidemiological threshold value; fungicide; AUDPC; pesticide reduction; Farm to Fork

# 4.2 Introduction

Cereal grains such as wheat, maize, and rice are major nutritional sources worldwide and a key component of a sustainable diet. The share of wheat is approximately one third [1,2]. Maritime climate conditions [3,4,5] in combination with heavy fertile soils [6] are suitable conditions for growing wheat. These conditions therefore place northern Europe as one of the most suitable and productive regions for wheat cultivation worldwide. However, these conditions are also conducive for fungal disease development and pathogens are pervasive throughout this region [4,5]. For this reason, disease management is essential in most parts of northern Europe and is primarily based on preventive management strategies such as the use of fungicides and of less susceptible cultivars. Nevertheless, yield losses caused by fungal diseases are estimated to be approximately 25% in common farm practices [5,7,8]. In detail, the foliar diseases Septoria tritici blotch (caused tritici Desm.; STB), glume by *Zymoseptoria* blotch (Parastagonospora nodorum Berk.; GB), tan spot (Pyrenophora tritici-repentis Died.; TS), powdery mildew (Blumeria graminis f. sp. tritici; PM), stripe rust (Puccinia striiformis f. sp. tritici; SR), and leaf rust (Puccinia triticina; LR) are responsible for yield losses in wheat.

In Germany, annual sales of fungicidal active ingredient totalled 10,464 t of 31,314 t of total pesticide sales, which is approximately one-third of all pesticides sold averaged from 1995 to 2020 (excluding inert gases, herbicides 52%, insecticides 3%, others 12%) [9]. Additionally, the use of pesticides is a considerable concern for the European public [10]. Hence, first member states started to regulate pesticide use until the EU comprehensively regulated it in 2009 with directive 2009/128/EC for sustainable use of pesticides [11]. Currently, the EU repeals the directive as a consequence of the "European Green Deal" and develops a new strategy for the sustainable use of pesticides [12]. This "Farm to Fork" strategy under consideration would support claims of a 50% reduction of pesticides in the EU by 2030. According to Dachbrodt-Saaydeh et al. [13], approximately 13% of the fungicides (30% of the insecticides, 6% of the herbicides) are used unnecessarily. In terms of sales and unnecessary use, fungicides show the greatest potential to reduce overall pesticide usage. Klink et al. [4] demonstrated in a long-term study over 26 years that utilizing a threshold-based system can optimize applications, reduce overall pesticide usage/quantity, and maintain the potential yield simultaneously. However, the use of fungicides is essential to produce wheat of sufficient quality and quantity in the future.

In the present study, we evaluated if common farm practices can reach the pesticide reduction goals of the EU by using decision support systems (DSS). Therefore, three DSSs for the control of foliar diseases in wheat, namely the IPM-Wheat Model Schleswig-Holstein (IPM; scientific system), the information system for integrated plant production (ISIP; federal system), and the xarvio<sup>®</sup> FIELD MANAGER (xarvio<sup>®</sup>, commercial system), were analysed for their potential to minimize the use of fungicides. Thus, a supra-regional study under standardized conditions (same cultivars, same trial locations, and same growing conditions) in the wheat-privileged area of northern Germany was established. The aims were to: (i) show if a reduction of fungicides used is possible and (ii) investigate the differences of different DSSs in their yield potential and disease suppression.

# 4.3 Materials and Methods

# 4.3.1 Area Surveyed and Survey Strategy

From 2019 to 2021, an evaluation of three decision support systems (the IPM-Wheat Model, the ISIP system, and the xarvio FIELD MANAGER®) for the management of foliar wheat diseases was carried out at three trial locations evenly distributed throughout northern Germany. These trials were located between the Baltic and the North Sea in the northernmost federal state of Germany, Schleswig-Holstein (Table 5). This area is highly suitable for growing field crops, especially wheat, and is characterized by maritime weather conditions with an average temperature of 9.2 °C and an annual precipitation of 846 L/m<sup>2</sup> [14]. On 70% of the total 655,011 ha of arable land in Schleswig-Holstein in 2020, the major field crops were winter wheat, forage maize, and oilseed rape, with a share of 20.8, 28.6, and 10.2%, respectively [15]. Since forage maize is predominantly grown on sandy soils in the middle area of this state, winter wheat is more likely grown in the eastern (eastern hill land) and western (west coast marsh) parts, which are characterized by heavy soils. The trial locations were located in these parts of Schleswig-Holstein with high densities of wheat in crop rotation (Table 5). Due to the aforementioned eligible conditions, enhanced disease pressure can be expected, as described by Klink et al. [4]. Consequently, the survey area is suitable for the evaluation of decision support systems for the management of foliar diseases in wheat.

Table 5. Coordinates and agronomic practices (crop rotation, soil cultivation) at three trial locations in northern Germany from 2019 to 2021. WW = winter wheat, WB = winter barley, OR = oilseed rape. Preceding crops are underlined.

Teetien	Coordinates		Crew Batation		
Location	Latitude	Longitude	Crop Kotation	Son Cultivation	
Barlt	54°01′03″N	09°01′45″′E	WW- <u>WW</u> -OR	Plough	
Futterkamp	54°17'31''N	10°38′04″′E	WW-WB- <u>OR</u>	Reduced tillage	
Kluvensiek	54°19′38′′N	09°48′25″′E	WW-WB- <u>OR</u>	Reduced tillage	

The preceding crops of winter wheat at the trial locations were chosen by common practice within the region. Winter wheat preceded wheat at the location Barlt, and oilseed rape preceded wheat at the locations Futterkamp and Kluvensiek consistently in every year of the study (Table 5). Corresponding to the preceding crop, the soil was cultivated with reduced tillage when oilseed rape preceded and by ploughing when winter wheat preceded. For the evaluation of the three DSSs, two cultivars, namely "Ritmo" and "RGT Reform", were used. In Germany, the susceptibility of wheat cultivars to the major foliar diseases is listed in the descriptive cultivar list and is scaled into nine categories from 1 = missing/very low to 9 = very high susceptibility by the Bundessortenamt, an independent senior federal authority under the supervision of the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture. The cultivar "Ritmo" is classified as moderately to highly susceptible against the major foliar diseases. (Table 6)[16].

Table 6. Susceptibility categories (1 = missing/very low to 9 = very high) of the cultivars "Ritmo"
and "RGT Reform" to the major foliar wheat diseases Septoria tritici blotch (STB), glume blotch (GB),
tan spot (TS), powdery mildew (PM), stripe rust (SR), and leaf rust (LR) [16,17].

Cultimur	Susceptibility to					
Cultivar	STB	GB	TS	PM	SR	LR
"Ritmo"	6	6	6	5	4	8
"RGT Reform"	4	5	5	3	4	3

Due to the high susceptibilities of this cultivar, different treatments could be analysed under enhanced disease pressure. To simulate common farm practices, the modern and less susceptible cultivar "RGT Reform" was additionally implemented into the survey (Table 6) [17].

At each location and year, field trials were arranged in a split-plot design with four blocks. Cultivar and block define the main plots. The five treatments, namely fungicide-untreated control (UC), IPM treatment (IPM), ISIP treatment (ISIP), xarvio<sup>©</sup> treatment (xarvio<sup>©</sup>), and healthy-standard control (HST), were randomized within these main plots. Fungicide applications in the treatments followed the recommendations of the DSS's, as described below. At each trial, blocks were randomized uniformly on the same field by treatment order. Due to destructive sampling for disease diagnostics throughout growth stages (GS) 30 (begin of stem elongation) to 77 (late milk stage) [18], all treatments were duplicated to assign the purpose of harvest and sampling to each plot, resulting in ten plots per replicated block and a total of 80 plots per field trial (2 × 40 plots/cultivar). Each plot had a size of 10  $m^2$  (2 m × 5 m) and was separated from neighbouring plots by a 0.5 m strip in order to minimize drift and cross-contamination. At all locations, field trials were integrated into farmers' fields. To avoid external contamination, sufficient clearance to the surrounding fields was established around the entire field trial. Crop management as well as the application of herbicides, insecticides, and growth regulators were based on common agricultural practices and conducted in cooperation with the Chamber of Agriculture of Schleswig-Holstein.

In order to evaluate the disease development of foliar diseases, a UC was implemented into the trials for every cultivar, location, and year. In the absence of fungicides, the UC mirrors individual epidemiological disease behaviour and consequently has the lowest yield for every trial under the given conditions. For the evaluation of DSSs, the UC is regarded as the lower boundary of yield and the upper boundary of disease measures. In contrast, in the HST, four stage-oriented applications at GS 30 (T0), GS 32 (T1), GS 39 (T2), and GS 65 (T3) were conducted identically for every cultivar, location, and year of the survey, assuming a maximum of disease suppression by continuously protected leaves. Accordingly, the HST defined the highest possible yield and the lowest possible disease severities. Hence, the HST operated in the DSS evaluation as the upper boundary of yield and the lower boundary of yield and the lower.

To evaluate a broad range of the available DSSs, one representative scientific DSS, one representative federal DSS, and one representative commercial DSS were implemented in the survey. Therefore, the IPM-Wheat Model Schleswig-Holstein, the ISIP system, and the xarvio® FIELD MANAGER were chosen as representative DSSs, respectively. Based on a broad database for the scientific IPM-Wheat Model Schleswig-Holstein, according to Klink et al. [4], this system operated as the reference DSS in the study.

The science-based IPM-Wheat Model uses specific biological-epidemiological thresholds according to Verreet et al. [19] (Table 7). All IPM thresholds are primarily based on foliar disease incidences (DI) (Septoria tritici blotch, powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust) or indicating leaf layers (glume blotch and tan spot) for easier implementation into common farm practices. Due to the STB's long latency period, a secondary weather-based threshold of 3 L/m<sup>2</sup> precipitation followed by leaf wetness ("Weihofen" sensor) over 98% for at least 36 h is needed to identify the point of infection. The thresholds are validated and adjusted to avoid short- or long-term commercial losses, thereby an eligible disease severity of the foliar diseases is tolerated [4,19]. Succeeding treatments were applied after the fungicidal protective cover (following the labelled instructions) was exhausted and disease thresholds were repeatedly exceeded. Consequently, disease epidemics below the biological-epidemiological thresholds were not treated with fungicides in the IPM treatment. As part of this DSS, periodic observations of the fields need to be executed by the user.

Foliar Disease	Observation Period (GS)	Indicating Leaf Layer	IPM – Disease Control Threshold
Septoria tritici blotch	32 - 69	F-6 to F-0	DI > 50% + 36 hours leaf wetness of > 98%
Glume blotch	37 - 39 41 - 47 51 - 69	F-5 or F-4 F-4 or F-3 F-3 or F-2	DI > 12%
Tan spot	32 33 - 39 41 - 49 51 - 69	F-6 or F-5 F-5 or F-4 F-4 or F-3 F-3 or F-2	DI > 5%
Powdery	30 - 69	F-6 to F-0 *	DI > 70%
Leaf rust	37 – 69	F-6 to F-0	DI > 30%
Stripe rust	30 - 69	F-6 to F-0	DI > 30% or accumulations

**Table 7.** Biological-epidemiological disease control thresholds, observation periods, and the indicating leaf layer of the IPM-Wheat Model for the major fungal foliar wheat diseases.

F = Flag leaf; DI = Disease incidence; GS = Growth stage. \* 1st application DI per plant, 2nd application DI of leaf layers F-2 to F-0.

The federal ISIP-System is based on epidemiological ratings from fungicideuntreated plots at representative sites across Germany provided by the operators. The disease incidences (DI) of the three uppermost leaf layers are published weekly. Locally exceeded thresholds for the major foliar diseases (Table 8) are visualized by a colour system: red = an infection is probable, yellow = an infection is possible, green = an infection is improbable, and grey = an application is prohibited due to an inappropriate plant growth stage. For DSS recommendations for STB, local weather conditions must be incorporated. Therefore, the implemented model SEPTRI [20] uses weather parameters, namely temperature, precipitation, relative humidity, and leaf wetness, to predict suitable conditions for a STB infection. Additionally, the susceptibility of the cultivar was incorporated into the model as described by the Bundessortenamt. The used cultivars "Ritmo" and "RGT Reform" are classified as susceptible and highly susceptible to the STB, respectively, so recommendations for the cultivars vary. However, for common farm practices, a periodic screening of the field crops is essential for the use of the system.

### Chapter IV

Foliar Disease	Observation Period (GS)	Indicating Leaf Layer	IPM – Disease Control Threshold
Septoria tritici blotch	32 – 37 39 - 61	F-3 to F-0 or stem F-2 to F-0 or stem	DI > 30% DI > 10% + 48 hours leaf wetness
Glume blotch	32 - 61	F-2 or F-0 or stem	DI > 30%
Tan spot	32 – 61	F-2 or F-0 or stem	DI > 5%
Powdery	31 – 61	F-3 to F-0 or stem	DI > 60%
Leaf rust	37 – 61	F-6 to F-0 or stem	DI > 30% or accumulations
Stripe rust	31 – 61	F-6 to F-0 or stem	DI > 30% or accumulations

 Table 8. Biological-epidemiological disease control thresholds, observation periods, and the indicating leaf layer of the ISIP decision support system for the major fungal foliar wheat diseases.

 DI = Disease incidence [21].

F = Flag leaf; DI = Disease incidence; GS = Growth stage

The xarvio<sup>®</sup> FIELD MANAGER is a commercial digital farming solution of BASF SE (Ludwigshafen, Germany) and is either available at the web platform "www.xarvio.com" (accessed on 22 July 2022) or as an app-based platform. Decision support for the use of fungicides is only part of this costliable system. According to the xarvio<sup>®</sup> FIELD MANAGER, recommendations for the use of fungicides are based on regional epidemiological observations by the operator in combination with meteorological data. In order to use this DSS, detailed user information needs to be included, such as location, cultivar, tillage system, or seeding time. To enhance the quality of the implemented models, an input of occurring diseases at weekly intervals is recommended. Detailed information about the data processing was not available [22]. For the study, an ordinary user account was created, and the individual data was entered for every location in every year and operated in cooperation with the chamber of agriculture.

At all implemented DSSs of the survey, periodic observations of the crops are recommended. In the IPM and ISIP systems, the observations are essential for the proper use of these DSSs. Thus, during sampling at the trial sites, observations equivalent to all three DSS guidelines were made in the survey. These weekly collected observations were updated on the same day for the three DSSs.

All foliar fungicides were applied with a volume of 200 L/ha of water by overhead foliar applications using an annually calibrated plot boom sprayer with double flat fan nozzles and a standard nozzle spacing of 0.5 m on the

spray boom at a pressure of 2 bar. The fungicides (Table 9) used in the study were determined before the very first application and were identical for all three locations and over the whole survey period from 2019 to 2021. To maintain consistency with common farm practices, the most efficacious commercially available fungicides were selected following the recommendations of the chamber of agriculture [23]. The fungicide "Input<sup>®</sup> classic" (Bayer AG) was applied solo at GS 30 (T0) and in combination with the fungicide "Talius<sup>®</sup>" (Bayer AG) at GS 32 (T2), followed by a solo application of the fungicides "CERIAX®" (BASF SE) at GS 39, and "Osiris®" (BASF SE) at GS 65.

In contrast to the HST, the applications in the IPS-, ISIP-, and xarvio<sup>®</sup>treatment were timed following the recommendations of every DSS. The choice of fungicides for recommended applications in the DSS-treatments for the control of the diseases STB, GB, and TS followed the fungicide selection of the HST according to the GS. DSS recommendations for the control of powdery mildew (PM) only called for the use of the fungicide "PRONTO® PLUS" (Adama Deutschland GmbH, Cologne, Germany) in combination with "Talius<sup>®</sup>". Furthermore, at DSS recommendations for rust diseases (RD), the fungicide "Folicur<sup>®</sup>" (Bayer AG) was applied (Table 9).

As every DSS uses meteorological data, a standardized agrometeorological weather station (Thies Clima, Göttingen, Germany) was installed directly at every trial location. Thereby, the precipitation ( $L/m^2$ ; measuring accuracy ± 3%), air temperature at 30 cm height (°C; measuring accuracy ± 0.1 K), and leaf moisture (Weihofen device %; measuring accuracy ± 3%) were determined [24]. The data were recorded in 15 sec intervals and were given automatically as hourly values.

Plots were harvested with a plot combine in order to determine yields, which were converted into deciton (dt) per ha.

### Chapter IV

Table 9. Registered name, active ingredients,	and indications assig	ned according to	growth stages
of the used fungicides at the trials of the study	y in northern Germany	у.	

	Registered Name	Used Dose / max. Dose (1/ha)	Costs¹ (€/l)	Active ingredient (a.i.)	GS	Indicating diseases
T0, T1	Input® Classic⁵	1.00 / 1.25	33.60€	Spiroxamine (300 g/l) Prothioconazole (160 g/l)	30-37	STB, GB, TS
T1	Talius <sup>®2, 5</sup>	0.20 / 0.25	28.00€	Proquinazid (200 g/l)	30-59	PM
T2	Ceriax <sup>®6</sup>	2.50 / 3.00	26.33€	Epoxiconazole (41.6 g/l) Pyraclostrobin (66.6 g/l) Fluxapyroxad (41.6 g/l)	39-61	STB, GB, TS
Т3	Osiris <sup>®6</sup>	2.50 / 3.00	16.33€	Epoxiconazole (37.5 g/l) Metconazole (27.5 g/l)	61-69	STB, GB, TS, PM
PM solo	Pronto <sup>®</sup> Plus <sup>3,5,6</sup>	1.25 / 1.50	16.00€	Spiroxamine (250 g/l) Tebuconazole (133 g/l)	30-59	РМ
RD solo	Folicur <sup>®4,5</sup>	0.80 / 1.00	16.60€	Tebuconazole (250 g/l)	30-59	SR, LR

<sup>1</sup> Prices were investigated in Germany before start of the survey in spring 2019; <sup>2</sup> only in combination with other fungicides; <sup>3</sup> only in combination with Talius at powdery mildew solo indications, <sup>4</sup> only at rust solo indications; <sup>5</sup>Bayer AG, Leverkusen, Germany; <sup>6</sup>BASF SE, Ludwigshafen, Germany; STB = Septoria tritici blotch; GB = Glume blotch; TS = Tan spot; PM = Powdery mildew; SR = Stripe rust; LR = Leaf rust; GS = Growth stage.

### 4.3.2 Sampling and Disease Assessment

In weekly intervals from GS 30 to 77, ten main tillers per plot were arbitrarily collected from three of the four sampling plots for foliar disease analyses of the UC, IPM, ISIP, xarvio<sup>®</sup>, and HST. Following a determined sequence

according to Verreet et al. [19], the plant samples were analysed macroscopically and microscopically to assess the disease incidence and severity of each treatment.

In the first step, the growth stage, according to Zadoks et al. [18], was determined separately for every location. Thereby, every leaf was rated at the main stem for disease incidence and percentage of affected leaf area from the biotrophic foliar diseases: powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust. Additionally, the necrotization (NEC) and the green leaf area (GLA; 100%–NEC) were rated in this step. In the next step the leaves were separated from the main stems and tested for disease incidence and severity of tan spot. The leaves were then soaked in water to simulate leaf wetness, which leads to expanded pycnidia. This enhances Septoria tritici blotch and glume blotch symptoms to ensure the highest quality rating. As the quantitative parameter for the disease severity, the pycnidia of Septoria tritici blotch and glume blotch were counted between eightfold and fiftyfold magnification for every single leaf, resulting in exact disease incidence and disease severity for every single leaf layer. Additionally, notes such as rating date, location per plant, and plot were also recorded. The assessed epidemiological data was averaged for the leaf layers F-0 to F-2 separately after every weekly rating for each location, cultivar, and block and stored in a SOL database.

### 4.3.3 Data Analyses

For further data analyses and an annual comparison of the disease severity, the area under disease progress curve ( $A_{F-x}$ ) of every year, location, treatment, and block were considered. This was calculated using the disease severity parameters NEC, GLA, STB, GB, TS, PM, SR, and LR disease severities of F-0 to F-2 from GS 30 to 77. For the estimation of the  $A_{F-x}$  according to Madden et al. (2007) [25], the trapezoidal method has been used by discretizing the time variable and determining the average disease intensity between two neighbouring time points (Formula (1)):

$$A_{F-x} = \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} \frac{(y_i + y_{i+1})}{2} (t_{i+1} - t_i)$$
(1)

AF-x = AUDPC of leaf layer F minus x; y = disease severity at rating date

i, t = rating date; k = number of neighbouring time intervals

For comparison of the disease severities of the UC and the treatments, a yielddirected comparison was performed, adjusting the  $A_{F-x}$  to the weighted AUDPC (WAUDPC) by weighting disease severities separately for each leaf layer, namely 70% for F-0, 20% for the F-1, and 10% for the F-2 (nominator Formula (2)) [26,27]. The result of the WAUDPC calculation is obviously hard to classify. However, dividing the WAUDPC by the number of time points (k + 1 in Formula (2)) yields the relative WAUDPC (RWAUDPC), showing disease severities in realistic quantities:

RWAUDPC = 
$$\frac{0.7A_{F-0} + 0.2A_{F-1} + 0.1A_{F-2}}{k+1}$$
 (2)

k = number of neighbouring time intervals

The fungicide use was quantified by the treatment frequency index (TFI) according to Bürger et al. 2008 [28] as defined in Formula (3): The sum of the used dose rate relative to the recommended dose of every application of each treatment:

$$TFI = \sum_{j} \frac{dose \ rate_{j}}{standard \ dose_{j}},\tag{3}$$

j = application number per year.

### 4.3.4 Statistical Analyses

For further consideration of yield and disease pressure, the DSS treatments were tested against the healthy-standard treatment and the UC following the statistical evaluation of pharmaceutical 'gold standard' trials (Formula (4); three-arm design) [29,30]. The statistical software R, version 4.1.3 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) [31], was used to analyse the data. The treatments IPM, ISIP, and xarvio were tested for noninferiority to the healthy-standard treatment using simultaneous confidence intervals. Our approach is based on the concepts of Pigeot et al. [29] and Hasler [30]. As this concept assumes a completely randomized design, we adapted this concept and enabled it to be applicable for complex experimental designs. Firstly, the case sensitivity was proven individually for each year, location, and cultivar by a comparison of the healthy-standard treatment versus the UC. All year-location-cultivar combinations (YLC combinations) without significant differences were excluded from further analysis. Secondly, the relative efficacy was calculated. Therefore, the RWAUDPC of yield, NEC, GLA, STB, GB, TS, PM, SR, and LR was used separately for every year, location, treatment, and block (y in Formula (4)).

$$Relative efficacy = \frac{y - \mu_{UC}}{\mu_{UC} - \mu_{HST}}$$
(4)

### $\mu$ = annual mean of every location

For these relative efficacy values, an appropriate statistical mixed model [32] was defined. The model included cultivar and treatment, as well as their interaction term, as fixed factors. The year, the location (nested in year), the block (nested in location), and the cultivar (nested in block) were regarded as random factors. The residuals were assumed to be normally distributed and homoscedastic. These assumptions are based on a graphical residual analysis. Based on this model, one-sided simultaneous confidence intervals were conducted for the means of all combinations of treatment and cultivar. These intervals represent a simultaneous test for non-inferiority of the treatments IPM, ISIP, and xarvio<sup>®</sup> to the healthy-standard treatment, adjusted with the UC.

### 4.4 Results

### 4.4.1 Weather Conditions

At all locations, detailed agricultural weather information was recorded in the period between growth stages (GS) 30 and 77. In the survey area, this period is typically between the end of April and the beginning of July and is shown in detail for every year and location in Table 10. In maritime climates, microclimatic annual conditions vary in a minor manner. Consequently, the temperature varied between 13 and 14 °C at the trial locations and did not differ from the 30-year average of May and June in Schleswig-Holstein (13.75 °C [14]) at all locations and years. The variation of the precipitation between the three locations and years was higher within the observation period, as rainfall events are usually more localized.

Thereby, the 30-year average of Schleswig-Holstein is 127 L/m<sup>2</sup> [14] in the observed month; within the survey period, the precipitation varied between 75 L/m<sup>2</sup> in Barlt in 2020 and 236 L/m<sup>2</sup> in Kluvensiek in 2021. Consequently, in years with high precipitation, more hours of leaf wetness over 98% were observed, and thus conducive conditions for an STB infection, such as rainfall of 3 L/m<sup>2</sup> followed by 36 h of leaf wetness over 98%, were observed more frequently. Conducive STB conditions were observed in Barlt 10 times, in Futterkamp 17 times, and in Kluvensiek 16 times within the survey period. Detailed weather conditions for every year and location are shown in Table S 3. At every location and in every year, conducive weather conditions for STB prevailed throughout the survey.
		т	DD	h o	f	STB infection conditions
Location	OP	1 (°C)	$(1/m^2)$	LW≥	98%	Date
		( C)	(1/111)	h	n	(hours of leaf wetness $\ge$ 98%)
	22.04.19 01.07.19	14 (6/24)	114	433	4	01.05. (108); 10.05. (64); 13.06. (64); 17.06. (54)
Barlt	20.04.20 29.06.20	14 (7/24)	75	336	3	03.05. (113); 24.05. (42); 10.06. (163)
	26.04.21 05.07.21	14 (5/25)	154	605	5	08.05. (111); 19.05. (207); 27.05. (42); 29.05 (56); 22.06. (63)
	15.04.19 24.06.19	13 (5/22)	172	449	7	10.05. (41); 23.05. (32); 10.06. (163); 01.06. (45); 09.06. (37); 17.06. (155); 23.06. (105)
Futterkamp	20.04.20 05.07.20	13 (6/22)	114	324	4	02.05. (98); 14.05. (50); 15.06. (62); 21.06. (56)
	26.04.21 05.07.21	14 (5/25)	164	428	5	06.05. (73); 19.05. (27); 25.05. (94);29.05. (113); 31.06. (66)
Kluvensiek	15.04.19 24.06.19	13 (4/21)	89	190	6	14.05. (120); 24.05. (61); 30.05. (91); 12.06. (58); 16.06. (42); 21.06. (79)
	27.04.20 06.07.20	14 (6/23)	127	205	5	02.05. (87); 14.05. (37); 05.06. (26); 14.06. (46); 19.06. (35)
	26.04.21 05.07.21	14 (4/23)	236	461	5	01.05. (58); 07.05. (129); 16.05 (143); 06.06. (66); 24.06. (112)

**Table 10.** Temperature, precipitation, hours of leaf wetness, and STB infection conditions (leaf wetness by "Weihofen" sensor  $\ge$  98% over more than 36 h) of the observed vegetation period at the trial locations Barlt, Futterkamp, and Kluvensiek from 2019 to 2021. OP = Observation period; T = Temperature; PP = Precipitation; LW = Leaf wetness

# 4.4.2 Significant Year-Location-Cultivar Combinations of the Untreated control and Healthy Standard Treatment for yield and RWAUDPC.

Case sensitivities of yield, GLA, STB, GB, TS, PM, SR, and LR were determined for all year-location-cultivar combinations separately. To analyse the potential of the subjected DSSs, significant differences between the UC and HST are necessary.

For current farm practices, the most crucial factor is yield. The average total yield from every year, location, and cultivar increased by 15.49 dt/ha, from 85.90 dt/ha in the UC to 101.39 dt/ha in the HST. This equates to a yield increase of 18%, which can be directly attributed to the use of fungicide applications. In total, 14 of the 18 possible YLC combinations showed a significant yield increase in the HST (Figure 12A). In the cultivar "RGT Reform" an average increase of 14.98 dt/ha (17%) was observed in the HST. Thereby, the highest difference in yield was observed in the cases of Futterkamp 2021 and Kluvensiek 2021, with 21.33 dt/ha (25%) and 21.11 dt/ha (26%) more yield, respectively, as in the HST. In contrast, the lowest yield difference was observed in Barlt 2020 and 2021, with an increase of 2.41 dt/ha (2%) and 4.35 dt/ha (5%), respectively. In the cultivar "Ritmo" an average increase in yield of 16.00 dt/ha (20%) was harvested in the HST. The greatest difference between the UC and HST was observed in 2019 at the locations Futterkamp and Kluvensiek, with 26.83 dt/ha (32%) and 26.77 dt/ha (43%), respectively (Figure 12A).



**Figure 12.** Annual (**A**) yield (dt/ha) and (**B**) green leaf area (GLA; RWAUDPC of percentage of leaf area) of the UC (grey bars) and the healthy-standard treatment (red bars) of the wheat cultivars "RGT Reform" and "Ritmo" at the locations Barlt (B), Futterkamp (F), and Kluvensiek (K) from 2019 and 2021. Significant ( $p \le 0.05$ ) differences between untreated control and healthy-standard treatment are marked with \*.

Similar to yield, a significantly higher RWAUDPC of the green leaf area (GLA) was rated on the three uppermost leaf layers pooled over all survey years, trial locations, and cultivars. As a result, the green leaf area of the HST (67.10%) was 4.67% higher than that of the UC (63.02%). Overall, 15 of the 18 possible YLC combinations showed a significantly higher RWAUDPC in the HST than in the UC. In the cultivar "RGT Reform", the HST was 4.04% greener than the UC, whereas the HST was 5.35% greener in the cultivar "Ritmo" (Figure 12B). The yield and the GLA were mainly determined by the occurrence of foliar diseases. For the diseases surveyed (STB, GB, TS, PM, SR, and LR), GB and TS did not occur in the entire survey and were consequently not considered for further analysis. However, the diseases STB, PM, SR, and LR were all included and rated in the survey.

As shown in Figure 13, only STB occurred with high disease severities in every YLC combination and was therefore the most prevalent disease included in the survey, with a total RWAUDPC of 24 pycnidia in the UC. In 2021, the highest STB disease pressure was recorded in the UC, with an averaged RWAUDPC of 37 pycnidia. In contrast, the lowest pressure was recorded in 2020 at 8 pycnidia. The disease pressure varied between an averaged RWAUDPC of 17 pycnidia in Barlt and 29 pycnidia in Futterkamp in the UC. Between the cultivars, an enhanced RWAUDPC of STB by 40% in the UC of the cultivar "Ritmo" (30 pycnidia) compared to the cultivar "RGT Reform" (18 pycnidia) was observed. The HST employed the most fungicides possible, and consequently, the highest possible reduction of the diseases was observed. In total, the STB disease severities were reduced by 80% in the HST (5 pycnidia) as compared to the UC (24 pycnidia). A significant reduction of the HST compared to the UC was observed in 14 of the 18 possible YLC combinations. In the cultivar "RGT Reform" the RWAUDPC of STB was reduced by 78%, from 18 pycnidia in the UC to 4 pycnidia in the HST, averaged over all years and locations. In the higher susceptible cultivar "Ritmo" the disease severity was reduced by 82% in the HST (30 pycnidia) as compared to the UC (5 pycnidia). As a result of the higher susceptibilities of the cultivar "Ritmo", the potential of the fungicides was enhanced by 4% as compared to the cultivar "RGT Reform". In particular, Futterkamp 2020 showed the greatest reduction in disease severity, with 95% fewer pycnidia being rated in the HST compared to the UC in both cultivars. In contrast, the lowest significant RWAUDPC reduction in the HST was observed in Kluvensiek 2021, with 50% less pycnidia in the cultivar "RGT Reform" and 54% less pycnidia in the cultivar "Ritmo" (Figure 13 A).



**Figure 13.** Annual disease severities (RWAUDPC; F-0 70%; F-1 20%; F-2 10%) of (**A**) Septoria tritici blotch (number of pycnidia), (**B**) powdery mildew (percentage of leaf area), (**C**) stripe rust (percentage of leaf area), and (**D**) leaf rust (percentage of leaf area) of the untreated control (grey bars) and the healthy-standard treatment (red bars) of the wheat cultivars "RGT Reform" and "Ritmo" at the locations Barlt (B), Futterkamp (F), and Kluvensiek (K) from 2019 to 2021. Significant ( $p \le 0.05$ ) differences between the untreated control and healthy-standard treatment are marked with \*.

In addition, STB, PM, SR, and LR occurred either with high disease severities in certain assays or with minor disease severities in numerous cases (Figure 13 B-D). As shown in Figure 13 B PM occurred in numerous YLC combinations except for the location Barlt. In total, the disease pressure of PM was at an RWAUDPC of 0.04% in the UC on a minor level. Nevertheless, the annual disease severity in the UC varied from an averaged RWAUDPC of 0.02% in 2021 to 0.09% in 2021 at the Futterkamp and Kluvensiek locations only. Thereby, the location Kluvensiek showed an enhanced disease pressure in the UC with 0.09% compared to the location Futterkamp 0.01%. Like STB, the RWAUDPC was enhanced in the more susceptible cultivar "Ritmo" (0.06%) compared to the cultivar "RGT Reform" (0.04%). Although the disease PM had a minor disease pressure, the severities in the HST were significantly reduced by using fungicides in 7 of the 18 possible YLC combinations. Thereby, the disease PM did not occur in considerable severity (<0.01%) in the HST, hence a total reduction of > 98% in the HST compared to the UC was observed (Figure 13 B).

In fewer YLC combinations, the disease SR showed higher but still minor disease severities than PM, with an averaged RWAUDPC of 0.1%. Thereby, the annual disease severity varied from 0.05% in 2020 to 0.13% in 2019. Regionally, the disease severity in the UC varied between 0.03% at the location Barlt and 0.15% at the location Futterkamp. Contrary to the diseases STB, PM, and LR, a 75% reduced RWAUDPC in the UC was observed in the cultivar "Ritmo" (0.04%) compared to the cultivar "RGT Reform" (0.16%). In the HST, the disease SR was not rated in considerable (<0.01%) measures, resulting in a total reduction of 99% compared to the UC. In 4 of the 18 possible YLC combinations, significant differences were observed due to adequate disease severities in the UC (Figure 13 C).

The disease LR occurred with high disease severities, but in contrast to the aforementioned diseases, only in a few cases of the survey. Hence, the highest observed RWAUDPC (2.80%) was a multiple of the total average (0.56%) from the UC of the survey. The disease severity of LR varied annually from 0.18% in 2019 to 1.00% in 2020, and regionally from 0.36 to 0.84% in the UC. In comparison, the disease severities between the cultivars "Ritmo" (1.06%) and "RGT Reform" (0.06%) differed on a major level. In the HST, the disease LR was also not rated as having considerable disease severity (<0.01%). In total, a reduction of >99% was accomplished, and significant differences between the HST and the UC were observed in four of the possible YLC combinations. Thereby, significant differences were only observed in the cultivar "Ritmo" (Figure 13D).

### 4.4.3 Performance of Decision Support Systems to Yield and Disease Suppression

To assess and compare the performance of the DSSs and maintain accuracy, it was hypothesized that the HST with a maximum amount of fungicides provides the highest yield potential by protecting the green leaf surface area the longest and suppressing disease. UC disease suppression, on the other hand, was not performed, resulting in the lowest yield potential. As a result, only the range between the aforementioned treatments is relevant for assessing the efficacy of the subjected DSSs, and non-significant assays were excluded from the analyses. ANOVA results showed that the treatment significantly affected the relative efficacy of yield, NEC, STB, PM, SR, and LR ( $p \le 0.05$ ; Table S 4). Hence, a lower quantity of assays enhances the variance in the analyses. For this reason, the lower confidence limits were increased if low assay numbers were available, as shown in Figure 14.

Summarised, for both cultivars, the subjected DSSs (IPM, ISIP, and xarvio<sup>®</sup>) achieved a total of 92% of their potential yield as compared to HST. Thereby, the yield efficacy varied from 87% in the cultivar "RGT Reform" to 99% in the cultivar "Ritmo" whereby greater differences were observed in the xarvio<sup>®</sup> treatment. In the cultivar "RGT Reform" the treatments IPM, ISIP, and xarvio<sup>®</sup> achieved 93, 94, and 87%, respectively, as compared to HST. Thereby, the guaranteed efficiency with a 95% probability, represented by the lower confidence limit of the DSS, was 71% compared to 78% for the HST (Figure 14) A Furthermore, the NEC, which is reciprocal to the GLA of the DSSs achieved an efficiency of 87% in total. The efficacy of the DSSs in preserving green leaf area was highest in the cultivar "RGT Reform" (81%), and ranged from 77% in the IPM to 84% in the ISIP treatment. Even higher efficacies were observed in the cultivar "Ritmo" with 93% for all DSSs, varying from 89% in the xarvio<sup>®</sup> treatment to 99% in the ISIP treatment (Figure 14 B).

Under consideration of the efficacy of DSS in suppressing the STB disease, an increased variation between the subjected DSSs was observed. As shown in Figure 14C, the efficacy of the DSSs compared to the HST was 83% in total, which is still an excellent level, but in comparison to yield, the range of variation was enhanced. Hence, the observed efficacy varied from 70% in the IPM treatment to 101% in the ISIP treatment in the cultivar "RGT Reform" and from 70% in the IPM treatment to 93% in the ISIP in the cultivar "Ritmo". In comparison to yield and NEC, the variations within the treatments were reduced, and as a consequence, the lower confidence limit differed less from the efficacy. As shown in Figure 14 D the subjected DSSs achieved a high total efficacy of 88% in the suppression of PM and varied from 59% in the IPM treatment (cv. "RGT Reform") to 96% in the xarvio<sup>©</sup> treatment. Among the DSSs tested, the IPM treatment had a significantly lower efficacy in PM disease suppression in the cultivar "RGT Reform". This was not confirmed in the cultivar "Ritmo", where all DSSs showed efficacies of 91% or higher. The disease suppression of the two occurring rust diseases by the DSSs was at a superior level of 99% efficacy averaged over the cultivars "RGT Reform" and "Ritmo" and diseases SR and LR. As previously stated, the lower confidence limits were enhanced due to a lower quantity of significant YLCcombinations.



**Figure 14.** Relative efficacy and lower confidence limit (whisker,  $\alpha = 0.05$ ) of the healthy-standard treatment (red dots), IPM treatment (green dots), ISIP treatment (yellow dots), and xarvio<sup>®</sup> treatment (purple dots) in relation to the healthy-standard treatment adjusted by the untreated control for the parameters (**A**) yield, (**B**) necrotization (NEC), (**C**) Septoria tritici blotch (STB), (**D**) powdery mildew (PM), (**E**) stripe rust (SR), and (**F**) leaf rust (LR) from all significant YLC combinations from 2019 to 2021. n denotes the number of significant cases. Dotted lines describe the relative efficacy and the lower confidence limit of the HST.

#### 4.4.4 Efficacy of DSSs

For evaluation of the efficacy of the subjected DSSs, the average yield and TFI of the cultivars "RGT Reform" (Figure 15 A) and "Ritmo" (Figure 15 B) were used. In the HST, the yield of the more susceptible cultivar "RGT Reform" increased by 8% compared to the cultivar "Ritmo". As shown in Figure 15 A<sub>1</sub>, the yield in the HST of the cultivar "RGT Reform" (105.50 dt/ha) was 1% higher than the yield of the subjected DSSs (104.29  $\pm$  0.37 dt/ha).

Furthermore, the yield of the HST (97.32 dt/ha) in the cultivar "Ritmo" was 1% higher than the yield of the subjected DSSs (95.94  $\pm$  0.85 dt/ha; Figure 15 Bi).



**Figure 15.** Yield (dt/ha; bars) and treatment frequency index (TFI; n-full doses; dots) of the untreated control (UC), healthy-standard treatment (HST; red), IPM treatment (green), ISIP treatment (yellow), and xarvio<sup>©</sup> treatment (purple) of the wheat cultivars (**A**) "RGT Reform" and (**B**) "Ritmo" averaged over the three trial locations and years from 2019 to 2021.

As there were no statistical differences in yield between the HST and the DSS treatments in the cultivars "RGT Reform" and "Ritmo", significant differences in the use of fungicides were determined in the survey. In the entire survey, 222 foliar fungicide applications were applied, resulting in 90 applications in the HST, 36 in the IPM, 52 in the ISIP, and 44 in the xarvio<sup>®</sup> treatment. The overarching goal of DSSs was to optimise fungicide timing. During this study, unnecessary applications were not applied, and the total amount of fungicide product was reduced. For the comparison of the fungicides used in the treatments, the treatment frequency index (TFI), as a standardizing index for the use of fungicides, was calculated for the DSSs and the HST and is shown in Figure 15 Arr, BII. Hence, the differences in concentration or other characteristics of the fungicides applied are equalized in the TFI by qualifying the used dose to the standard dose.

According to the trial design in the HST, four full applications of fungicides were applied in every year, location, and cultivar (Figure 15 AII; BII). In contrast, the recommendations of the DSSs approximately halved the TFI and, accordingly, the quantity of used fungicides. Thereby, the TFI in the DSS treatments varied equally in the cultivars "RGT Reform" and "Ritmo" between 1.65 in the IPM treatment and 2.36 in the ISIP treatment. In the xarvio<sup>®</sup> treatment, the fungicides used differed between the cultivars, with a TFI of 1.93 in the cultivar "RGT Reform" and 2.11 in the cultivar "Ritmo". Due to the preselection of the fungicides in the survey, it can be assumed that the amount corresponds directly with the included risks of the used fungicides. Furthermore, regardless of cultivar, the DSSs demonstrated high efficacy in the use of fungicides.

### 4.4.5 Economic Analysis

Economic analyses typically combine the factors yield and all costs. As a result of the trial design, the cost of fungicides determined the total costs of a treatment, as all other factors were identical at every treatment. Hence, the UC did not add any additional costs since fungicides were not used in this treatment. With increasing wheat prices, the use of fungicides is cost-effective (costs for fungicides and for labour are covered). Thus, at low wheat prices under EUR 6.33/dt cultivating the cultivar "RGT Reform" and EUR 6.47/dt for "Ritmo", respectively, the use of fungicides does not outweigh the cost of application. Further increasing wheat prices promote the usage of DSSs. In the IPM treatment, the lowest quantity of fungicides was recommended; the fungicide costs were covered at the lowest price and showed the highest margins under increasing wheat prices. The treatments ISIP and xarvio<sup>®</sup> showed that the cost of application is warranted because of slightly higher wheat prices over EUR 9.03/dt and EUR 7.76/dt in the cultivar "RGT Reform" and EUR 8.41/dt and EUR 7.54/dt in the cultivar "Ritmo", respectively. However, at continuously increasing wheat prices, an increased usage of fungicides is economical. In the highly susceptible cultivar "Ritmo" the break-even point (BEP) between the IPM treatment and the HST was EUR 55.17/dt.

The wheat price was higher for all other BEPs of the HST and DSS treatments in the cultivars "RGT Reform" and "Ritmo". Since 2000, the average European wheat price has been EUR 15.45/dt, with a price range from EUR 7.94/dt to EUR 33.07/dt [33], and the subjected DSSs had collectively superior profit margins to the UC and the HST within the historical price range (Table 11).

#### Chapter IV

Table 11. Break-even points of the DSSs IPM, ISIP, and xarvio® to the untreated control (UC) and
healthy-standard treatment (HST) with the corresponding revenue function $(p(x))$ of the cultivars
"RGT Reform" and "Ritmo" averaged over the locations Barlt, Futterkamp, and Kluvensiek for the
period from 2019 to 2021.

Cultiver	Treatment	Break-eve	n point	Revenue function
Cultivar		to UC	to HST	
"RGT Reform"	UC			p(x) = 90.48x
	HST			p(x) = 105.47x - 219.15
	IPM	6.33€	126.14€	p(x) = 104.43x - 88.22
	ISIP	9.03€	104.00€	p(x) = 104.58x - 127.34
	xarvio©	7.76€	71.89€	p(x) = 103.86x - 103.79
"Ritmo"	UC			p(x) = 81.33x
	HST			p(x) = 97.32x - 219.15
	IPM	6.47€	55.17€	p(x) = 94.95x - 88.22
	ISIP	8.41€	107.12€	p(x) = 96.47x - 127.34
	xarvio©	7.54€	113.97€	p(x) = 96.40x - 113.57

#### 4.5 Discussion

The production of food of adequate quality and quantity is traditionally a major goal of agricultural production. Therefore, in common farm practices, pesticides are used to protect the field crops, thereby utilising the full local potential in the quality (e.g., contamination with mycotoxins) [34,35] and quantity (e.g., yield) [36,37,38] of harvested crops. The European Union regulates the use of pesticides through the directive 2009/128/EC for sustainable use of pesticides [11]. In 2022, the Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety considered the implemented regulations ineffective [39]. Additionally, a revision of the directive was recommended and implemented in the draft of the "Farm to Fork" strategy. Thereby, a central regulation is a pesticide reduction of 50% by 2030 based on the sales volume from 2015 to 2017 [12]. Hence, for common farm practices primarily an elimination of unnecessary pesticide uses and in consequence a more effective use of pesticides is warranted. As described by Dachbrodt-Saaydeh et al. [13], approximately 89% of the total pesticide use (87% of the fungicide use) in Germany was needed to ensure an adequate harvest in Germany from 2007 to 2016. Accordingly, still 11% of the pesticides and 13% of the fungicides are used unnecessarily. The unnecessary use of pesticides was also confirmed by similar studies, but not comprehensively for every type of pesticide and field crop [40,41,42,43]. The cause of unnecessary fungicide use is primarily a result of non-optimized application timing. As a result, too early application reduces protective performance, while too late application reduces the curative performance of the fungicides [19,42,44,45]. Both too early and too late applications reduce the efficacy of fungicides, which induces the use of higher doses to compensate for the loss in effectiveness. To minimize these false applications of pesticides is a major challenge for common farm practices [4,19,45,46]. For optimized timing in fungicide applications, the use of DSSs is recommended but not comprehensively established [38,40,45,47]. In recent decades, numerous DSSs have been published by universities, federal institutions, or corporations for the control of one or multiple foliar diseases [47]. Thereby, the published DSSs differ significantly in the degree of transparency, which is one reason for the non-comprehensive establishment of DSSs in common farm practices [47]. Usually, the thresholds and algorithms of scientific and federal institutions provide high levels of transparency in comparison to commercial systems. As in the study of the scientific and federal representatives, IPM and ISIP showed full transparency in comparison to xarvio<sup>®</sup> [19,21]. Additionally, due to the different transparencies of the DSSs, the requirements in disease diagnostics differ considerably between DSSs [47,48]. Hence, all of the subjected DSSs supported the diagnostics by regional observation in the survey area. In general, every fungicide use in the European Union is only warranted if an indicating disease appears [11], and therefore disease diagnostics are required in farm practices. Nevertheless, problems in diagnostics are a common reason for DSS refusal [47,48]. Another reason for the non-comprehensive establishment of DSSs in common farm practices might be the additional workload for sampling, diagnostics, and exertion by the farmers [49]. Aside from the aforementioned reasons, the main concern of farmers is yield stability when DSSs determine the timing of fungicide use [50]. This major concern was investigated under maritime conditions in northern Germany. Notably, these warm and humid climates are conducive to disease development and demand an enhanced use of fungicides.

In our study, cultivar susceptibility varied, and our data indicates this from foliar disease evaluations. In particular, except for SR, the used cultivar "RGT Reform" was less susceptible to foliar diseases than the cultivar "Ritmo". Therefore, the lower susceptibility to foliar diseases was confirmed in the UC. Disease severities in SR and LR were significantly reduced due to the selection of a less susceptible cultivar. This was confirmed by Klink et al. [4], Aboukhaddour et al. [51], Duveiller et al. [52], Miedaner et al. [53], Singh et al. [54], Hovmøller et al. [55], and Willocquet et al. [8]. In contrast, the disease suppression effect of the cultivar on the disease severities of PM and, in particular, STB was only rudimentary in the survey. Other commercially available cultivars with low susceptibility to all diseases are either not adapted to the local conditions and thus less productive or have a lower overall yield potential [56]. Until cultivars with high yield potential and resistance to regional pathogens are bred, fungicides are imperative to maintain yield and quality. Consequently, a general prohibition of fungicides is not an option if agricultural productivity is to be maintained. Under consideration of the results of yield in the present study, a deficit of approximately 20% was estimated in the UC compared to the HST and DSS treatments. A possibility to compensate for losses in yield is to extend the cropping area by 20% on comparable land. Due to the decrease of arable land in the European Union [57] and worldwide, this raises the demand for cereal grain, driven by population growth and the concern of food scarcity worldwide [58].

As the EU's "Farm to Fork" strategy claims a reduction of 50% [12] by 2030, it is questionable if agricultural productivity can be maintained at its current level. In wheat, foliar diseases are responsible for approximately 25% of

potential yield losses [58], even with the use of fungicides. In the present study different DSSs were evaluated for their potential in the sustainable use of fungicides. All DSSs showed high efficacies in the reduction of foliar disease. Despite their inferiority in disease suppression, no significant differences in yield were observed between the DSS treatments and the HST. This leads to the conclusion that the full potential of the field crops was utilized, even if disease severity was on a minor level. According to Verreet et al. [19], infected fields need to be treated at the beginning of the pathogen's sporulation period due to a low population in the fields on the one hand and a visual appearance in the field on the other hand; this is the most sensitive part of the epidemic. Hence, low disease severities are tolerable in the disease suppression strategy in common farm practices. In our study, low aberrations in the efficacy of disease suppression from the DSS treatments compared to the HST were observed. Thereby, the efficacy of the DSSs was high throughout the whole survey for each cultivar, especially in suppressing rust diseases. The efficacy of the DSS to the parameters NEC, STB, and PM varied constantly from that of the HST, but the differences were minor. A possible explanation for the decline in effectiveness is that the efficacy of the DSSs is directly connected to the efficacy of commercially available fungicides. On the one hand, the sensitivity of rust diseases to commercially available fungicides [59] and their reduced efficacy for STB [60,61] and PM [62] indicate that the lack of efficacy is caused primarily by the reduced potency of fungicides. At the same time, a loss of efficacy in yield protection was not observed. Due to the optimised timing of fungicide application by DSS, unnecessary treatments were avoided. In general, the reduction in the number of sprays also leads to a lower risk of resistance development, which prolongs the duration of the fungicide's effect [45,63,64,65]. As a result, all DSS tested adequately reduced the disease severity of all foliar diseases and utilized the full yield potential of the locations and cultivars every year. In contrast, the amount of fungicides used for the control of foliar diseases was halved by using DSSs compared to the HST.

Under consideration of common wheat prices in the EU [33], the recommended fungicide strategies showed superior profit margins in comparison to the stage-oriented fungicide strategy in the survey (HST). These higher margins of threshold-based systems were also shown in other studies [4,19,47]. An optimized timing of the applications in sensible stages of the epidemiological disease dynamics caused the economic superiority of the DSSs independent from the cultivar.

The use of DSSs can be helpful in achieving the ambitious goal of a 50% pesticide reduction under the EU's "Farm to Fork" strategy. In contrast, the aforementioned success of DSSs in enhancing the efficacy of fungicides depends fundamentally on potent fungicides. Thereby, the diversity of different active ingredients is a key factor in resistance management [60,61,66]. Hence, the EU approach of reducing pesticide use by restricting the accredited active ingredients, as described in the EU substitution list [67], can decrease the efficacy of DSSs and fungicides in general. Accordingly, either an enhanced use of pesticides or a decline in agricultural productivity with all its global consequences may occur in the future. Instead of restricting the use of pesticides, the education of farmers for disease diagnostics and the use of DSSs might be an advanced approach for a sustainable reduction of pesticides. Furthermore, a supra-regional open access network of agrometeorological weather stations will significantly enhance the prediction accuracy of DSSs and, in general, the suitability of agricultural production [68,69].

In general, the DSSs tested in our study demonstrated improved efficacy in disease suppression and increased the sustainability of fungicide use through application timing optimization. The approach of optimizing the use of pesticides appears to be more sustainable compared to the planned restrictions of the EU "Farm to Fork" strategy, particularly with regard to the European Union and also global food security.

### 4.6 Conclusions

The three decision support systems (DSS) that were tested optimized the use of fungicides for the suppression of major fungal foliar diseases in wheat. Within the survey, all DSSs reduced the amount of fungicides applied by 50% as compared to a healthy-standard treatment. Thereby, no significant yield reductions were observed, either between the subjected DSSs or the healthystandard treatment with the highest disease suppression potential. This confirms the effectiveness of a biological-epidemiological-based fungicide management system compared to the currently common stage-oriented system. In light of the political intention to reduce pesticides by 50% until 2030 (the EU's "Farm to Fork" strategy), the use of DSSs as a tool for fungicide optimization is of major importance for common farm practices in the future. General restrictions on pesticide application will not lead to an optimized use of pesticides and fungicides in particular. Consequently, a general decrease in yield and a higher risk of fungicide resistance for several diseases seem plausible. Enhanced workloads caused by, e.g., additional field diagnostics are at least monetarily covered by the savings of pesticides. However, either scientific, federal, or commercial DSSs showed superior economic behaviour. In conclusion, DSSs can help to improve the sustainability of fungicide use in wheat and pesticides in general.

#### 4.7 References

- 1. FAO. FAOSTAT Statistical Database; FAO: Rome, Italy, 2022.
- Poutanen, K.S.; Kårlund, A.O.; Gómez-Gallego, C.; Johansson, D.P.; Scheers, N.M.; Marklinder, I.M.; Eriksen, A.K.; Silventoinen, P.C.; Nordlund, E.; Sozer, N.; et al. Grains - a major source of sustainable protein for health. *Nutr. Rev.* 2022, *80*, 1648–1663, doi:10.1093/nutrit/nuab084.
- 3. Bouma, E. Development of comparable agro-climatic zones for the international exchange of data on the efficacy and crop safety of plant protection products. *Bull. OEPP* **2005**, *35*, 233–238, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2338.2005.00830.x.
- Klink, H.; Prahl, K.C.; Hasler, M.; Verreet, J.-A.; Birr, T. Efficiency and Effectivity of a Biological–Epidemiological Fungal Disease Management System in Wheat—A Study of 26 Years. *Agriculture* 2022, 12, 1099, doi:10.3390/agriculture12081099.
- Figueroa, M.; Hammond-Kosack, K.E.; Solomon, P.S. A review of wheat diseases-a field perspective. *Mol. Plant Pathol.* 2018, 19, 1523–1536, doi:10.1111/mpp.12618.
- 6. FAO. Status of the World's Soil Resources: Main report; FAO; ITPS: Rome, Italy, 2015, ISBN 9789251090046.
- Savary, S.; Willocquet, L.; Pethybridge, S.J.; Esker, P.; McRoberts, N.; Nelson, A. The global burden of pathogens and pests on major food crops. *Nat. Ecol. Evol.* 2019, *3*, 430–439, doi:10.1038/s41559-018-0793-y.
- 8. Willocquet, L.; Meza, W.R.; Dumont, B.; Klocke, B.; Feike, T.; Kersebaum, K.C.; Meriggi, P.; Rossi, V.; Ficke, A.; Djurle, A.; et al. An outlook on wheat health in Europe from a network of field experiments. *Crop Prot.* **2021**, *139*, 105335, doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2020.105335.
- 9. BVL. Pflanzenschutzmittelverwendung in der Landwirtschaft. Available online: https:// www.umweltbundesamt.de/daten/landforstwirtschaft/pflanzenschutzmittelverwendung-in-der#zulassungvon-pflanzenschutzmitteln (accessed on 13 September 2022).
- 10. European Food Safety Authority. *Food safety in the EU*; European Parliament: Brussels, Belgium, 2019.
- 11. European Parliament. Directive 2009/128/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 October 2009 establishing a framework for Community action to achieve the sustainable use of pesticides. *Off. J. Eur. Union* **2009**, 1–25.

- 12. European Commission; Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety. Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on the sustainable use of plant protection products and amending Regulation (EU) 2021/2115. *Off. J. Eur. Union* **2022**, 2022, 1–71.
- Dachbrodt-Saaydeh, S.; Sellmann, J.; Strassemeyer, J.; Schwarz, J.; Klocke, B.; Krengel, S.; Kehlenbeck, H. Netz Vergleichsbetriebe Pflanzenschutz Zwei-Jahresbericht 2015 und 2016 - Analyse der Ergebnisse der Jahre 2007 bis 2016. In *Berichte aus dem Julius Kühn-Institut*, 194th ed.; Julius Kühn-Institut, Ed.; Saphir Verlag: Ribbesbüttel, Germany, 2018.
- 14. DWD Climate Data Center. Vieljährige Stationsmittelwerte für die Klimareferenzperiode 1991-2020, für aktuellen Standort und Bezugsstandort. Available online: https://www.dwd.de/DE/leistungen/klimadatendeutschland/vielj\_mittelwerte.html (accessed on 18 May 2021).
- Statistisches Amt f
  ür Hamburg und Schleswig-Holstein. Kreisergebnisse Schleswig-Holstein 2020 – endg
  ültiges Ergebnis der Landwirtschaftsz
  ählung 2020 –: Kennziffer: C IV - LZ 2020 SH, SK Sonderbericht Kreisdaten; Statisikamt Hamburg: Hamburg, Germany, 2021.
- 16. Bundessortenamt. *Beschreibende Sortenliste Getreide, Mais, Ölfrüchte, Leguminosen (großkörnig), Hackfrüchte (außer Kartoffeln)* 2007; Deutscher Landwirtschaftsverlag: Hannover, Germany, 2007, ISBN 0948-4167.
- 17. Bundessortenamt. Beschreibende Sortenliste Getreide, Mais Öl- und Faserpflanzen Leguminosen Rüben Zwischenfrüchte 2018; Deutscher Landwirtschaftsverlag: Hannover, Germany, 2018, ISBN 21 90-61 30.
- 18. Zadoks, J.C.; Chang, T.T.; Konzak, C.F. A decimal code for the growth stages of cereals. *Weed Res.* **1974**, *14*, 415–421.
- Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H.; Hoffmann, G.M. Regional Monitoring for Disease Prediction and Optimization of Plant Protection Measuares: The IPM Wheat Model. *Plant Dis.* 2000, *84*, 816–826, doi:10.1094/PDIS.2000.84.8.816.
- 20. ISIP e.V. Berechnung der Neuinfektionen durch Septoria tritici. Available online: https://www.isip.de/isip/servlet/isipde/entscheidungshilfen/getreide/berechnung-der-neuinfektionendurch-septoria-tritici-259964 (accessed on 18 October 2022).
- 21. ISIP e.V. Bekämpfungsschwellen für Blattkrankheiten in Winterweizen. Available online: https://www.isip.de/isip/servlet/resource/blob/4850/c17fa69037fede44a 2447771885f6d23/bekaempfungsschwellen-fuer-blattkrankheiten-inwinterweizen-data.pdf (accessed on 1 August 2022).

- 22. Münzenmay, M.; Tanimou, M.; Kurre, H. Digitales Ökosystem Nevonex für die smarte Landwirtschaft. *ATZ Heavy Duty* **2020**, *13*, 46–51, doi:10.1007/s35746-020-0086-7.
- 23. Landwirtschaftskammer Schleswig-Holstein. *Ratgeber* 2019: *Pflanzenschutz im Ackerbau*; Empfehlungen für die Praxis, Rendsburg, Deutschland, 2019. Available online: www.lksh.de.
- 24. Henze, M.; Beyer, M.; Klink, H.; Verreet, J.-A. Characterizing Meteorological Scenarios Favorable for *Septoria tritici* Infections in Wheat and Estimation of Latent Periods. *Plant Dis.* **2007**, *91*, 1445–1449, doi:10.1094/PDIS-91-11-1445.
- Madden, L.V.; Hughes, G.; van den Bosch, F. CHAPTER 4: Temporal Analysis I: Quantifying and Comparing Epidemics. In *The Study of Plant Disease Epidemics*; Madden, L.V., Hughes, G., van den Bosch, F., Eds.; The American Phytopathological Society: St. Paul, MN, USA, 2017; pp 63–116, ISBN 978-0-89054-505-8.
- 26. Mahmood, A.; Alam, K.; Salam, A.; Iqbal, S. Effect of flag leaf removal on grain yield, its components and quality of hexaploid wheat. *Cereal Res. Commun.* **1991**, 305–310.
- 27. Avci Birsin, M. Effects of Removal of Some Photosynthetic Structures on Some Yield Components in Wheat. *Tarim Bilim. Derg.* 2005, *11*, 1, doi:10.1501/Tarimbil\_000000559.
- Bürger, J.; Mol, F. de; Gerowitt, B. The "Necessary Extent" of Pesticide use—Thoughts about a Key Term in German Pesticide Policy. *Crop Prot.* 2008, 27, 343–351, doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2007.06.006.
- 29. Pigeot, I.; Schäfer, J.; Röhmel, J.; Hauschke, D. Assessing non-inferiority of a new treatment in a three-arm clinical trial including a placebo. *Stat. Med.* **2003**, *22*, 883–899, doi:10.1002/sim.1450.
- 30. Hasler, M. Multiple comparisons to both a negative and a positive control. *Pharm. Stat.* **2012**, *11*, 74–81, doi:10.1002/pst.503.
- 31. R Core Team. *R: A language and environment for statistical computin.* Statistical Computing; R Foundation: Vienna, Austria, 2022.
- 32. Pinheiro, J. *Mixed-Effects Models in S and S-PLUS;* Springer New York: New York, NY, USA, 2000, ISBN 9780387227474.
- DWD Climate Data Center. Vieljährige Stationsmittelwerte für die Klimareferenzperiode 1991-2020, für aktuellen Standort und Bezugsstandort. Available online: https://www.dwd.de/DE/leistungen/ klimadatendeutschland/vielj\_mittelwerte.html (accessed on 18 May 2021).
- 34. Eurostat. Selling prices of crop products (absolute prices) annual price (from 2000 onwards) Soft wheat prices per 100 kg. Available online:

https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/apri\_ap\_crpouta/ default/table?lang=en (accessed on 16 October 2022).

- Birr, T.; Hasler, M.; Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H. Composition and Predominance of Fusarium Species Causing Fusarium Head Blight in Winter Wheat Grain Depending on Cultivar Susceptibility and Meteorological Factors. *Microorganisms* 2020, *8*, doi:10.3390/microorganisms8040617.
- Birr, T.; Jensen, T.; Preußke, N.; Sönnichsen, F.D.; Boevre, M. de; Saeger, S. de; Hasler, M.; Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H. Occurrence of Fusarium Mycotoxins and Their Modified Forms in Forage Maize Cultivars. *Toxins (Basel)* 2021, 13, doi:10.3390/toxins13020110.
- Horlings, L.G.; Marsden, T.K. Towards the real green revolution? Exploring the conceptual dimensions of a new ecological modernisation of agriculture that could 'feed the world'. *Glob. Environ. Change* 2011, 21, 441–452, doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2011.01.004.
- 38. Hillocks, R.J. Farming with fewer pesticides: EU pesticide review and resulting challenges for UK agriculture. *Crop Prot.* **2012**, *31*, 85–93, doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2011.08.008.
- Deguine, J.-P.; Aubertot, J.-N.; Flor, R.J.; Lescourret, F.; Wyckhuys, K.A.; Ratnadass, A. Integrated pest management: good intentions, hard realities. A review. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.* 2021, 41, 1–35, doi:10.1007/s13593-021-00689-w.
- 40. *Revision of Directive 2009/128/EC on the sustainable use of pesticides;* Karamfilova, E., Ed.; European Parliament, 2022.
- Jørgensen, L.N.; Noe, E.; Nielsen, G.C.; Jensen, J.E.; Ørum, J.E.; Pinnschmidt, H.O. Problems with disseminating information on disease control in wheat and barley to farmers. In *Sustainable Disease Management in a European Context*; Collinge, D.B., Cooke, B.M., Munk, L., Eds.; Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht, 2008; pp 303–312, ISBN 9781402087806.
- 42. Ghimire, N.; Woodward, R.T. Under- and over-use of pesticides: An international analysis. *Ecol. Econ.* **2013**, *89*, 73–81, doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2013.02.003.
- 43. Carmona, M.; Sautua, F.; Pérez-Hérnandez, O.; Reis, E.M. Role of Fungicide Applications on the Integrated Management of Wheat Stripe Rust. *Front. Plant Sci.* **2020**, *11*, 733, doi:10.3389/fpls.2020.00733.
- Tataridas, A.; Kanatas, P.; Chatzigeorgiou, A.; Zannopoulos, S.; Travlos, I. Sustainable Crop and Weed Management in the Era of the EU Green Deal: A Survival Guide. *Agronomy* 2022, 12, 589, doi:10.3390/agronomy12030589.

- 45. Shoemaker C.A. The optimal timing of multiple applications of residual pesticides: deterministic and stochastic analyses. In *Pest and pathogen control: Strategic, tactical, and policy models;* Conway, G.R., Ed.; Wiley: Chichester, England, 1984; pp 290–309, ISBN 0-471-90349-3.
- 46. Lázaro, E.; Makowski, D.; Vicent, A. Decision support systems halve fungicide use compared to calendar-based strategies without increasing disease risk. *Commun. Earth. Environ.* **2021**, *2*, doi:10.1038/s43247-021-00291-8.
- 47. Parsons, D.J.; Te Beest, D. Optimising Fungicide Applications on Winter Wheat using Genetic Algorithms. *Biosyst. Eng.* **2004**, *88*, 401–410, doi:10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2004.04.012.
- Jørgensen, L.N.; Hovmøller, M.S.; Hansen, J.G.; Lassen, P.; Clark, B.; Bayles, R.; Rodemann, B.; Flath, K.; Jahn, M.; Goral, T.; et al. IPM Strategies and Their Dilemmas Including an Introduction to www.eurowheat.org. J. Integr. Agric. 2014, 13, 265–281, doi:10.1016/S2095-3119(13)60646-2.
- 49. Miller, S.A.; Beed, F.D.; Harmon, C.L. Plant disease diagnostic capabilities and networks. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* **2009**, 47, 15–38, doi:10.1146/annurev-phyto-080508-081743.
- Htun, N.-N.; Rojo, D.; Ooge, J.; Croon, R. de; Kasimati, A.; Verbert, K. Developing Visual-Assisted Decision Support Systems across Diverse Agricultural Use Cases. *Agriculture* 2022, 12, 1027, doi:10.3390/agriculture12071027.
- Mackrell, D.; Kerr, D.; Hellens, L. von. A qualitative case study of the adoption and use of an agricultural decision support system in the Australian cotton industry: The socio-technical view. *Decis. Support Syst.* 2009, 47, 143–153, doi:10.1016/j.dss.2009.02.004.
- 52. Aboukhaddour, R.; Fetch, T.; McCallum, B.D.; Harding, M.W.; Beres, B.L.; Graf, R.J. Wheat diseases on the prairies: A Canadian story. *Plant Pathol.* **2020**, *69*, 418–432, doi:10.1111/ppa.13147.
- 53. Duveiller, E.; Singh, R.P.; Nicol, J.M. The challenges of maintaining wheat productivity: pests, diseases, and potential epidemics. *Euphytica* **2007**, *157*, 417–430, doi:10.1007/s10681-007-9380-z.
- 54. Miedaner, T.; Juroszek, P. Climate change will influence disease resistance breeding in wheat in Northwestern Europe. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* **2021**, *134*, 1771–1785, doi:10.1007/s00122-021-03807-0.
- 55. Singh, R.P.; Singh, P.K.; Rutkoski, J.; Hodson, D.P.; He, X.; Jørgensen, L.N.; Hovmøller, M.S.; Huerta-Espino, J. Disease Impact on Wheat Yield Potential and Prospects of Genetic Control. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 2016, 54, 303–322, doi:10.1146/annurev-phyto-080615-095835.

- 56. Hovmøller, M.S.; Milus, E.A.; Justesen, A.F. Rapid global spread of two aggressive strains of a wheat rust fungus. *Mol. Ecol.* **2008**, *17*, 3818–3826, doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2008.03886.x.
- Laidig, F.; Feike, T.; Hadasch, S.; Rentel, D.; Klocke, B.; Miedaner, T.; Piepho, H.P. Breeding progress of disease resistance and impact of disease severity under natural infections in winter wheat variety trials. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 2021, *134*, 1281–1302, doi:10.1007/s00122-020-03728-4.
- 58. Perpiña Castillo C, Kavalov B., Diogo V., Jacobs C., Batista E Silva F., Baranzelli C., Lavalle C. Trends in the EU Agricultural Land within 2015-2030. *JRC Policy Insights* **2018**, 2018, 1–6.
- Schils, R.; Olesen, J.E.; Kersebaum, K.-C.; Rijk, B.; Oberforster, M.; Kalyada, V.; Khitrykau, M.; Gobin, A.; Kirchev, H.; Manolova, V.; et al. Cereal yield gaps across Europe. *Eur. J. Agron.* 2018, 101, 109–120, doi:10.1016/j.eja.2018.09.003.
- 60. Oliver, R.P. A reassessment of the risk of rust fungi developing resistance to fungicides. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* **2014**, *70*, 1641–1645, doi:10.1002/ps.3767.
- 61. Birr, T.; Hasler, M.; Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H. Temporal Changes in Sensitivity of Zymoseptoria tritici Field Populations to Different Fungicidal Modes of Action. *Agriculture* **2021**, *11*, 269, doi:10.3390/agriculture11030269.
- Klink, H.; Verreet, J.-A.; Hasler, M.; Birr, T. Will Triazoles Still Be of Importance in Disease Control of Zymoseptoria tritici in the Future? *Agronomy* 2021, *11*, 933, doi:10.3390/agronomy11050933.
- Vielba-Fernández, A.; Polonio, Á.; Ruiz-Jiménez, L.; Vicente, A. de; Pérez-García, A.; Fernández-Ortuño, D. Fungicide Resistance in Powdery Mildew Fungi. *Microorganisms* 2020, *8*, doi:10.3390/microorganisms8091431.
- 64. Möhring, N.; Wuepper, D.; Musa, T.; Finger, R. Why farmers deviate from recommended pesticide timing: the role of uncertainty and information. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* **2020**, *76*, 2787–2798, doi:10.1002/ps.5826.
- Rossi, V.; Sperandio, S.; Caffi, T.; Simonetto, A.; Gilioli, G. Critical Success Factors for the Adoption of Decision Tools in IPM. *Agronomy* 2019, 9, 710, doi:10.3390/agronomy9110710.
- 66. van den Bosch, F.; Oliver, R.; van den Berg, F.; Paveley, N. Governing principles can guide fungicide-resistance management tactics. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* **2014**, *52*, 175–195, doi:10.1146/annurev-phyto-102313-050158.
- 67. Rotteveel, T.; Jørgensen, L.N.; Heimbach, U. Resistance management in Europe: a preliminary proposal for the determination of a minimum

number of active substances necessary to manage resistance. *Bull. OEPP* **2011**, *41*, 432–438, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2338.2011.02516.x.

- European Parliament. Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2015/408 of 11 March 2015 on implementing Article 80(7) of Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council concerning the placing of plant protection products on the market and establishing a list of candidates for substitution. *Off. J. Eur. Union* 2015, 18–22.
- Zhai, Z. Martínez, J. F.; Beltran, V.; Martínez, N.L. Decision support systems for agriculture 4.0: Survey and challenges. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 2020, 170, 105256, doi:10.1016/j.compag.2020.105256.
- 70. Damos, P. Modular structure of web-based decision support systems for integrated pest management. A review. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.* **2015**, *35*, 1347–1372, doi:10.1007/s13593-015-0319-9.



Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel

Agrar- und Ernährungs-

wissenschaftliche Fakultät

#### Declaration of co-authorship

If a dissertation is based on already published or submitted co-authored articles, a declaration from each of the authors regarding the part of the work done by the doctoral candidate must be enclosed when submitting the dissertation.

1. Doctoral candidate

Name: Ketel Christian Prahl

2. This co-author declaration applies to the following article:

Can Descisssion Support Systems Help to Improve the Suistainable Use of Fungicides in Wheat?

The extent of the doctoral candidate's contribution to the article is assessed on the following scale:

- Has contributed to the work (0-33%) Α.
- Β. Has made a substantial contribution (34-66%)
- C. Did the majority of the work independently (67-100%)

3. Declaration on the individual phases of the scientific work (A,B,C)		
<b>Concept:</b> Formulation of the basic scientific problem based on theoretical questions which require clarification, including a summary of the general questions which, it is assumed, will be answerable via analyses or concrete experiments/investigations		
Planning: Planning of experiments/analyses and formulation of investigative methodology, including choice of method and independent methodological development, in such a way that the scientific questions asked can be expected to be answered		
Execution: Involvement in the analysis or the concrete experiments/investigation		
Manuscript preparation: Presentation, interpretation and discussion of the results obtained in article form	С	

4. Signature of all	co-authors	
Date 14.10.2022	<sup>Name</sup> PD Dr. Holger Klink	Signature
14.10.2022   14.10.2022	Prof. Dr. Mario Hasler I Susanne Hagen	L. M.p.S. S. Hagan
14.10.2022	Prof. Dr. Joseph-Alexander Verreet	I.R.
14.10.2022	Dr. Tim Birr	1-hi

5. Signature of do	ctoral candidate	
Date	Name	Signature
		1,000
14.10.2022	Ketel Christian Prahl	le le los Trach



GENERAL DISCUSSION & FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

# Chapter V GENERAL DISCUSSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The ultimate goal of agriculture is to provide food in sufficient quantity and quality, hence 95% of the global production value are food products and two thirds of the foods are contributed on cereals. Their production is primarily based on the three major crops, namely wheat, rice, and maize, which are the most important staple foods worldwide and account for over 90% of the world cereal production. In the European Union, 99% of the total value of agricultural production is sold as food product, with wheat accounting for more than 50% [1]. Within the European Union, the area harvested has shown a decreasing trend. At the same time, wheat yields have constantly increased since 1961. [2]. The increase in yield is primarily due to the use of fertilizers and pesticides [3]. Despite the strict regulations on pesticides in the European Union, the use of plant protection products is of major concern and the public is demanding more sustainable agricultural production [4–10]. Therefore, the European Union is amending the existing Directive 2009/128/EC [11] on the sustainable use of pesticides with the 'Proposal for a REGULATION OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL on the sustainable use of plant protection products and amending Regulation (EU) 2021/2115' (SUR) [12]. The most incisive change regarding pesticides is that instead of reducing the risk from pesticides, the amended regulation aims to reduce the total amount of pesticide used by 50%.

In general, sustainability is encompassing the economic, social, and environmental (or ecological) dimensions equally [13–18]. In terms of the three dimensions, sustainable agriculture must provide eco-friendly food in adequate quality and quantity at reasonable prices for producers and consumers [19]. In the case of agricultural production, the dimensions are in direct conflict, with the use of pesticides in particular affecting the balance between the dimensions.

Wheat production in general, and in Europe in particular, is severely affected by the occurrence of fungal diseases. The epidemiological progression of foliar diseases is highly dependent on the prevailing weather conditions on the one hand and the agricultural production system on the other [20–22]. The primary objective of an agricultural production system according to integrated pest management (IPM) is to maintain the quality and quantity of the harvested products by preventing diseases. The production system must be adapted to all abiotic (e.g., soil, climate) and biotic (e.g., pathogens, weeds) factors at the location [23,24]. In particular, rust diseases and powdery mildew, as wind-borne diseases, can be reduced by selecting tolerant or resistant cultivars in northern Europe [25-30]. In contrast, diseases which persist on crop residues, such as tan spot, glume blotch, or Septoria tritici blotch can be reduced by appropriate crop rotation and tillage systems [22,31– 34]. For example, tan spot can be expected when reduced tillage and continuous wheat are used simultaneously [22,32,35]. The dilemma for agricultural production systems is that ploughing has a negative effect on soil structure, water balance, or earthworm populations [36–39]. Furthermore, early sowing increases the risk of high initial inoculum of soil-borne diseases, due to increased temperatures and consequently increased fungal activity before winter. In addition, an increase in initial inoculum at the beginning of the growing season in spring can be expected, due to mild winters in maritime weather conditions [40,41]. In contrast, a positive effect on yield can be expected by early sowing, if sufficient precipitation during the late summer is available. Therefore, early sowing is a common agricultural practice [42–46]. The selection of crop rotation, cultivar, tillage system, and sowing date shows the complexity of an agronomic production system. In conclusion, adapting the production system to the prevailing foliar diseases can prevent epidemics to a certain extent. In particular, agronomic prevention of powdery mildew, leaf rust, stripe rust and tan spot is more reliable than the prevention of Septoria tritici blotch which can be reduced, but not avoided.

#### 5.1 Occurrence of Wheat Foliar Diseases

The occurrence of foliar wheat diseases was monitored in a long-term study from 1995 to 2021. Thereby, the agronomic production system was adapted to the eight investigated trial locations in every year of the survey. In Chapter II, the epidemiological data is presented for the major foliar diseases of wheat in northern Germany, namely Septoria tritici blotch, glume blotch, tan spot, powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust. The results demonstrate that Septoria tritici blotch and powdery mildew were consistently present throughout the survey period. In contrast, glume blotch, tan spot, stripe rust, and leaf rust occurred rather inconsistently throughout the 26-year survey. Therefore, the management of foliar diseases by adapting the production system is not sufficient, as conducive weather conditions can lead to high severities of these diseases. The importance of the major diseases has also been shown by other studies in maritime wheat growing areas of central and northern Europe [19,20,47–49]. Within the survey, Septoria tritici blotch was the most predominant disease as it occurred frequently with high disease severity in every year and at every location of the long-term survey (Chapter II).

Under maritime climatic conditions, Septoria tritici blotch is the most important foliar disease of global wheat production and is responsible for significant yield losses in all wheat growing areas [21,40,50,51]. During the survey period, a significant increase in disease severity of Septoria tritici blotch was observed. In order to identify possible reasons for the continuous increase, the disease progression was analysed at a location without any occurrence of other foliar diseases [52–54]. Due to the absence of associated diseases and exactly recorded weather parameters (e.g., temperature, precipitation, leaf wetness) at this trial location a possible influence of climate change on the Septoria tritici blotch disease progression was analysed. A significant increase in the severity of Septoria tritici blotch was observed during the survey period, with a corresponding increase in necrosis, confirming the yield limiting influence of Septoria tritici blotch. According to the trial design, the increase in the severity of Septoria tritici blotch during the study period could be caused by the consistent use of the cultivar "Ritmo" and an adaptation of the pathogen to the cultivar [55], whereas in Chapter IV the less susceptible cultivar "RGT Reform" also showed high disease severity compared to the cultivar "Ritmo". Therefore, an adaptation during the survey is possible, but does not explain the extent of the increase in disease severity of Septoria tritici blotch. Due to the high dependency of Septoria tritici blotch on prevailing weather conditions, a change in climatic conditions at the survey locations is a more plausible explanation for the increase in disease severities during the survey period.

## 5.2 Impact of Climate Change on Septoria Tritici Blotch Disease Progression

In contrast to our results, Gouache et al. [56] simulated a 2-6% decrease in the severity of Septoria tritici blotch in France due to climate change, but with high uncertainty. In contrast, Volk et al. [57] simulated an increase in disease progression. Both scenarios were based on IPCC scenarios. In Chapter III, low correlations were observed between the disease severity and the weather parameters temperature, precipitation, and leaf wetness. The case study demonstrated the importance of precipitation followed by leaf wetness for successful infection (germination, growth of infection hyphae with appressorium development, stomatal leaf penetration). Thereby, the results of the case study are based on assessments under natural field conditions and are therefore influenced by realistic agronomic and environmental conditions,

which increases the general validity of the results. As a result, 3 L/m<sup>2</sup> of precipitation followed by a 36-hours duration of leaf wetness is sufficient to transport the inoculum on the upper leaf layers and complete the infection process. Interestingly, higher amounts of precipitation and longer periods of leaf wetness did not determine the expression of the corresponding infection [58]. During the infection process, the primary influence of temperature is indirect, as the leaf wetness period is shortened, and the infection process is exposed at temperatures below 6 °C and above 25 °C. However, after a successful infection, the temperature during the latency period determines the strength of the corresponding Septoria tritici blotch infection, as the activity of Septoria tritici blotch increases under higher temperatures and decreases under lower temperatures [50,59,60]. Therefore, Septoria tritici blotch is highly dependent on the prevailing weather conditions and conducive conditions are primarily found in maritime climates [44,50]. In Chapter III, a temporal expansion of conducive Septoria tritici blotch conditions from May to June was observed. The number of conducive conditions in May remained constant over the survey period, but an increase was observed in June. Due to obviously higher temperatures in June as in May, Septoria tritici blotch infections showed an increased severity, which resulted consequently in higher disease severities. Therefore, the enhanced expression of Septoria tritici blotch throughout the survey period can be attributed to the temporal extension of conducive conditions. In addition to the increased strength of Septoria tritici blotch infections, higher temperatures shorten the latency period between infection and epidemic outbreak [61], allowed more infections to occur during the growing season. Consequently, Septoria tritici blotch infections occurred later in the growing season under warmer conditions with an increased epidemiological potential [59,62,63]. As a result, a higher temperature after a successful infection increases the disease pressure of Septoria tritici blotch in northern Europe and therefore an impact of climate change cannot be excluded.

Since 1881, the global temperature increase has been about 1.0 °C with regional temperature changes differing from the global average [64]. The temperature increase in Germany was 1.5 °C due to higher temperatures after the year 2000 [65]. According to climate change simulations, a further increase in temperature can be expected even if greenhouse gas emissions are not taken into account [66]. In the simulations the extent of the temperature increase is linked to the emitted greenhouse gases in the future. Four Representative Concentration Pathways (RCP), namely RCP 2.6, RCP 4.5, RCP 6.0, and RCP 8.5 were presented for climate modelling and research in

the Fifth Assessment Report of the IPCC [67]. Depending on the RCP, air temperature increases of 1.0 to 5.5 °C have been simulated for northern Europe by 2100 (based on the period 1971 to 2000) [66]. According to the German National Meteorological Service (Deutscher Wetterdienst) the coastal regions of Germany, the Netherlands and France will be less affected by the climate change, with a calculated increase of 0.2 to 0.5 °C [68]. In addition, there is a general increase in the risk of weather phenomena (e.g., heat waves, droughts), which is consistent with our results in the form of an increased variance of the measured temperature during the survey period at the trial location. As shown in Chapter III, the initial infestation is of minor importance for the overall epidemiological development of Septoria tritici blotch. For Septoria tritici blotch, not only the regionality of the climate, but rather the seasonality of the climate is of major importance. In particular, the climate of the spring season (April to June) determines the epidemiological behaviour of Septoria tritici blotch [40,69,70]. IPCC climate simulations showed a seasonal and regional increase in precipitation and temperature during the spring season in northern Europe [71–73], although only the increase in precipitation was observed in the study. Therefore, there is an influence of climate change on the progression of Septoria tritici blotch, and if temperature and precipitation follow the IPCC predictions, an increase in the severity of Septoria tritici blotch can be expected.

Under the assumption that temperature and precipitation increase during the spring growing season, diseases adapted to higher temperatures may become more important. A similar shift was observed at the beginning of the longterm survey. Glume blotch was the most predominant disease in German wheat production in the 1980s [23,74]. At the beginning of the 1990's Septoria tritici blotch displaced glume blotch as the most predominant disease [75–77]. This shift has been attributed to susceptible cultivars, early sowing, increased nitrogen fertilisation, increased summer precipitation and a differential response to certain fungicides [77–79]. This has been confirmed in the survey, as glume blotch occurred with low but relevant disease severities in the very first years of the survey. Only very low disease severities were recorded thereafter and since 2012 glume blotch has not been observed at all (Chapter II). A similar shift is conceivable as interactions between the occurring foliar diseases are possible, as described by Jesus Junior et al. [52]. As shown in Chapter II, leaf rust severity increased in the last years of the survey and was the most important concomitant disease after Septoria tritici blotch during the survey, while leaf rust was inconsistently assessed from year to year. In contrast to the interaction between Septoria tritici blotch and glume blotch, leaf rust is a biotrophic pathogen and is dependent on green leaf tissue. Therefore, Septoria tritici blotch inhibits the disease development of leaf rust. Similar to Septoria tritici blotch, leaf rust disease progression is expected to increase with temperature [58]. However, at temperatures above 25°C inhibition of Septoria tritici blotch growth has been observed under laboratory conditions [59]. Consequently, a shift in dominance from Septoria tritici blotch to leaf rust is unlikely, as even under the most intense RCP 8.5 scenario the mean daily temperature in northern Europe will not exceed 25°C during the growing season [71,80]. Therefore, Septoria tritici blotch is expected to remain the most important disease under maritime conditions. In addition, a further increase in disease pressure of Septoria tritici blotch in wheat production can be expected, if the development of temperature and precipitation follows the climate change simulations.

### 5.3 Efficacy of Disease Management under Maritime Climatic Conditions

As aforementioned, foliar disease epidemics are possible under conducive weather conditions, despite optimized agronomic practices [22]. In order to maintain yields and thus sustainability, the use of chemical crop protection products (in this case fungicides) is essential. Therefore, according to the principles of IPM, pesticides as part of an agronomic production system should only be used as a last option to control pests [23,24,81]. Furthermore, the use of pesticides is essential for the economic and social sustainability of agricultural products, as the quality (e.g., mycotoxin contamination) and quantity (e.g., yield) of the harvested crop can only be achieved costeffectively with the appropriate use of chemical pesticides [19-21,82-84]. The total amount of pesticides sold in the European Union has remained stable over the last decade [85]. About one third (33%, 10464 tons) of all pesticides sold annually in Germany (31314 tons) were fungicides (excluding inert gases; herbicides 52%, insecticides 3%, others 12%) [86]. Of these, 13% of fungicides, 30% of insecticides and 6% of herbicides were used unnecessarily, mainly due to non-optimised application timing [87–89]. As a result, the highest potential in pesticide reductions is on fungicides, as they are unnecessary used in high quantities, considering both the total amount used and unnecessary use. In the case of fungicides, use should then be based on threshold to avoid significant yield losses [61,63,90,91]. In conclusion, fungicides have the greatest potential to reduce overall pesticide use.

In Chapter II, the biological-epidemiological thresholds of Verreet et al. [80] were evaluated from 1995 to 2021 for their effectiveness in reducing the

severity of foliar diseases. The WAUDPC values of the threshold-based application system for Septoria tritici blotch, powdery mildew, stripe rust and leaf rust were significantly reduced over the entire survey period. Due to the lack of agronomic tools such as resistant cultivars, fungicides were primarily used for the control of Septoria tritici blotch during the survey period. This suggests that threshold-based fungicide applications were effective, which also has been confirmed by other studies [19,21,92–94]. However, there has been a decline in the control of Septoria tritici blotch. Compared to earlier periods of this long-term study, no significant control of this pathogen has been achieved in recent years (Chapter II). This development must be of concern to agricultural practice, as there has been an apparent change in the disease behaviour [95-98]. Reduced fungicide efficacy may be due to loss of sensitivity of the pathogen to the different fungicide classes. A long-term study by Birr et al [99] showed a significant loss of fungicidal efficacy of triazoles against Septoria tritici blotch in the same region, which has now stabilized at a lower efficacy level. This has been confirmed in studies from other countries and must be considered a global effect [100–103]. In contrast, Klink et al [94] was able to demonstrate a stable sensitivity of Septoria tritici blotch to mefentrifluconazole with its flexible isopropanol group over the last decades. It appears to be less affected by the mutation in the CYP51 gene of Septoria tritici blotch [98], which is important for resistance management in current agricultural practices. Septoria tritici blotch has achieved complete resistance to the fungicide group of quinone outside inhibitors [104,105]. Similarly, the carboxamides (succinate-dehydrogenase inhibitors), as a relatively new group of fungicides, are subject to a continuing loss of efficacy [82]. Thus, the loss of sensitivity to Septoria tritici blotch towards several fungicide groups must be considered critical, as both the number of available fungicides [106] and the efficacy of the remaining fungicides are continuously decreasing. Similar trends in loss of sensitivity have recently been observed for other diseases such as powdery mildew [107].

In order to assess the effectiveness of a biological-epidemiological thresholdbased system, the impact on yield must be assessed in addition to the impact on leaf diseases. This has been shown in Chapter II for the threshold-based system according to Verreet et al. [24] for the period from 1995 to 2021 at eight locations in northern Germany. The yield of the biological-epidemiological treatment was compared to the yield of an untreated control and a healthy standard treatment. Due to the continuous foliar protection throughout the growing season, it can be assumed that the standard healthy treatment represents the yield potential of the cultivar at the location. In addition, the

#### Chapter V

untreated control was an indicator of disease progression at each location and in each year of the study. Averaged over the 26 years of the study, under standardised conditions (same variety, same location), a 20% reduction in yield was observed in the untreated control compared with the standard healthy treatment. Furthermore, the biological-epidemiological system was not statistically inferior to the healthy standard treatment. As aforementioned, Septoria tritici blotch was the most predominant disease throughout the study and consequently accounted for the highest yield losses. In studies from other regions with maritime conditions, such as northern France, Ireland or the UK, Septoria tritici blotch was also the most important yield-reducing disease with even higher losses of up to 50% in wheat production recorded [40,44,108–111]. Due to the high yield levels in northern Europe compared to the rest of the world, yield losses caused by foliar diseases are comparable to Australian yields [2]. In summary, the use of a biological-epidemiological system has archived an adequate reduction in the occurrence of foliar diseases, while utilizing the yield potential of the sites evaluated.

For the control of foliar diseases during the survey period, the agronomic production system was optimized for the suppression of foliar diseases, therefore powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust occurred in minor disease severities, hence the use of fungicides during the growing season was primarily for the control of Septoria tritici blotch. Despite of non-inferiority in yield to the healthy standard treatment, the biological-epidemiological system showed a significant reduction in the amount of fungicide active ingredient (a.i./ha) by two-thirds compared with the healthy standard treatment averaged over the survey period of 26 years (Chapter II). This demonstrates the excellence of biological-epidemiological approaches for foliar disease control. The reduction of fungicides has been achieved due to an optimal timing of fungicide application at the most sensitive stages of the disease epidemic. As a result, applications applied too early reduce the protective performance, while applications applied too late reduce the curative performance of fungicides [24,93,112,113]. Consequently, either early or late applications reduce the efficacy of fungicides, leading to the use of higher doses to compensate for the loss of efficacy. Optimizing the timing and effectiveness of fungicide applications is a major challenge for current farming practices [24,93,114]. As shown in Chapter IV, the use of biologicalepidemiological decision support systems (DSS) for optimized timing of fungicide applications is recommended, but not comprehensively established [88,93,109,115]. Over the past decades, numerous DSSs for foliar disease control have been published by universities, federal institutions, or companies [109]. However, the published DSSs vary considerably in their degree of transparency, which is one of the reasons for the non-comprehensive establishment of DSSs in common agricultural practice [109]. In general, the thresholds and algorithms of scientific and governmental institutions provide a high degree of transparency compared to commercial systems. As also shown in Chapter IV, the scientific and federal DSSs (IPM and ISIP) showed full transparency compared to the commercial DSS (xarvio<sup>®</sup>) [24,116,117]. In addition, the requirements for disease diagnosis vary considerably between DSSs [109,118]. Therefore, all DSS considered implemented diagnosis by regional observation in the study area. In general, any fungicide use in the European Union is only justified if an indicator disease occurs [11], and therefore disease diagnosis is required in farm practice. Nevertheless, diagnostic problems are a common reason for refusal of DSS [109,118]. Another reason for the low implementation of DSS in common farm practice may be the additional workload for farmers in terms of sampling, diagnosis and effort [119]. Apart from the above reasons, the major concern of farmers is yield-stability when DSSs determine the timing of their fungicide application [120].

In Chapter IV, three DSS were evaluated for their ability to control foliar diseases and protect yield potential in two different susceptible cultivars (cv. "RGT Reform" and cv. "Ritmo") under maritime conditions at three locations in northern Germany from 2019 to 2021. As expected, cultivar susceptibility varied, as indicated by the data from the foliar disease evaluations (Chapter IV). In particular, the cultivar "RGT Reform" was less susceptible to foliar diseases than the cultivar "Ritmo" with the exception of stripe rust. The different susceptibilities to foliar diseases were therefore confirmed from the untreated control. Disease severities of stripe rust and leaf rust were significantly reduced due to the selection of a less susceptible cultivar, confirming the importance of an optimized agronomic production system [49,121–125]. In contrast, the suppressive effect of cultivar resistance on disease severities of Septoria tritici blotch was only rudimentary in the study. Other commercially available cultivars with low susceptibilities to all diseases are either not adapted to local conditions and therefore less productive or have lower yield potential [126]. Therefore, fungicides are essential to maintain quality and quantity of yield, as long as aforementioned cultivars are not available.

Current legislation only allows the use of fungicides when there is evidence of considerable disease in the crop. Determining such a yield-limiting infection is a major challenge for agronomic practice. Biologicalepidemiological thresholds have been developed to indicate the level of infestation required to break even [23,24,93]. In general, DSSs are based on these biological-epidemiological thresholds. As shown in Chapter IV, all DSSs showed high efficacy in reducing foliar diseases at each location and in each year of the study. Despite their minor inferiority in disease suppression compared to the healthy standard treatment, no significant differences in yield were observed between the DSS and healthy-standard treatments. This suggests that the full potential of the crop was utilized, even when disease severity was low. By applying pathogen-specific fungicides during most sensitive phase, the highest efficacy in fungicide use can be achieved. Therefore, low disease severities are tolerable in the disease suppression strategy in common farm practice. In Chapter IV, minor deviations were observed in the disease suppression efficacy of the DSS treatments compared to the healthy-standard treatment. In the trial, efficacy in suppressing necrosis, powdery mildew and Septoria tritici blotch varied constantly from the healthy-standard control with differences at a low level. As a result, all DSS tested adequately reduced disease severities of all foliar diseases and the full yield potential of location and cultivar in each year of the study was shown. Additionally, the amount of fungicide used to control foliar diseases was halved with the use of DSSs compared to healthy-standard treatment. As the purpose of the healthy standard treatment was to show the full yield potential, compared to common farm practices a relatively high amount of fungicides was used to ensure a maximum in disease protection. Therefore, the active ingredients used in the healthy-standard treatment are not directly transferable to common farm practices. Dachbrodt-Saaydeh [87] showed in a 10-year study in Germany that a treatment frequency index (TFI) of 2.5 full doses was necessary to control prevailing foliar diseases. The use of DSSs resulted in a further reduction in the TFI with observed TFIs ranging from 1.65 to 2.36. This shows that a further optimization of the fungicides used in common farm practices is possible, in particular by the use of DSSs to determine the optimal application dates. In conclusion, the number of fungicide applications was reduced significantly compared to the healthystandard treatment and to common north German farm practices by avoiding unnecessary treatments due to optimized timing of fungicide application by DSSs. In addition, the yield potential has been exploited to a degree that maximizes revenue.
## 5.4 Resistance Management by DSS

In general, reducing the number of sprays also reduces the risk of resistance development due to extension of fungicide activity [115,127-129]. As the amount of fungicides used and the number of sprays to control foliar diseases was significantly reduced by DSS, it can be assumed that the use of DSS also reduces the risk of fungicide resistance. This was achieved by optimising the timing of applications through the use of DSSs. In the long-term study, a continuous decline in efficacy was observed throughout the study period, particularly in the control of Septoria tritici blotch (Chapter II). A possible explanation for the decline in efficacy is that the efficacy of DSS is directly related to the efficacy of commercial fungicides. As the amount of fungicides used to control foliar diseases was significantly reduced by DSS, it can be assumed that the use of DSS reduces the risk of fungicide resistance. In the long-term study, a continuous decline in efficacy was observed throughout the study period, particularly in the control of Septoria tritici blotch. A possible explanation for the decline in efficacy is the increased disease pressure of Septoria tritici blotch as described in Chapter III. Another possibility is that the efficacy of DSS is directly related to the efficacy of commercial fungicides. The sensitivity of rust diseases to commercial fungicides is still at a sufficient level [130], but a decrease in efficacy against Septoria tritici blotch and powdery mildew has been observed [94,99,107]. This was confirmed by the results in Chapter IV, which showed high efficacy in controlling rust diseases compared to Septoria tritici blotch and powdery mildew. It can therefore be assumed that the lack of efficacy is due to both reduced fungicide efficacy and increased disease pressure. With the EU Regulation 2015/408 [106] establishing a list of candidates for substitution of plant protection products on the market, the number of available fungicides is decreasing, leading to increased disease pressure on the remaining fungicides, which increases the risk of loss of sensitivity. As a result, fungicides need to be applied earlier in the disease development process to maintain efficacy. Biological-epidemiological thresholds must therefore be adjusted, resulting in earlier DSS recommendations and consequently an increase in total fungicide use. The restrictions imposed by the European Union are therefore contrary to their original purpose.

# 5.5 Improved Sustainability of Fungicide Use by Decision Support Systems

As mentioned at the beginning of this chapter, sustainability encompasses economic, social, and environmental considerations [13-18]. With regard to pesticides as used currently in agriculture, an improvement of sustainability is possible. Historically, pesticides have already improved the sustainability of agriculture, particularly in Europe. Since the 1960's, the productivity of the agriculture has increased continuously based European on the implementation of fertilisers and pesticides into agronomic practices. As a result, the productivity of wheat, the most widely grown and important staple crop in Europe, has increased. Consequently, the social sustainability dimension was increased by providing food in adequate quantities and quality using chemical crop protection. Fungicides have made a major contribution to this increase in productivity by protecting crops from the emergence of diseases which adversely affect yields and quality. Today, approximately 10% (770 million people) of the total population were undernourished worldwide [131]. As a result of the worldwide trade flows, the agricultural production in Europe has an impact on the nutrition status of the global population [132]. Due to which political restrictions regarding plant protection products also affect the global food supply.

In contrast, each application of plant protection products results in the release of active substances into the ecosystems of the application site, which has an impact on the environmental sustainability dimension of agricultural production [133–138]. Although pesticides are a highly regulated group of chemicals in terms of environmental risk, there is increasing evidence of their detrimental ecological effects (e.g., biodiversity in agricultural landscapes) [133,138]. Insecticides (e.g., neonicotinoids), herbicides (e.g., glyphosate), and fungicides (e.g., chlorothalonil) are the majority of pesticides in use that are considered to have adverse ecological effects [138–142]. In general, pesticides are deposited into ecosystems in agricultural regions and are subsequently metabolised in the ecosystem to various metabolites. The effects of all emerging metabolites, and in particular the effects of interacting metabolites, are not yet fully understood. For this reason, the planned reduction of pesticides by EU Regulation 2021/2115 [12] is beneficial for the environmental dimension of sustainability. However, the social and economic dimensions of sustainability have not been taken into account, as there will be a loss of productivity [19]. As described in Chapter II [21], a system based on biological-epidemiological thresholds can optimize the use of fungicides.

At present, agricultural commodity prices are highly volatile, so a large increase in wheat price could lead to a similar increased fungicide rate to maximize productivity. In Chapter II and IV most profitable treatments for different scenarios with different fungicide cost structures and wheat prices for all tested DSSs, the untreated control, and the healthy standard treatment are shown. In these different scenarios the benefits of DSS over the untreated control and the healthy standard treatment is evident for a very high range of costs and wheat prices. Economic benefits of DSSs have also been shown by Verreet et al. [24] and Jørgensen et al. [109]. Due to the use of fungicides the efficacy of agricultural production increases and higher margins can be achieved, which improves the ecological dimension of sustainability. In addition, the quality and quantity of food can remain on the current level, which preserves the social sustainability dimension on its high level. Furthermore, the release of active substances into the environment is decreased to a minimum extent, which increases the environmental dimension of sustainability. In conclusion, the use of biologicalepidemiological decision support systems can improve the sustainability of fungicide use in all three sustainability dimensions.

# 5.6 Future Perspectives

As part of the planned 'Farm to Fork' strategy, a component of the European 'Green Deal', the SUR envisages a general 50% reduction in total pesticide use by 2030 [12]. As shown in chapter II and IV, productivity losses can be expected in the future if the planned proposal is implemented in the EU [143]. With an expected loss of 20% in European wheat production the resulting gap will lead to a decrease in exports and even an import of wheat in Europe. To close the gap new farmland or increased productivity is needed to maintain production, but this is not possible for European agriculture as there is already a shortage of farmland and important tools for increasing productivity in agricultural production are regulated [3,143,144]. Furthermore, the use of pesticides in general has an impact on the quality of the harvested products. This can be the contamination of the crop by the pesticide itself or by natural contamination (e.g., mycotoxins). Thereby, the problems, such as mycotoxin contamination of cereals, making them unsuitable for human or animal consumption [82,83]. Additionally, the 'Farm to Fork' strategy has a negative impact on aggregate consumer surplus and a net increase or decrease in producer surplus, resulting in an overall net welfare loss [145]. In conclusion, the general reduction of pesticides by 50% in the EU will have an impact on global nutrition and a negative impact on the sustainability of agricultural production in Europe.

Rather than reducing pesticides across the board, improved land use and optimised agricultural practices can sustainably reduce pesticide inputs to the environment. In particular, solutions should be based on critical biological and economic 'leverage points' in agricultural systems, where with the least effort and cost, major improvements in food production or environmental performance can be achieved. As shown in Chapter IV, improvements such as DSSs effectively reduce the use of pesticides without compromising food safety. With better data, e.g., meteorological-, epidemiological- and biologicaldata, DSSs can further be developed in order to improve management environmental performance decisions, productivity, and [146]. Understanding the biological-epidemiological disease behaviour under agronomic and environmental conditions in the field is essential for effective and sustainable disease management and wheat production.

### 5.7 References

- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. *Value of Agricultural Production.*: *License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO*; Rome, Italy, 2022. Available online: https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QV (accessed on 10 February 2023).
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Crops and livestock products.: License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; Rome, Italy, 2022. Available online: https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL/visualize (accessed on 10 February 2023).
- Hossard, L.; Philibert, A.; Bertrand, M.; Colnenne-David, C.; Debaeke, P.; Munier-Jolain, N.; Jeuffroy, M.H.; Richard, G.; Makowski, D. Effects of halving pesticide use on wheat production. *Sci. Rep.* 2014, *4*, 4405, doi:10.1038/srep04405.
- 4. Simoglou, K.B.; Roditakis, E. Consumers' Benefit—Risk Perception on Pesticides and Food Safety—A Survey in Greece. *Agriculture* **2022**, *12*, 192, doi:10.3390/agriculture12020192.
- Lefkowitz, R.J. Identification of adenylate cyclase-coupled betaadrenergic receptors with radiolabeled beta-adrenergic antagonists. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 1975, 24, 1651–1658, doi:10.1016/0006-2952(75)90001-5.
- Ahmed, N.; Englund, J.-E.; Ahman, I.; Lieberg, M.; Johansson, E. Perception of pesticide use by farmers and neighbors in two periurban areas. *Sci. Total Environ.* 2011, 412-413, 77–86, doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.10.022.
- Hirsch, R.A.; Baxter, J. Context, cultural bias, and health risk perception: the "everyday" nature of pesticide policy preferences in London, Calgary, and Halifax. *Risk. Anal.* 2011, *31*, 847–865, doi:10.1111/j.1539-6924.2010.01560.x.
- 8. Ekström, G.; Hemming, H.; Palmborg, M. Swedish pesticide risk reduction 1981-1995: food residues, health hazard, and reported poisonings. *Rev. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* **1996**, *147*, 119–147, doi:10.1007/978-1-4612-4058-7\_4.
- 9. Goldman, L.R.; Koduru, S. Chemicals in the environment and developmental toxicity to children: a public health and policy perspective. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **2000**, *108 Suppl 3*, 443–448, doi:10.1289/ehp.00108s3443.
- 10. Litchfield, M.H. Estimates of acute pesticide poisoning in agricultural workers in less developed countries. *Toxicol. Rev.* **2005**, *24*, 271–278, doi:10.2165/00139709-200524040-00006.

#### Chapter V

- 11. European Parliament. Directive 2009/128/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 October 2009 establishing a framework for Community action to achieve the sustainable use of pesticides. *Off. J. Eur. Union* **2009**, 1–25.
- 12. European Commission; Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety. Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on the sustainable use of plant protection products and amending Regulation (EU) 2021/2115. *Off. J. Eur. Union* **2022**, 2022, 1–71.
- 13. Barbier, E.B. The Concept of Sustainable Economic Development. *Envir. Conserv.* **1987**, *14*, 101–110, doi:10.1017/s0376892900011449.
- 14. Purvis, B.; Mao, Y.; Robinson, D. Three pillars of sustainability: in search of conceptual origins. *Sustain. Sci.* **2019**, *14*, 681–695, doi:10.1007/s11625-018-0627-5.
- 15. Stirling, A. The appraisal of sustainability: Some problems and possible responses. *Local Environ.* **1999**, *4*, 111–135, doi:10.1080/13549839908725588.
- 16. Lehtonen, M. The environmental–social interface of sustainable development: capabilities, social capital, institutions. *Ecol. Econ.* **2004**, *49*, 199–214, doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2004.03.019.
- Carter, K.; Moir, S. Diagrammatic Representations of Sustainability a Review and Synthesis. In *Proceedings 28<sup>th</sup> Annual ARCOM Conference*: 3-5 September 2012, Edinburgh, UK; Smith, S.D., Ed.; Association of Researchers in Construction Management: UK, 2012, ISBN 978-0-9552390-6-9.
- 18. Mori, K.; Christodoulou, A. Review of sustainability indices and indicators: Towards a new City Sustainability Index (CSI). *Environ. Impact Assess. Rev* **2012**, *32*, 94–106, doi:10.1016/j.eiar.2011.06.001.
- Prahl, K.C.; Klink, H.; Hasler, M.; Hagen, S.; Verreet, J.-A.; Birr, T. Can Decision Support Systems Help Improve the Sustainable Use of Fungicides in Wheat? *Sustainability* 2022, 14, 15599, doi:10.3390/su142315599.
- Figueroa, M.; Hammond-Kosack, K.E.; Solomon, P.S. A review of wheat diseases-a field perspective. *Mol. Plant. Pathol.* 2018, 19, 1523–1536, doi:10.1111/mpp.12618.
- Klink, H.; Prahl, K.C.; Hasler, M.; Verreet, J.-A.; Birr, T. Efficiency and Effectivity of a Biological–Epidemiological Fungal Disease Management System in Wheat—A Study of 26 Years. *Agriculture* 2022, *12*, 1099, doi:10.3390/agriculture12081099.

- 22. Bankina, B.; Bimšteine, G.; Arhipova, I.; Kaņeps, J.; Stanka, T. Importance of Agronomic Practice on the Control of Wheat Leaf Diseases. *Agriculture* **2018**, *8*, 56, doi:10.3390/agriculture8040056.
- 23. Verreet, J.-A.; Hoffmann G. M. A Biologically Oriented Threshold Decision Model for Control of Eflemics of *Septoria nodorum* in Wheat. *Plant Dis.* **1990**, 731–738.
- Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H.; Hoffmann, G.M. Regional Monitoring for Disease Prediction and Optimization of Plant Protection Measuares: The IPM Wheat Model. *Plant Dis.* 2000, 84, 816–826, doi:10.1094/PDIS.2000.84.8.816.
- 25. Draz, I.S.; Esmail, S.M.; Abou-Zeid, M.H.; Essa, T.M. Powdery mildew susceptibility of spring wheat cultivars as a major constraint on grain yield. *Ann. Agric. Sci.* **2019**, *64*, 39–45, doi:10.1016/j.aoas.2019.05.007.
- 26. Bundessortenamt. Beschreibende Sortenliste Getreide, Mais Öl- und Faserpflanzen Leguminosen Rüben Zwischenfrüchte 2018; Deutscher Landwirtschaftsverlag: Hannover, Germany, 2018, ISBN 21 90-61 30.
- 27. Conner, R.L.; Kuzyk, A.D.; Su, H. Impact of powdery mildew on the yield of soft white spring wheat cultivars. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* **2003**, *83*, 725–728, doi:10.4141/P03-043.
- Ye, X.; Zhang, S.; Li, S.; Wang, J.; Chen, H.; Wang, K.; Lin, Z.; Wei, Y.; Du, L.; Yan, Y. Improvement of three commercial spring wheat varieties for powdery mildew resistance by marker-assisted selection. *Crop Prot.* 2019, *125*, 104889, doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2019.104889.
- Singh, R.P.; William H.; Huerta-Espino, J.; Rosewarne, G. Wheat Rust in Asia: Meeting the Challenges with Old and New Technologies. In *New directions for a diverse planet: Proceedings of the 4<sup>th</sup> International Crop Science Congress*; International Crop Science Society, Ed.; Brisbane, Australia, 2004, ISBN 1-920842-21-7.
- van Ginkel, M.; Rajaram, S. Breeding for Durable Resistance to Diseases in Wheat: An International Perspective. In *Durability of Disease Resistance*; Jacobs, T., Parlevliet, J.E., Eds.; Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht, Netherlands, 1993; pp 259–272, ISBN 978-94-010-4885-9.
- Jalli, M.; Huusela, E.; Jalli, H.; Kauppi, K.; Niemi, M.; Himanen, S.; Jauhiainen, L. Effects of Crop Rotation on Spring Wheat Yield and Pest Occurrence in Different Tillage Systems: A Multi-Year Experiment in Finnish Growing Conditions. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* 2021, 5, doi:10.3389/fsufs.2021.647335.
- 32. Jørgensen, L.N.; Olsen, L.V. Control of tan spot (*Drechslera tritici-repentis*) using cultivar resistance, tillage methods and fungicides. *Crop Prot.* **2007**, *26*, 1606–1616, doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2007.01.009.

- Moffat, C.S.; Santana, F.M. Diseases affecting wheat: tan spot. In Integrated Disease Management of Wheat and Barley Burleigh Dodds Series in Agricultural Science; Oliver, R.P., Ed.; Burleigh Dodds Science Publishing: Cambridge, UK, 2019; pp 95–107, ISBN 978-1-78676-216-0.
- 34. Cotuna, O.; Paraschivu, M.; Paraschivu A.M.; Sărățeanu, V. The influence of tillage, crop rotation and residue management on tan spot (*Drechslera tritici repentis* Died. Shoemaker) in winter wheat. *Res. J. Agric. Sci.* **2015**, 13–21.
- Orellana-Torrejon, C.; Vidal, T.; Boixel, A.-L.; Gélisse, S.; Saint-Jean, S.; Suffert, F. Annual dynamics of *Zymoseptoria tritici* populations in wheat cultivar mixtures: A compromise between the efficacy and durability of a recently broken-down resistance gene? *Plant Pathol.* 2022, *71*, 289–303, doi:10.1111/ppa.13458.
- Cookson, W.R.; Murphy, D.V.; Roper, M.M. Characterizing the relationships between soil organic matter components and microbial function and composition along a tillage disturbance gradient. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 2008, 40, 763–777, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.10.011.
- Pelosi, C.; Pey, B.; Caro, G.; Cluzeau, D.; Peigné, J.; Bertrand, M.; Hedde, M. Dynamics of earthworm taxonomic and functional diversity in ploughed and no-tilled cropping systems. *Soil Tillage Res.* 2016, 156, 25– 32, doi:10.1016/j.still.2015.07.016.
- Peigné, J.; Vian, J.F.; Payet, V.; Saby, N.P. Soil fertility after 10 years of conservation tillage in organic farming. *Soil Tillage Res.* 2018, 175, 194– 204, doi:10.1016/j.still.2017.09.008.
- 39. Soane, B.D.; Ball, B.C.; Arvidsson, J.; Basch, G.; Moreno, F.; Roger-Estrade, J. No-till in northern, western and south-western Europe: A review of problems and opportunities for crop production and the environment. *Soil Tillage Res.* **2012**, *118*, 66–87, doi:10.1016/j.still.2011.10.015.
- 40. Fones, H.N.; Gurr, S.J. The impact of Septoria tritici Blotch disease on wheat: An EU perspective. *Fungal Genet. Biol.* **2015**, *79*, 3–7, doi:10.1016/j.fgb.2015.04.004.
- 41. Daamen, R.A.; Stol, W. Survey of cereal diseases and petts in the Netherlands. 5. Occurrence of Septoria spp. in winter wheat. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.* **1992**, *98*, 369–376, doi:10.1007/BF01974464.
- Cho, K.; Falloon, P.; Gornall, J.; Betts, R.; Clark, R. Winter wheat yields in the UK: uncertainties in climate and management impacts. *Clim. Res.* 2012, 54, 49–68, doi:10.3354/cr01085.

- 43. Aula, L.; Easterly, A.C.; Creech, C.F. Winter Wheat Seeding Decisions for Improved Grain Yield and Yield Components. *Agronomy* **2022**, *12*, 3061, doi:10.3390/agronomy12123061.
- 44. Henze, M.; Beyer, M.; Klink, H.; Verreet, J.-A. Characterizing Meteorological Scenarios Favorable for *Septoria tritici* Infections in Wheat and Estimation of Latent Periods. *Plant Dis.* **2007**, *91*, 1445–1449, doi:10.1094/PDIS-91-11-1445.
- Murray, G.M.; Martin, R.H.; Cullis, B.R. Relationship of the severity of Septoria tritici blotch of wheat to sowing time, rainfall at heading and average susceptibility of wheat cultivars in the area. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 1990, *41*, 307, doi:10.1071/AR9900307.
- Hardwick, N.V.; Jones, D.R.; Slough, J.E. Factors affecting diseases of winter wheat in England and Wales, 1989-98. *Plant Pathol.* 2001, *50*, 453– 462, doi:10.1046/j.1365-3059.2001.00596.x.
- 47. Bouma, E. Development of comparable agro-climatic zones for the international exchange of data on the efficacy and crop safety of plant protection products. *Bull. OEPP* **2005**, *35*, 233–238, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2338.2005.00830.x.
- 48. Turner, J.A.; Chantry, T.; Taylor, M.C.; Kennedy, M.C. Changes in agronomic practices and incidence and severity of diseases in winter wheat in England and Wales between 1999 and 2019. *Plant Pathol.* **2021**, 70, 1759–1778, doi:10.1111/ppa.13433.
- 49. Aboukhaddour, R.; Fetch, T.; McCallum, B.D.; Harding, M.W.; Beres, B.L.; Graf, R.J. Wheat diseases on the prairies: A Canadian story. *Plant Pathol.* **2020**, *69*, 418–432, doi:10.1111/ppa.13147.
- Chungu, C.; Gilbert, J.; Townley-Smith, F. Septoria tritici Blotch Development as Affected by Temperature, Duration of Leaf Wetness, Inoculum Concentration, and Host. *Plant Dis.* 2001, *85*, 430–435, doi:10.1094/PDIS.2001.85.4.430.
- 51. Ponomarenko, A.; Goodwin, S.B.; Kema, K. Septoria tritici blotch (STB) of wheat. *Plant Health Instr.* **2011**, doi:10.1094/PHI-I-2011-0407-01.
- 52. Jesus Junior, W.C.; Paula Júnior, T.J.; Lehner, M.S.; Hau, B. Interactions between foliar diseases: concepts and epidemiological approaches. *Trop. plant pathol.* **2014**, *39*, 1–18, doi:10.1590/S1982-56762014000100002.
- 53. Garin, G.; Pradal, C.; Fournier, C.; Claessen, D.; Houlès, V.; Robert, C. Modelling interaction dynamics between two foliar pathogens in wheat: a multi-scale approach. *Ann. Bot.* **2018**, *121*, 927–940, doi:10.1093/aob/mcx186.
- 54. Willocquet, L.; Aubertot, J.-N.; Lebard, S.; Robert, C.; Lannou, C.; Savary, S. Simulating multiple pest damage in varying winter wheat

production situations. *Field Crops Res.* **2008**, 107, 12–28, doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2007.12.013.

- McDonald, B.A.; Mundt, C.C. How Knowledge of Pathogen Population Biology Informs Management of Septoria Tritici Blotch. *Phytopathology* 2016, 106, 948–955, doi:10.1094/PHYTO-03-16-0131-RVW.
- Gouache, D.; Bensadoun, A.; Brun, F.; Pagé, C.; Makowski, D.; Wallach, D. Modelling climate change impact on Septoria tritici blotch (STB) in France: Accounting for climate model and disease model uncertainty. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 2013, 170, 242–252, doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2012.04.019.
- 57. Volk, T.; Epke, K.; Gerstner, V.; Leuthner, C.; Rotterdam, A.; Johnen, A.; Richthofen, S. von. Klimawandel in Nordrhein-Westfalen – Auswirkungen auf Schädlinge und Pilzkrankheiten wichtiger Ackerbaukulturen. Available online: https://www.lanuv.nrw.de/fileadmin/lanuv/klimaanpassung/dokumen te/bericht\_

klimawandel\_schaedlinge.pdf (accessed on 28 January 2023).

- 58. Klöhn, H. Populationsgenetische Erhebungen von Weizenpathogenen zur Entwicklung eines lernfähigen, telemetriefähigen Gerätesystems zur Pflanzenschutzoptimierung anhand des Modellpathogens Septoria tritici. PhD Thesis; Christian-Albrechts-Universiät: Kiel, 2011.
- Chaloner, T.M.; Fones, H.N.; Varma, V.; Bebber, D.P.; Gurr, S.J. A new mechanistic model of weather-dependent Septoria tritici blotch disease risk. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond., B, Biol. Sci.* 2019, 374, 20180266, doi:10.1098/rstb.2018.0266.
- 60. Lovell, D.J.; Hunter, T.; Powers, S.J.; Parker, S.R.; van den Bosch, F. Effect of temperature on latent period of septoria leaf blotch on winter wheat under outdoor conditions. *Plant Pathology* **2004**, *53*, 170–181, doi:10.1111/j.0032-0862.2004.00983.x.
- 61. Beyer, M.; Pallez-Barthel, M.; Dam, D.; Hoffmann, L.; El Jarroudi, M. Enhancing septoria leaf blotch forecasts in winter wheat I: the effect of temperature on the temporal distance between critical rainfall periods and the breaking of the control threshold. *J. Plant. Dis. Prot.* **2022**, *129*, 37–44, doi:10.1007/s41348-021-00553-9.
- 62. Magboul, A.M. Environmental Influence on the Infection of Wheat by Mycosphaerella graminicola. *Phytopathology* **1992**, *82*, 1407, doi:10.1094/Phyto-82-1407.
- 63. Beyer, M.; Marozsak, B.; Dam, D.; Parisot, O.; Pallez-Barthel, M.; Hoffmann, L. Enhancing septoria leaf blotch forecasts in winter wheat

II: model architecture and validation results. *J. Plant. Dis. Prot.* **2022**, *129*, 45–51, doi:10.1007/s41348-021-00554-8.

- 64. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above preindustrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, 2018.
- 65. Deutscher Wetterdienst. Nationaler Klimareport. Available online: https://www.dwd.de/DE/leistungen/ nationalerklimareport/download\_report.pdf;jsessionid=60483CC8697E DE4AEDD9275C20D454AE.live21072?\_\_blob=publicationFile&v=14 (accessed on 18 May 2022).
- Jacob, D.; Petersen, J.; Eggert, B.; Alias, A.; Christensen, O.B.; Bouwer, L.M.; Braun, A.; Colette, A.; Déqué, M.; Georgievski, G.; et al. EURO-CORDEX: new high-resolution climate change projections for European impact research. *Reg. Environ. Change.* 2014, 14, 563–578, doi:10.1007/s10113-013-0499-2.
- 67. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. *Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change;* World Meteorological Organization (WMO): Geneva, Switzerland, 2014, ISBN 978-92-9169-143-2.
- 68. Deutscher Wetterdienst. Klimavorhersagen der nächsten Wochen bis Jahre. Available online: Klimavorhersagen der nächsten Wochen bis Jahre (accessed on 2 February 2023).
- 69. Gladders, P.; Paveley, N.D.; Barrie, I.A.; Hardwick, N.V.; HIMS, M.J.; Langdon, S.; Taylor, M.C. Agronomic and meteorological factors affecting the severity of leaf blotch caused by *Mycosphaerella graminicola* in commercial wheat crops in England. *Ann Applied Biology* **2001**, *138*, 301–311, doi:10.1111/j.1744-7348.2001.tb00115.x.
- Pietravalle, S.; Shaw, M.W.; Parker, S.R.; van den Bosch, F. Modeling of Relationships Between Weather and Septoria tritici Epidemics on Winter Wheat: A Critical Approach. *Phytopathology* 2003, *93*, 1329–1339, doi:10.1094/PHYTO.2003.93.10.1329.
- 71. Iturbide, M.; Fernández, J.; Guitérrez, J.M.; Bedia, J.; Cimadevilla, E.; Díez-Sierra, J.; Manzanas, R.; Casanueva, A.; Baño-Medina, J.; Milovac, J.; et al. *Repository supporting the implementation of FAIR principles in the IPCC-WGI Atlas*; Zenodo, 2021.

- 72. Guitérrez, J.M.; Jones, R.G.; Narisma, G.T.; Alves, L.M.; Amjad, M.; Gorodetskaya, I.V.; Grose, M.; Klutse, N.; Krakovska, S.; Li, J.; et al. Atlas. In *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*; Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Ed.; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA.
- Fealy, R.; Bruyère, C.; Duffy, C. Regional climate model simulations for Ireland for the 21<sup>st</sup> century: (2011-CCRP-MS-2.2), Online version; Environmental Protection Agency: Johnstown Castle, Co. Wexford, Ireland, 2018, ISBN 978-1-84095-770-9.
- 74. Hoffmann, G.M.; Schmutterer, H.J. Parasitäre Krankheiten und Schädlinge an landwirtschaftlichen Kulturpflanzen; Ulmer: Stuttgart, 1983, ISBN 3800130580.
- 75. Eyal, Z. The Septoria Tritici and Stagonospora Nodorum Blotch Diseases of Wheat. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.* **1999**, *105*, 629–641, doi:10.1023/A:1008716812259.
- 76. Downie, R.C.; Lin, M.; Corsi, B.; Ficke, A.; Lillemo, M.; Oliver, R.P.; Phan, H.T.T.; Tan, K.-C.; Cockram, J. Septoria Nodorum Blotch of Wheat: Disease Management and Resistance Breeding in the Face of Shifting Disease Dynamics and a Changing Environment. *Phytopathology* **2021**, *111*, 906–920, doi:10.1094/PHYTO-07-20-0280-RVW.
- 77. Polley, R.W.; Thomas, M.R. Surveys of diseases of winter wheat in England and Wales, 1976–1988. *Ann Applied Biology* **1991**, *119*, 1–20, doi:10.1111/j.1744-7348.1991.tb04839.x.
- 78. Lovell, D.J.; Parker, S.R.; Hunter, T.; ROYLE, D.J.; Coker, R.R. Influence of crop growth and structure on the risk of epidemics by Mycosphaerella graminicola (Septoria tritici) in winter wheat. *Plant Pathol.* **1997**, *46*, 126–138, doi:10.1046/j.1365-3059.1997.d01-206.x.
- 79. Bayles, R.A. Research note: varietal resistance as a factor contributing to the increased importance of Septoria tritici Rob. and Desm. in the UK wheat crop. *Plant Varieties & Seeds* **1991**.
- 80. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Available online: https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/ (accessed on 24 May 2022).
- Schollenberger, M.; Müller, H.-M.; Ernst, K.; Sondermann, S.; Liebscher, M.; Schlecker, C.; Wischer, G.; Drochner, W.; Hartung, K.; Piepho, H.P. Occurrence and distribution of 13 trichothecene toxins in naturally

contaminated maize plants in Germany. *Toxins (Basel)* **2012**, *4*, 778–787, doi:10.3390/toxins4100778.

- Birr, T.; Hasler, M.; Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H. Composition and Predominance of *Fusarium* Species Causing *Fusarium* Head Blight in Winter Wheat Grain Depending on Cultivar Susceptibility and Meteorological Factors. *Microorganisms* 2020, *8*, doi:10.3390/microorganisms8040617.
- Birr, T.; Jensen, T.; Preußke, N.; Sönnichsen, F.D.; Boevre, M. de; Saeger, S. de; Hasler, M.; Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H. Occurrence of Fusarium Mycotoxins and Their Modified Forms in Forage Maize Cultivars. *Toxins (Basel)* 2021, 13, doi:10.3390/toxins13020110.
- Birr, T.; Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H. Prediction of deoxynivalenol and zearalenone in winter wheat grain in a maize-free crop rotation based on cultivar susceptibility and meteorological factors. *J. Plant. Dis. Prot.* 2019, *126*, 13–27, doi:10.1007/s41348-018-0198-9.
- 85. Eurostat. Pesticide sales. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/aei\_fm\_salpest09/ default/table?lang=en (accessed on 28 February 2023).
- 86. BVL. Pflanzenschutzmittelverwendung in der Landwirtschaft. Available online: https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/daten/landforstwirtschaft/pflanzenschutzmittelverwendung-in-der#zulassungvon-pflanzenschutzmitteln (accessed on 13 September 2022).
- Dachbrodt-Saaydeh, S.; Sellmann, J.; Strassemeyer, J.; Schwarz, J.; Klocke, B.; Krengel, S.; Kehlenbeck, H. Netz Vergleichsbetriebe Pflanzenschutz Zwei-Jahresbericht 2015 und 2016 - Analyse der Ergebnisse der Jahre 2007 bis 2016. In *Berichte aus dem Julius Kühn-Institut*, 194th ed.; Julius Kühn-Institut, Ed.; Saphir Verlag: Ribbesbüttel, Germany, 2018.
- Jørgensen, L.N.; Noe, E.; Nielsen, G.C.; Jensen, J.E.; Ørum, J.E.; Pinnschmidt, H.O. Problems with disseminating information on disease control in wheat and barley to farmers. In *Sustainable Disease Management in a European Context*; Collinge, D.B., Cooke, B.M., Munk, L., Eds.; Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht, 2008; pp 303–312, ISBN 9781402087806.
- 89. Ghimire, N.; Woodward, R.T. Under- and over-use of pesticides: An international analysis. *Ecol. Econ.* **2013**, *89*, 73–81, doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2013.02.003.
- 90. Jalli, M.; Kaseva, J.; Andersson, B.; Ficke, A.; Jørgensen, L.N.; Ronis, A.; Kaukoranta, T.; Ørum, J.E.; Djurle, A. Yield increases due to fungicide control of leaf blotch diseases in wheat and barley as a basis for IPM

decision-making in the Nordic-Baltic region. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.* 2020, *158*, 315–333, doi:10.1007/s10658-020-02075-w.

- Jørgensen, L.N.; Nielsen, G.C.; Ørum, J.E.; Jensen, J.E.; Pinnschmidt, H.O. Integrating Disease Control in Winter Wheat – Optimizing Fungicide Input. *Outlook. Pest. Man.* 2008, 19, 206–213, doi:10.1564/19oct04.
- Kvakkestad, V.; Steiro, Å.L.; Vatn, A. Pesticide Policies and Farm Behavior: The Introduction of Regulations for Integrated Pest Management. *Agriculture* 2021, *11*, 828, doi:10.3390/agriculture11090828.
- Lázaro, E.; Makowski, D.; Vicent, A. Decision support systems halve fungicide use compared to calendar-based strategies without increasing disease risk. *Commun. Earth. Environ.* 2021, 2, doi:10.1038/s43247-021-00291-8.
- Klink, H.; Verreet, J.-A.; Hasler, M.; Birr, T. Will Triazoles Still Be of Importance in Disease Control of Zymoseptoria tritici in the Future? *Agronomy* 2021, *11*, 933, doi:10.3390/agronomy11050933.
- 95. Stergiopoulos, I.; van Nistelrooy, J.G.M.; Kema, G.H.J.; Waard, M.A. de. Multiple mechanisms account for variation in base-line sensitivity to azole fungicides in field isolates of *Mycosphaerella graminicola*. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* **2003**, *59*, 1333–1343, doi:10.1002/ps.766.
- 96. Cools, H.J.; Bayon, C.; Atkins, S.; Lucas, J.A.; Fraaije, B.A. Overexpression of the sterol 14α-demethylase gene (MgCYP51) in *Mycosphaerella graminicola* isolates confers a novel azole fungicide sensitivity phenotype. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* **2012**, *68*, 1034–1040, doi:10.1002/ps.3263.
- Cools, H.J.; Fraaije, B.A. Update on mechanisms of azole resistance in Mycosphaerella graminicola and implications for future control. Pest. Manag. Sci. 2013, 69, 150–155, doi:10.1002/ps.3348.
- Leroux, P.; Albertini, C.; Gautier, A.; Gredt, M.; Walker, A.-S. Mutations in the CYP51 gene correlated with changes in sensitivity to sterol 14 alpha-demethylation inhibitors in field isolates of *Mycosphaerella* graminicola. Pest. Manag. Sci. 2007, 63, 688–698, doi:10.1002/ps.1390.
- 99. Birr, T.; Hasler, M.; Verreet, J.-A.; Klink, H. Temporal Changes in Sensitivity of *Zymoseptoria tritici* Field Populations to Different Fungicidal Modes of Action. *Agriculture* **2021**, *11*, 269, doi:10.3390/agriculture11030269.
- 100. Kildea, S.; Marten-Heick, T.; Grant, J.; Mehenni-Ciz, J.; Dooley, H. A combination of target-site alterations, overexpression and enhanced efflux activity contribute to reduced azole sensitivity present in the Irish

Zymoseptoria tritici population. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 2019, 154, 529–540, doi:10.1007/s10658-019-01676-4.

- 101. Kildea, S.; Dooley, H.; Phelan, S.; Mehenni-Ciz, J.; Spink, J. Developing fungicide control programmes for blotch in Irish winter wheat crops. In Modern fungicides and antifungal compounds VIII: Proceedings of the 18<sup>th</sup> International Reinhardsbrunn Symposium, April 24-28, 2016, Friedrichroda, Germany; Deising, H.B., Fraaije, B.A., Mehl, A., Oerke, H., Sierotzki, H., Stammler G., Eds.; DPG Publisher: Braunschweig, Germany, 2017, ISBN 9783941261150.
- 102. Mäe, A.; Fillinger, S.; Sooväli, P.; Heick, T.M. Fungicide Sensitivity Shifting of *Zymoseptoria tritici* in the Finnish-Baltic Region and a Novel Insertion in the MFS1 Promoter. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2020, *11*, 385, doi:10.3389/fpls.2020.00385.
- 103. Strobel D.; Bryson R.; Roth J.; Stammler G. Field performance of DMI fungicides against *Zymoseptoria tritici* across Europe—Compromized by further sensitivity shift? In *Modern fungicides and antifungal compounds VIII: Proceedings of the 18<sup>th</sup> International Reinhardsbrunn Symposium, April 24-28, 2016, Friedrichroda, Germany;* Deising, H.B., Fraaije, B.A., Mehl, A., Oerke, H., Sierotzki, H., Stammler G., Eds.; DPG Publisher: Braunschweig, Germany, 2017, ISBN 9783941261150.
- Gisi, U.; Sierotzki, H.; Cook, A.; McCaffery, A. Mechanisms influencing the evolution of resistance to Qo inhibitor fungicides. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* 2002, 58, 859–867, doi:10.1002/ps.565.
- 105. Lucas, J.A.; Fraaije, B.A. QoI resistance in *Mycosphaerella graminicola*: What have we learned so far? In Modern Fungicides and Antifungal Compounds. In *Modern fungicides and antifungal compounds V*: *Proceedings of the 15<sup>th</sup> International Reinhardsbrunn Symposium, May 06-10,* 2007, Friedrichroda, Germany, V; Dehne, H.-W., Deising, H.B., Gisi, U., Kuck, K.H., Russell, P.E., Lyr, H., Eds.; DPG Selbstverlag: Braunschweig, Germany, 2008; pp 71–78, ISBN 9783941261020.
- 106. European Parliament. Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2015/408 of 11 March 2015 on implementing Article 80(7) of Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council concerning the placing of plant protection products on the market and establishing a list of candidates for substitution. *Off. J. Eur. Union* 2015, 18–22.
- 107. Vielba-Fernández, A.; Polonio, Á.; Ruiz-Jiménez, L.; Vicente, A. de; Pérez-García, A.; Fernández-Ortuño, D. Fungicide Resistance in Powdery Mildew Fungi. *Microorganisms* 2020, *8*, doi:10.3390/microorganisms8091431.

- 108. Torriani, S.F.F.; Melichar, J.P.E.; Mills, C.; Pain, N.; Sierotzki, H.; Courbot, M. Zymoseptoria tritici: A major threat to wheat production, integrated approaches to control. Fungal Genet. Biol. 2015, 79, 8–12, doi:10.1016/j.fgb.2015.04.010.
- 109. Jørgensen, L.N.; Hovmøller, M.S.; Hansen, J.G.; Lassen, P.; Clark, B.; Bayles, R.; Rodemann, B.; Flath, K.; Jahn, M.; Goral, T.; et al. IPM Strategies and Their Dilemmas Including an Introduction to www.eurowheat.org. J. Integr. Agric. 2014, 13, 265–281, doi:10.1016/S2095-3119(13)60646-2.
- 110. Oerke, E.-C.; Dehne, H.-W.; Schönbeck, F.; Weber, A. *Crop production and crop protection: Estimated losses in major food and cash crops;* Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1994, ISBN 978-0-444-82095-2.
- 111. Oerke, E.-C. Crop losses to pests. J. Agric. Sci. 2006, 144, 31–43, doi:10.1017/S0021859605005708.
- 112. Carmona, M.; Sautua, F.; Pérez-Hérnandez, O.; Reis, E.M. Role of Fungicide Applications on the Integrated Management of Wheat Stripe Rust. *Front. Plant Sci.* **2020**, *11*, 733, doi:10.3389/fpls.2020.00733.
- 113. Shoemaker, C.A. The optimal timing of multiple applications of residual pesticides: deterministic and stochastic analyses. In *Pest and pathogen control: Strategic, tactical, and policy models;* Conway, G.R., Ed.; Wiley: Chichester, England, 1984; pp 290–309, ISBN 0-471-90349-3.
- 114. Parsons, D.J.; Te Beest, D. Optimising Fungicide Applications on Winter Wheat using Genetic Algorithms. *Biosyst. Eng.* **2004**, *88*, 401–410, doi:10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2004.04.012.
- 115. Deguine, J.-P.; Aubertot, J.-N.; Flor, R.J.; Lescourret, F.; Wyckhuys, K.A.; Ratnadass, A. Integrated pest management: good intentions, hard realities. A review. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.* **2021**, *41*, 1–35, doi:10.1007/s13593-021-00689-w.
- 116. ISIP e.V. Bekämpfungsschwellen für Blattkrankheiten in Winterweizen. Available online: https://www.isip.de/isip/servlet/resource/blob/4850/c17fa69037fede44a 2447771885f6d23/bekaempfungsschwellen-fuer-blattkrankheiten-inwinterweizen-data.pdf (accessed on 1 August 2022).
- 117. ISIP e.V. Berechnung der Neuinfektionen durch Septoria tritici. Available online: https://www.isip.de/isip/servlet/isipde/entscheidungshilfen/getreide/berechnung-der-neuinfektionendurch-septoria-tritici-259964 (accessed on 18 October 2022).
- 118. Miller, S.A.; Beed, F.D.; Harmon, C.L. Plant disease diagnostic capabilities and networks. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* **2009**, 47, 15–38, doi:10.1146/annurev-phyto-080508-081743.

- 119. Htun, N.-N.; Rojo, D.; Ooge, J.; Croon, R. de; Kasimati, A.; Verbert, K. Developing Visual-Assisted Decision Support Systems across Diverse Agricultural Use Cases. *Agriculture* 2022, 12, 1027, doi:10.3390/agriculture12071027.
- Mackrell, D.; Kerr, D.; Hellens, L. von. A qualitative case study of the adoption and use of an agricultural decision support system in the Australian cotton industry: The socio-technical view. *Decis. Support Syst.* 2009, 47, 143–153, doi:10.1016/j.dss.2009.02.004.
- 121. Duveiller, E.; Singh, R.P.; Nicol, J.M. The challenges of maintaining wheat productivity: pests, diseases, and potential epidemics. *Euphytica* **2007**, *157*, 417–430, doi:10.1007/s10681-007-9380-z.
- 122. Miedaner, T.; Juroszek, P. Climate change will influence disease resistance breeding in wheat in Northwestern Europe. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* **2021**, *134*, 1771–1785, doi:10.1007/s00122-021-03807-0.
- 123. Singh, R.P.; Singh, P.K.; Rutkoski, J.; Hodson, D.P.; He, X.; Jørgensen, L.N.; Hovmøller, M.S.; Huerta-Espino, J. Disease Impact on Wheat Yield Potential and Prospects of Genetic Control. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 2016, 54, 303–322, doi:10.1146/annurev-phyto-080615-095835.
- 124. Hovmøller, M.S.; Milus, E.A.; Justesen, A.F. Rapid global spread of two aggressive strains of a wheat rust fungus. *Mol. Ecol.* **2008**, *17*, 3818–3826, doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2008.03886.x.
- 125. Willocquet, L.; Meza, W.R.; Dumont, B.; Klocke, B.; Feike, T.; Kersebaum, K.C.; Meriggi, P.; Rossi, V.; Ficke, A.; Djurle, A.; et al. An outlook on wheat health in Europe from a network of field experiments. *Crop Prot.* **2021**, *139*, 105335, doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2020.105335.
- 126. Laidig, F.; Feike, T.; Hadasch, S.; Rentel, D.; Klocke, B.; Miedaner, T.; Piepho, H.P. Breeding progress of disease resistance and impact of disease severity under natural infections in winter wheat variety trials. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 2021, 134, 1281–1302, doi:10.1007/s00122-020-03728-4.
- 127. Möhring, N.; Wuepper, D.; Musa, T.; Finger, R. Why farmers deviate from recommended pesticide timing: the role of uncertainty and information. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* **2020**, *76*, 2787–2798, doi:10.1002/ps.5826.
- 128. Rossi, V.; Sperandio, S.; Caffi, T.; Simonetto, A.; Gilioli, G. Critical Success Factors for the Adoption of Decision Tools in IPM. *Agronomy* **2019**, *9*, 710, doi:10.3390/agronomy9110710.
- 129. van den Bosch, F.; Oliver, R.P.; van den Berg, F.; Paveley, N. Governing principles can guide fungicide-resistance management tactics. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* **2014**, *52*, 175–195, doi:10.1146/annurev-phyto-102313-050158.

- 130. Oliver, R.P. A reassessment of the risk of rust fungi developing resistance to fungicides. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* **2014**, *70*, 1641–1645, doi:10.1002/ps.3767.
- 131. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Suite of Food Security Indicators: License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; Rome, Italy, 2022. Available online: https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/FS/visualize (accessed on 10 February 2023).
- 132. OECD. OECD Food, Agriculture and Fisheries Papers, 2023.
- 133. Brühl, C.A.; Zaller, J.G. Biodiversity Decline as a Consequence of an Inappropriate Environmental Risk Assessment of Pesticides. *Front. Environ. Sci.* **2019**, *7*, doi:10.3389/fenvs.2019.00177.
- 134. Hoferkamp, L.; Hermanson, M, H.; Muir, D. Current use pesticides in Arctic media; 2000–2007. *Science of The Total Environment* **2010**, 408, 2985–2994, doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2009.11.038.
- 135. Shunthirasingham, C.; Gouin, T.; Lei, Y.D.; Ruepert, C.; Castillo, L.E.; Wania, F. Current-use pesticide transport to Costa Rica's high-altitude tropical cloud forest. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* **2011**, *30*, 2709–2717, doi:10.1002/etc.671.
- 136. Stehle, S.; Schulz, R. Agricultural insecticides threaten surface waters at the global scale. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2015**, *112*, 5750–5755, doi:10.1073/pnas.1500232112.
- Ferrario, C.; Finizio, A.; Villa, S. Legacy and emerging contaminants in meltwater of three Alpine glaciers. *Science of The Total Environment* 2017, 574, 350–357, doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.09.067.
- Zaller, J.G.; Brühl, C.A. Editorial: Non-target Effects of Pesticides on Organisms Inhabiting Agroecosystems. *Front. Environ. Sci.* 2019, 7, doi:10.3389/fenvs.2019.00075.
- 139. Zubrod, J.P.; Bundschuh, M.; Arts, G.; Brühl, C.A.; Imfeld, G.; Knäbel, A.; Payraudeau, S.; Rasmussen, J.J.; Rohr, J.; Scharmüller, A.; et al. Fungicides: An Overlooked Pesticide Class? *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2019, 53, 3347–3365, doi:10.1021/acs.est.8b04392.
- 140. Berger, G.; Berg, G.; Pallut, B.; Hoffmann, J.; Brühl, C.A.; Wagner, N. How Does Changing Pesticide Usage Over Time Affect Migrating Amphibians: A Case Study on the Use of Glyphosate-Based Herbicides in German Agriculture Over 20 Years. *Front. Environ. Sci.* 2018, 6, doi:10.3389/fenvs.2018.00006.
- 141. Krupke, C.H.; Hunt, G.J.; Eitzer, B.D.; Andino, G.; Given, K. Multiple Routes of Pesticide Exposure for Honey Bees Living Near Agricultural Fields. *PloS one* **2012**, *7*, e29268, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0029268.

- 142. Jess, S.; Matthews, D.; Murchie, A.; Lavery, M. Pesticide Use in Northern Ireland's Arable Crops from 1992–2016 and Implications for Future Policy Development. *Agriculture* **2018**, *8*, 123, doi:10.3390/agriculture8080123.
- 143. Foley, J.A.; Ramankutty, N.; Brauman, K.A.; Cassidy, E.S.; Gerber, J.S.; Johnston, M.; Mueller, N.D.; O'Connell, C.; Ray, D.K.; West, P.C.; et al. Solutions for a cultivated planet. *Nature* **2011**, 478, 337–342, doi:10.1038/nature10452.
- 144. Horlings, L.G.; Marsden, T.K. Towards the real green revolution? Exploring the conceptual dimensions of a new ecological modernisation of agriculture that could 'feed the world'. *Glob. Environ. Change* **2011**, *21*, 441–452, doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2011.01.004.
- 145. Wesseler, J. The EU 's farm-to-fork strategy: An assessment from the perspective of agricultural economics. *Applied Eco Perspectives Pol* **2022**, 44, 1826–1843, doi:10.1002/aepp.13239.
- 146. Zaks, D.P.M.; Kucharik, C.J. Data and monitoring needs for a more ecological agriculture. *Environ. Res. Lett.* **2011**, *6*, 14017, doi:10.1088/1748-9326/6/1/014017.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Supplementary of: Efficiency and Effectivity of a Biological–Epidemiological Fungal Disease Management System in Wheat–A Study of 26 Years

Foliar disease	Effect	df	F	р
Septoria tritici blotch	Treatment (T)	324	295.616500	< 0.0001
	Year (Y)	324	50.573800	< 0.0001
	ТхҮ	324	2.096100	0.002
	Treatment (T)	324	9.854726	0.0018
Glume blotch	Year (Y)	324	3.411725	< 0.0001
	ТхҮ	324	1.241881	0.1996
Tan spot	Treatment (T)	324	0.463364	0.4965
	Year (Y)	324	8.877909	< 0.0001
	ТхҮ	324	0.441737	0.9917
Dourdowy	Treatment (T)	324	0.001637	< 0.1950
mildew	Year (Y)	324	8.594131	< 0.0001
	ТхҮ	324	1.665901	< 0.0032
Stripe rust	Treatment (T)	324	18.671426	< 0.0001
	Year (Y)	324	2.065552	0.0024
	ТхҮ	324	1.925722	0.0057
Leaf rust	Treatment (T)	324	2.764142	0.0974
	Year (Y)	324	21.769113	< 0.0001
	ТхҮ	324	10.004208	< 0.0001
	Treatment (T)	324	180.925	< 0.0001
Necrotization	Year (Y)	324	22.757	< 0.0001
	ТхҮ	324	1.634	0.0305

Table S 1. Analyses of variance (ANOVAs) for the annual differences (AUDPC) of wheat foliar diseases to the total average from 1995 to 2021 in the untreated control.



**Figure S 1.** Total yield (t/ha; **a**ı) and annual yield (t/ha; **a**u) of the min. control, IPM and max. control of winter wheat (cultivar "Ritmo") of the eight trial locations in northern Germany from 1995 to 2021.

SUPPLEMENTARY OF: WILL CLIMATE CHANGE AFFECT THE DISEASE DYNAMICS OF SEPTORIA TRITICI BLOTCH IN NORTHERN EUROPE?

Year	Septoria tritici blotch	glume blotch	tans spot	powdery mildew	stripe rust	leaf rust
1996	7.84	0.00	0.00	0.03	0.00	0.00
1997	19.71	0.10	0.09	0.01	0.00	0.00
1998	22.65	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.01
1999	11.64	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.18	0.00
2000	24.85	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02
2001	31.17	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
2002	56.48	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.08
2003	64.43	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.03
2005	12.87	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.03
2006	51.13	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02
2007	22.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	1.78
2008	11.27	0.00	0.00	0.05	0.00	0.02
2009	64.67	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.05
2010	61.02	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
2011	44.19	0.07	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
2012	111.20	0.40	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02
2013	92.71	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
2014	64.70	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01
2015	46.27	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01
2016	79.49	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.01
2017	90.36	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.06
2018	36.60	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.05
2019	133.53	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	1.64
2020	122.67	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02
2021	86.47	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00

Table S 2. RWAUDPC of all observed foliar diseases from 1996 to 2021 at the trial location of the survey.

SUPPLEMENTARY OF: CAN DECISION SUPPORT SYSTEMS HELP IMPROVE THE SUSTAINABLE USE OF FUNGICIDES IN WHEAT?

**Table S 3.** Temperature, precipitation, hours of leaf wetness and STB infection conditions (leaf wetness by "Weihofen" sensor  $\geq$  98% over more than 36h) in detail for the month May and June of the observed vegetation period at the trial locations Barlt, Futterkamp and Kluvensiek from 2019 to 2021.

	May					June				
	Year	T (°C)	PP (L/m²)	h of LF ≥ 98%	STB inf. n (h of LW ≥ 98%)	Т (°С)	PP (L/m²)	h of LF ≥ 98%	r	STB inf. 1 (h of LW ≥ 98%)
Barlt	2019	11	38	172	,01.05. (108); 10.05. (64)	18	66	2	2	13.06. (64); 17.06. (54)
	2020	11	23	155	, 03.05. (113); 24.05. (42)	17	41	1	1	10.06. (163)
	2021	10	91	416	08.05. (111); 19.05. (207); 27.05. (42); 29.05 (56)	17	57	1	1	22.06. (63)
Kluven- siek	2019	10	30	73	, 10.05. (41); 23.05. (32)	18	56	3	3	12.06. (58); 16.06. (42); 21.06. (79)
	2020	12	31	148	, 02.05. (98); 14.05. (50)	17	63	3	3	05.06. (26); 14.06. (46); 19.06. (35)
	2021	10	108	307	06.05. (73); 19.05. (27); 25.05. (94); 29.05. (113)	18	118	2	2	06.06. (66); 24.06. (112)
Futter- kamp	2019	10	67	272	14.05. (120); 24.05. (61); 30.05. (91)	18	76	4	4	01.06. (45); 09.06. (37); 17.06. (155); 23.06. (105
	2020	11	29	124	, 02.05. (87); 14.05. (37)	16	100	2	2	15.06. (62); 21.06. (56)
	2021	11	108	330	01.05. (58); (07.05. (129); 16.05 (143)	18	66	1	1	31.06. (66)

T = Temperature; PP = Precipitation; LW = Leaf wetness

**Table S 4.** Analyses of variance (ANOVAs) for the effect of treatment (untreated control, IPM, ISIP, xarvio<sup>®</sup>, HST), cultivar ("RGT Reform", "Ritmo") and their interaction on the relative efficacy of yield, necrotization and disease severities of Septoria tritici blotch, powdery mildew, stripe rust, and leaf rust.

	Effect	df	F	р
	Cultivar	26	0.1187	0.7332
Yield	Treatment	203	56.3937	< 0.0001
	Cultivar x Treatment	203	0.2732	0.8950
	Cultivar	8	1.0137	0.3435
Green leaf area	Treatment	88	25.7087	< 0.0001
	Cultivar x Treatment	88	0.1995	0.9380
	Cultivar	14	0.3976	0.5385
Septoria tritici blotch	Treatment	136	101.6270	< 0.0001
	Cultivar x Treatment	136	0.1950	0.9406
	Cultivar	5	0.5804	0.4805
Powdery mildew	Treatment	52	31.5724	< 0.0001
	Cultivar x Treatment	52	0.9869	0.4229
	Cultivar	2	0.0035	0.9578
Stripe rust	Treatment	40	6.6905	0.0003
	Cultivar x Treatment	40	0.0033	1.0000
Leaf rust	Treatment	44	19.7410	< 0.0001

SUMMARY

## SUMMARY

Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) is one of the world's most important crops, providing food for a significant part of the world's population. Productivity varies considerably from one growing region to another due to differences in climate and soil conditions. Heavy clay soils and climates with sufficient rainfall and radiation, like large parts of northern Europe, are particularly productive. However, these maritime climates are equally conducive to yield-limiting pathogens, in particular the foliar diseases Septoria tritici blotch (*Zymoseptoria tritici* Desm.; STB), glume blotch (*Parastagonospora nodorum* Berk.), tan spot (*Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* Died.), powdery mildew (*Blumeria graminis* f. sp. *Tritici*), stripe rust (*Puccinia striiformis* f. sp. *Tritici*) and leaf rust (*Puccinia triticina*).

In the present study, disease progressions of the six most important foliar diseases were recorded at eight trial locations in Schleswig-Holstein over a period of 26 years using an untreated control. Based on the epidemiological surveys, the efficacy and effectiveness of a biological-epidemiological threshold concept (BESK) for the control of emerging foliar pathogens was also evaluated. This was done using a positive control with complete foliar protection by fungicide application during the growth period from the beginning of stem elongation to flowering (Chapter II). The study showed that STB was the most important disease with high infestations observed every year since 1995 at all locations of the long-term study. In addition to STB, powdery mildew and rust pathogens were determined with lower relevance, as powdery mildew was rated continuously with low severity at the eastern sites and rust pathogens were rated with moderate severity at all sites in individual years. Glume blotch and tan spot were very sporadically detected at some locations and in some years, but the BESK threshold was not exceeded in any year of the study, which can be attributed to the adapted cropping system used in the trials. STB was thus the dominant disease in the trial area throughout the survey period and consequently the most economically important disease. The importance of STB was also evident in the evaluation with STB accounting for the majority of of BESK application recommendations. By applying the biological-epidemiological thresholds, emerging diseases were suppressed to a reasonable extent with high efficacy, as yields were equivalent to the healthy standard treatment, but only half the fungicides were applied.

In addition to the importance of STB in the survey area, a continuous increase of disease severities of STB was also observed during the survey period. Due to the special conditions at the location Sönke-Nissen-Koog (only STB occurred during the entire study period), a possible influence of climate change on STB was investigated (Chapter III). This showed a temporal extension of conductive STB conditions from originally early May to early June to early May to late June. A cumulative analysis of these conducive weather conditions showed an increase in temperature during the critical infection period, which explains the increase in intensity of STB infections. If climate change leads to a further increase in temperature or a further shift in conducive conditions for an infection, a further increase in the intensity of STB can be expected.

Disease control is therefore essential in wheat production, especially under maritime climatic conditions. At the current state of research, the use of plant protection products, in this case fungicide use, is indispensable for the control of fungal pathogens. Despite excellent training in practical farming, the optimisation of fungicide applications is possible with the use of decision support systems (DSSs). In Chapter II, a 50% reduction compared to the positive control was shown. Therefore, three DSSs from different sources (scientific, governmental, industrial) were evaluated in terms of their effectiveness in controlling emerging foliar diseases over three years at three locations in two wheat cultivars (Chapter IV). All DSSs equally halved the amount of fungicide needed to maintain equivalent yields compared to the positive control and significantly reduced the fungicide use compared to agronomic practices in the survey area. This confirms the effectiveness of biological-epidemiological decision support systems. The use of DSSs as a tool for fungicide optimisation could be of great importance in the future for agricultural practice, especially in view of the political objective of reducing pesticide use by 50% by 2030 (EU Farm to Fork strategy).

Irrespective of the economic benefits of agricultural practice using DSS, the sustainability of agricultural production is improved by DSSs in the sense that, on the one hand, food can continue to be provided in adequate quantities and quality. On the other hand, there will be a reduction in the emission of foreign substances into the agro-ecosystems. Thus, all three dimensions of sustainability are improved by optimising the use of fungicides.

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

### ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Weizen (*Triticum aestivum* L.) ist weltweit eine der wichtigsten Kulturarten und bildet die Ernährungsgrundlage für einen erheblichen Teil der Weltbevölkerung. Aufgrund unterschiedlicher Rahmenbedingungen wie Klima- oder Bodenbedingungen variiert die Produktivität zwischen den Anbaugebieten in einem erheblichen Maße. Schwere tonhaltige Böden und Klimate mit ausreichend Niederschlägen und Strahlung, wie sie in weiten Teilen Nordeuropas vorherrschen, sind dabei besonders produktiv. Diese sogenannten maritimen Klimate fördern aber auch in gleichem Maße ertragslimitierende Krankheitserreger, insbesondere die in Nordeuropa ubiquitär auftretenden pilzlichen Blattkrankheiten wie die Septoria-Blattdürre (*Zymoseptoria tritici* Desm.; STB), Blatt- und Spelzenbräune (*Parastagonospora nodorum* Berk.), DTR (*Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* Died.), Echter Mehltau (*Blumeria graminis* f. sp. *tritici*), Gelbrost (*Puccinia striiformis* f. sp. *tritici*) und Braunrost (*Puccinia triticina*).

Mit der vorliegenden Arbeit wurde zunächst überregional die Populationsund Schadensdynamik der sechs wichtigsten Blattpathogene an acht Standorten in Schleswig-Holstein über 26 Jahre anhand einer unbehandelten Kontrolle erfasst. Aufgrund der epidemiologischen Erhebungen wurde zusätzlich die Effizienz und Effektivität eines biologisch-epidemiologischen Schwellenwertkonzeptes (BESK) zur Kontrolle auftretender Blattpathogene unter Zuhilfenahme einer Positivkontrolle mit lückenlosem Schutz von Schoßbeginn bis zur Blüte durch den Einsatz von Fungiziden evaluiert (Kapitel II). Die Untersuchungen zeigten, dass insbesondere STB als überregional bedeutendster Erreger seit 1995 auftrat. Dabei wurde in jedem Jahr und an jedem Standort der Langzeitstudie ein epidemischer Befall beobachtet. Neben STB wurden auch die Erreger des Echten Mehltaus und der Rostkrankheiten beobachtet, wobei der Echte Mehltau kontinuierlich an Standorten mit geringen Befallsstärken östlichen und den die Rostkrankheiten in Einzeljahren in epidemischen Befallsstärken an allen Standorten beobachtet wurden. Die Erreger der Blatt- und Spelzenbräune als auch der DTR-Blattfleckenkrankheit wurden nur sehr sporadisch an einzelnen Standorten in einzelnen Jahren beobachtet. Dabei wurde in keinem Jahr ein Schwellenwert des BESK überschritten, was auf das in den Versuchen genutzte angepasste Anbausystem zurückzuführen ist. STB war somit die dominierende Krankheit im Erregerspektrum des Versuchsgebiets über die gesamte Versuchsdauer und folglich auch die wirtschaftlich bedeutendste Krankheit. Die Bedeutung von STB zeigte sich auch bei der Evaluierung des BESK, wobei der Großteil an Behandlungsempfehlungen auf STB zurückzuführen war. Durch die Anwendung der Schwellenwerte wurden auftretende Erreger mit hoher Effizienz unterdrückt, da der Einsatz von Fungiziden auf ein unbedingt notwendiges Maß reduziert wurde, ohne dass dabei Ertragseinbußen gegenüber der Positivkontrolle mit maximalem Fungizideinsatz entstanden.

Neben der Bedeutung von STB konnte ein kontinuierlicher Anstieg der Befallsintensität von STB über die letzten 26 Jahre festgestellt werden. Aufgrund der besonderen Voraussetzungen am Standort Sönke-Nissen-Koog, an dem ausschließlich STB über die gesamte Versuchsdauer auftrat, wurde ein möglicher Einfluss des Klimawandels auf STB untersucht (**Kapitel III**). Dabei zeigte sich eine temporale Erweiterung der STB-fördernden Bedingungen von ursprünglich Anfang Mai bis Anfang Juni auf Anfang Mai bis Ende Juni. Bei kumulierter Betrachtung dieser Witterung konnte ein Anstieg in der Temperatur zu den kritischen Zeitpunkten der Infektion gezeigt werden, was den o.g. Anstieg in der Befallsintensität von STB erklärt. Wird es durch den Klimawandel zu einer weiteren Erhöhung der Temperatur bzw. einer weiteren Verschiebung der befallsfördernden Bedingungen kommen, kann ebenfalls mit einem weiteren Anstieg in der Intensität von STB gerechnet werden.

Die Kontrolle von Schaderregern ist im Weizenanbau, insbesondere in maritimen Klimaten, von entscheidender Bedeutung. Ein Einsatz von Pflanzenschutzmitteln zur Kontrolle dieser Erreger, in diesem Fall von Fungiziden, ist nach heutigem Stand der Forschung unabdinglich. Trotz hervorragender Ausbildung der praktischen Landwirtschaft ist eine Optimierung des Fungizideinsatzes durch Entscheidungshilfesysteme (DSS) möglich. In Kapitel II wurde eine Reduktion von 50% durch den Einsatz von DSS gegenüber der Positivkontrolle (Vierfach-Applikation orientiert an den Entwicklungsstadien der Pflanze) gezeigt. Dazu wurden drei DSS unterschiedlicher Herkunft (Wissenschaft, Offizialberatung, Wirtschaft) auf deren Effizienz in der Kontrolle auftretender Blattkrankheiten über drei Jahre an drei Standorten in zwei Weizensorten evaluiert (Kapitel IV). Im Rahmen der Untersuchungen wurde durch alle DSS, verglichen zur Positivkontrolle, der Fungizideinsatz auf ein notwendiges Maß reduziert, ohne dabei Ertragseinbußen hinnehmen zu müssen. Hierdurch wird die Effizienz und die Effektivität biologisch-epidemiologisch basierter Entscheidungshilfen bestätigt. In Anbetracht der politisch angestrebten Reduktion des Einsatzes von Pestiziden um 50% bis 2030 ("Farm to Fork-Strategie" der EU) kann der

Einsatz von DSS als Instrument der Fungizid-Optimierung für die landwirtschaftliche Praxis zukünftig von großer Bedeutung sein.

Ungeachtet der wirtschaftlichen Vorteile des Einsatzes von DSS wird die Nachhaltigkeit der landwirtschaftlichen Produktion durch DSS in dem Sinne verbessert, als dass zum einen Lebensmittel weiterhin in adäquaten Mengen und Qualitäten bereitgestellt werden können und zum anderen Belastungen der Agrarökosysteme verringert werden. Dementsprechend kommt es zur Verbesserung aller drei Nachhaltigkeitsdimensionen durch die Optimierung des Fungizideinsatzes.
EXTENDED MATERIALS & METHODS

## EXTENDED MATERIALS & METHODS

# Materials

**Table M1** Coordinates and agronomic practices (crop rotation, soil tillage) of the eight regional wheat disease monitoring sites in northern Germany from 1995 to 2021. WW = winter wheat, WB = winter barley, OR = oilseed rape.

	Coord	inates		Call	
Location	Latit	ude	<b>Crop Rotation</b>	Sultivation	
	Longi	itude		Cultivation	
Barlt	54°01′03″ N	09°01′45″ E	WW-WW-OR	Plough	
Birkenmoor	54°26′36″ N	10°04′18″ E	WW-WB-OR	Reduced tillage	
Elskop	53°49′05″ N	09°30′43′′ E	WW-WW-OR	Plough	
Futterkamp	54°17′31″ N	10°38′04′′ E	WW-WB-OR	Reduced tillage	
Kastorf	53°45′08′′ N	10°33′39′′ E	WW-WB-OR	Plough	
Kluvensiek	54°19′38″ N	09°48′25″ E	WW-WB-OR	Reduced tillage	
Loit	54°36′19'' N	09°42′05'' E	WW-WB-OR	Plough	
Sönke- Nissen-Koog	54°38′01″ N	08°52′08″ E	WW-WW-OR	Plough	



Figure M1. Locations of the long-term survey in combination with the share of Wheat in the survey area of 2020 [1].

Table M2 Susceptibility categories (1 = missing/very low to 9 = very high) of the cultivars "Ritmo"
and "RGT Reform" to the major foliar wheat diseases Septoria tritici blotch (STB), glume blotch (GB),
tan spot (TS), powdery mildew (PM), stripe rust (SR) and leaf rust (LR)

Cultinur	Susceptibility to							
Cultivar	STB	GB	TS	PM	SR	LR		
"Ritmo"	6	6	6	5	4	8		
"RGT Reform"	4	5	5	3	4	3		

Extended Materials & Methods

#### Table M3 Fungicides used in the long-term study from 1995 to 2021.

Fungicdo	Max.	Max.	Date of	Compound I	a i/I	Classific	Compund II	a i/I	Classific	Compund III	a i/I	Classific
Tungicue	Dose/ha	a.i/ha	expir.	Compound I	a. <i>b</i> L	emosiiie.	Compana n	a. <i>b</i> L		Compana m	a.D L	Classific
Acanto	1.00	250.0	11/17	Picoxystrobin	250.0	C3 Qo1						
Adexar	2.00	250.0	04/20	Fluxapyroxad	62.5	C2 SDHI	Epoxiconazol	62.5	G1 DMI			
Agent	1.00	575.0	06/19	Propioconazol	125.0	G1 DMI	Fenpropidin	450.0	G2 Amine			
Amistar	1.00	250.0	12/24	Azoxystrobin	250.0	C3 Qol						
Ascra Xpro	1.50	390.0	07/23	Fluopyram	65.0	C2 SDHI	Bixafen	65.0	C2 SDHI	Prothioconazol	130.00	G1 DMI
Aviator Xpro	1.25	281.3	07/23	Bixafen	75.0	C2 SDHI	Prothioconazol	150.0	G1 DMI			
Bravo 500	2.00	1.000.0	10/16	Chlorthalonil	500.0	M5 M. s.						
Capalo	2.00	675.0	04/19	Epoxiconazol	62.5	G1 DMI	Fenpropimorph	200.0	G2 Amine	Metrafenone	75.00	U8 M. s.
Ceriax	3.00	449.4	04/20	Fluxapyroxad	41.6	C2 SDHI	Pyraclostrobin	66.6	C3 Qol	Epoxiconazol	41.60	G1 DMI
Champion	1.50	450.0	04/20	Boscalid	233.0	C2 SDHI	Epoxiconazol	67.0	G1 DMI			
Colt	1.00	500.5	12/02	Triadimenol	125.1	G1 DMI	Tridemorph	375.4	G2 Amine			
Credo	2.00	1.200.0	11/17	Picoxystrobin	100.0	C3 Qol	Chlorthalonil	500.0	M5 M. s.			
Diamant	1.75	649.3	04/19	Pyraclostrobin	114.0	C3 Qol	Epoxiconazol	43.0	G1 DMI	Fenpropimorph	214.00	G2 Amine
Eleando	3.00	574.8	04/20	Epoxiconazol	41.6	G1 DMI	Prochloraz	150.0	G2 Amine			
Fandango	1.50	300.0	07/23	Fluoxastrobin	100.0	C3 Qol	Prothioconazol	100.0	G1 DMI			
Flamenco FS	2.30	524.4	01/15	Fluquinconazol	54.0	G1 DMI	Prochloraz	174.0	G2 Amine			
Flexity	0.50	150.0	04/23	Metrafenone	300.0	U8 M. s.						
Folicur	1.00	250.0	08/22	Tebuconazol	250.0	G1 DMI						
Fortress	0.30	75.0	04/19	Quinoxyfen	250.0	E1 Chinol.						
Gladio	0.80	500.0	06/19	Propioconazol	125.0	G1 DMI	Fenpropidin	375.0	G2 Amine	Tebuconazol	125.00	G1 DMI
Input Classic	1.25	575.0	12/22	Prothioconazol	160.0	G1 DMI	Spiroxamine	300.0	G2 Amine			
Input Xpro	1.50	600.0	07/23	Bixafen	50.0	C2 SDHI	Prothioconazol	100.0	G1 DMI	Spiroxamine	250.00	G2 Amine
Juwel	1.00	250.0	04/20	Kresmethyl	125.0	C3 Qol	Epoxiconazol	125.0	G1 DMI			
Juwel Top	1.00	400.0	04/19	Kres-methyl	125.0	C3 Qol	Epoxiconazol	125.0	G1 DMI	Fenpropimorph	150.00	G2 Amine
Magnello	1.00	350.0	12/25	Tebuconazol	250.0	G1 DMI	Difenoconazol	100.0	G1 DMI			
Opera	1.75	560.9	12/14	Pyraclostrobin	233.0	C3 Qo1	Epoxiconazol	87.5	G1 DMI			
Opus Top	1.50	750.0	05/19	Epoxiconazol	125.0	G1 DMI	Fenpropimorph	375.0	G2 Amine			
Orius	1.25	250.0	08/22	Tebuconazol	200.0	G1 DMI						

Fungicde	Max. Dose/ha	Max. a.i/ha	Date of expir.	Compound I	a.i/L	Classific.	Compund II	a.i/L	Classific.	Compund III	a.i/L	Classific
Osiris	3.00	195.0	04/22	Epoxiconazol	37.5	G1 DMI	Metconazol	27.5				
Proline	0.80	200.0	07/23	Prothioconazol	250.0	G1 DMI						
Pronto Plus	1.50	574.5	08/23	Tebuconazol	133.0	G1 DMI	Spiroxamine	250.0	G2 Amine			
Prosaro	1.00	250.0	07/22	Prothioconazol	125.0	G1 DMI	Tebuconazol	125.0	G1 DMI			
Soleil	1.20	328.8	12/25	Tebuconazol	107.0	G1 DMI	Bromuconazol	167.0				
Sportak Delta	1.25	510.0	12/03	Cyproconazol	48.0	G1 DMI	Prochloraz	360.0	G2 Amine			
Stratego	1.00	312.0	08/04	Trifloxystrobin	187.0	C3 Qol	Propioconazol	125.0	G1 DMI			
Talius	0.25	50.0	12/22	Proquinazid	200.0	E1 Chinol.						
Twist	0.50	125.0	12/15	Trifloxystrobin	250.0	C3 Qol						
Unix	1.00	750.0	04/23	Cyprodinil	750.0	D1 Ap Fun.						
Vegas	0.50	375.0	12/20	Cyfluenamid	750.0	U6 Amidox.						
Zenit M	0.75	562.5	12/17	Fenpropidin	750.0	G2 Amine						

Extended Materials & Methods

Date of expir. = Date of Expiration; Classification according to Fungicide Resistance Action Committee; M.s. = Multisite inhibitors

## Methods

This chapter includes protocols for selected key procedures used in this thesis. A comprehensive register of all methods used as well as experimental specifications are included in each chapter, respectively.

### Trial design

In each year and at all locations, the field trials were conducted in a fully randomized block design with four replicated blocks containing three different treatments, namely untreated fungicide control, IPM treatment and healthy standard treatment. Using destructive sampling for disease diagnosis throughout the growing season of the untreated control and IPM treatments, the plots of the untreated control and IPM treatments were duplicated to assign the purpose of harvesting and sampling to each plot, resulting in five plots per replicated block. Each field plot was  $10 \text{ m}^2 (2 \times 5 \text{ m})$ . At all sites, the field trials were integrated into the farmers' fields. Crop management and the application of herbicides, insecticides and growth regulators were based on good agricultural practice and were carried out in cooperation with the Schleswig-Holstein Chamber of Agriculture.

# Fungicide Application

All foliar fungicides were applied with a volume of 200 L/ha water by overhead application technique using a plot boom sprayer with double flat fan nozzles with a standard nozzle spacing of 0.5 m on the spray boom at a pressure of 2 bar.

Foliar Disease	Observation Period (GS)	Indicating Leaf Layer	IPM – Disease Control Threshold	ISIP – Disease Control Threshold
Septoria tritici blotch	32 - 69	F-6 to F-0	DI > 50% + 36 hours leaf wetness of > 98%	DI > 30% DI > 10%; + 48 hours leaf wetness
Glume blotch	37 - 39 41 - 47 51 - 69	F-5 or F-4 F-4 or F-3 F-3 or F-2	DI > 12%	DI > 30%

 Table M3.
 Biological-epidemiological disease control thresholds, observation periods and the indicating leaf layer of the IPM wheat model for the major fungal foliar wheat diseases.

Extended Materials & Methods

32	F-6 or F-5				
33 - 39	F-5 or F-4	DI > 5%	DI > 5%		
41 - 49	F-4 or F-3	$D1 \ge 3.70$	D1 > 5 /0		
51 - 69	F-3 or F-2				
30 - 69	F-6 to F-0 *	DI > 70%	DI > 60%		
37 – 69	F-6 to F-0	DI > 30%	DI > 30% or		
30 - 69	F-6 to F-0	DI > 30% or	DI > 30% or		
	32 33 - 39 41 - 49 51 - 69 30 - 69 37 - 69 30 - 69	32       F-6 or F-5         33 - 39       F-5 or F-4         41 - 49       F-4 or F-3         51 - 69       F-3 or F-2         30 - 69       F-6 to F-0*         37 - 69       F-6 to F-0         30 - 69       F-6 to F-0	32F-6 or F-5 $33 - 39$ F-5 or F-4DI > 5% $41 - 49$ F-4 or F-3DI > 5% $51 - 69$ F-3 or F-2 $30 - 69$ $30 - 69$ F-6 to F-0 *DI > 70% $37 - 69$ F-6 to F-0DI > 30% $30 - 69$ F-6 to F-0DI > 30% or		

F = Flag leaf; DI = Disease incidence; GS = Growth stage

### Sampling and Disease Assessment

At weekly intervals from GS 30 to 77, ten main tillers per plot were randomly sampled from three of the four sampling plots for foliar disease analysis of the untreated control and IPM treatments. To assess disease severity, plant samples were analysed macroscopically and microscopically in a defined order. First, the growth stage was determined separately for each site. Simultaneously, each leaf on the main stem was rated for disease incidence and percentage of leaf area affected by the biotrophic foliar diseases, powdery mildew, stripe rust and leaf rust. Leaves were then separated from the main stem and directly assessed for the incidence and percentage of leaf area affected by tan spot. To ensure the highest quality of Septoria tritici blotch and glume blotch assessments, the leaves were soaked in water to simulate leaf wetness, resulting in pycnidia expansion, and thus better visibility of Septoria tritici blotch and glume blotch symptoms. After soaking for at least 5 min, Septoria tritici blotch and glume blotch pycnidia were counted as a quantitative parameter of disease severity under 8- to 50-fold magnification for each individual leaf. The exact disease incidence and severity for each individual leaf layer, date of assessment and location per plant and plot were recorded from the assessment. The scored data were averaged separately for leaf layers F-0 to F-6 after each weekly assessment for each location and stored in an SQL database.

### Data Preparation

In order to prepare the data for further analysis and to compare disease severity from year to year, the area under the disease progression curve (AUDPC) of each year from 1995 to 2021 was calculated from all disease severities assessed from F-0 to F-6 from GS 30 to 77 (corresponding to 11 observed weeks in each year) separately as a quantitative summary for each year and site. The trapezoidal method according to Madden et al. 2007 [2] was

used to estimate the AUDPC (formula (1))by discretising the time variable and determining the average disease intensity between two adjacent time points For a yield-oriented comparison, the AUDPC was adjusted to the WAUDPC (Weighted AUDPC) by weighting the disease severity separately for each leaf layer with the factors xF-0, xF-1, xF-2, xF-3, xF-4, xF-5 and xF-6 (formula (2)). However, dividing the WAUDPC by the number of time points (k+1 in formula 3) gives the relative WAUDPC (RWAUDPC), which represents disease severity in realistic terms (formula (3)).

$$A_{F-x} = \sum_{i=1}^{N_i} \frac{(y_i + y_{i+1})}{2} (t_{i+1} - t_i)$$
(1)

WAUDPC = 
$$0.7A_{F-0} + 0.2A_{F-1} + 0.1A_{F-2} + 0A_{F-3} + \dots + 0A_{F-6}$$
 (2)

$$RWAUDPC = \frac{0.7A_{F-0} + 0.2A_{F-1} + 0.1A_{F-2}}{k+1}$$
(3)

To compare fungicide use in general and with agronomic practices, the amount of active ingredient (A.I.) and the treatment frequency index (TFI) were determined according to Bürger et al. 2008 [3]. The annual amount of active ingredient was the sum of all active ingredients applied within a year and at the site of the survey. The TFI is the annual summed dose rate proportional to the recommended dose of each fungicide applied. For each year, site and treatment, the TFI was defined as follows:

$$TFI = \sum_{i} \frac{dose \, rate_{i}}{standard \, dose_{i}} \tag{4}$$

where *i* is the application number per year.

### References

- Statistische Ämter des Bundes u. der Länder Atlas Agrarstatistik Deutschland. Available online: https://agraratlas.statistikportal.de/ (accessed on 23 March 2023).
- Madden, L.V.; Hughes, G.; van den Bosch, F. CHAPTER 4: Temporal Analysis I: Quantifying and Comparing Epidemics. In *The Study of Plant Disease Epidemics*; Madden, L.V., Hughes, G., van den Bosch, F., Eds.; The American Phytopathological Society: St. Paul, MN, USA, 2017; pp 63– 116, ISBN 978-0-89054-505-8.
- Bürger, J.; Mol, F. de; Gerowitt, B. The "Necessary Extent" of Pesticide use—Thoughts about a Key Term in German Pesticide Policy. *Crop Prot.* 2008, 27, 343–351, doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2007.06.006.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

At this point I would like to express my sincere thanks to all those without whose help and curiosity the writing of this dissertation would not have been possible.

First and foremost, I would like to express my deep gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Dr Joseph-Alexander Verreet, for giving me the invaluable opportunity to work in the fascinating field of Integrated Pest Management. Thank you also for your time, patience, trust, advice, and encouragement over the past years.

I would like to extend my sincere thanks to Dr Tim Birr and Dr Holger Klink. Thank you for your unwavering support and guidance, for the time you have taken to review this thesis and also for the motivation you have both given me during the difficult days. I would also like to express my gratitude for the constructive and extremely valuable revisions of the manuscripts of this thesis. I will always be grateful for your unconditional mentorship.

I would also like to thank Dr Jens Aumann and Brandt Berghuis for proofreading all the manuscripts.

Furthermore, I want to thank Dr Mario Hasler for his excellent statistical advice.

I am pleased to mention that I have had the privilege of working with fantastic colleagues. First of all, I would like to thank all my colleagues in Kiel for the excellent working atmosphere. In particular, I would like to mention Wilken Boie, Jannika Drechsel, Markus Schemmel, Thomas Bergmann, Hendrik Seide and Severin Einspanier. Thank you for your encouragement and support, for your helpful advice, for your friendship and also for the good times we spent together outside the university!

I would also like to thank all the former PhD students who worked on this long-term survey, namely Holger Klink, Christian Busse, Arndt Friedrich Wittrock, Imme Finger, Alke Wittrock, Matthias Henze, Henning Klöhn and Christian Engel, for their consistent evaluation of the epidemiological data by managing the supra-regional field studies.

Furthermore, I would like to thank the Schleswig-Holstein Chamber of Agriculture for the excellent cooperation throughout the study, especially Mathies Müller, Hans Joachim Gläser and Susanne Hagen. I would also like to thank the technical staff at the survey sites for their excellent and persistent work in the fields.

#### Acknowledgements

I am also very grateful to Heino Hansen and Dr. Christoph Algemissen for selflessly providing trail locations during the long-term study and for the organisation of the IPS training events on your farms.

I would also like to thank the technical Staff of the Institute. Bettina Bastian, Susanne Kleingarn, Susanne Herrmann, Andrea Ulrich, and Michael Wingen for their sincere and continuous support during my time at the Institute.

I am extremely grateful to the 'Stiftung Schleswig-Holsteinische Landschaft' for funding Integrated Pest Management Schleswig-Holstein and this PhD project for so many years!

Outside the university, I am deeply indebted to all my friends for their unconditional support, listening, care, encouragement, understanding and patience during this long and challenging journey.

Last but not least, my parents and Steffi deserve a special mention for their immense support through the good, bad and very bad days, as well as their constant encouragement and care over the years! Thank you for always being there for me!